American Extremists?: "Real Americans" and their role in the January 6 Capitol riot

Blair Grant

A thesis submitted in fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Arts in Politics and International Relations, the University of Auckland, 2022.

Abstract

Many of the people who stormed the Capitol on January 6, 2021, did not appear to be "extremists"—they instead appeared much more like normal Trump supporters. This presents a puzzle for analysing the political violence that took place on that day, as it appears extremist violence had been committed by non-extremists. I argue the best way to understand how this occurred is to consider it the result of a social movement to stop the certification of an election, where this social movement is on behalf of 'real Americans,' people who are white and Christian who believe the country is being taken away from them. My argument begins with a critical analysis of the concept of extremism, which finds that the "extremist frame" can obscure the relationship between the mainstream and extreme, when in reality the boundaries between the two are blurry. I then outline a theory, based in the social identity and social movement perspective, of 'real Americans' as people who feel threatened by demographic and cultural change. This theory intends to mitigate some of those conceptual issues while also providing a coherent way to understand why these people turned to violence on January 6, principally through the notion of collective action frames. Finally, I examine the events of January 6 and the weeks leading up to it, in order to understand how the frames for violent action were developed through the Stop the Steal movement, as well the interaction between the "normals" and the extremists in that movement. I argue Trump's speech on the ellipse was in alignment with the frames that had been developed in the Stop the Steal movement, and it proved to be effective for mobilisation to violence because it resonated with what 'real Americans' believe about their threatened place in America.

Contents

Chapter 1: Introduction	1
Chapter 2: The conceptual lens of extremism	4
The extremist frame	7
Extremism, political violence, and terrorism	16
Mainstream, extreme, and American history	23
The extremists of January 6	30
Chapter 3: Radicalisation as identity under threat	36
What is radicalisation?	36
Social identity and social movements	38
An American identity under threat	50
Chapter 4: Mobilising an insurrection	77
Planting the seeds of insurrection	81
Stop the Steal	84
January 6	88
Chapter 5: Conclusion	93
Bibliography	96

Chapter 1: Introduction

The capitol riot of January 6 was yet another example of growing far-right extremism in the United States.¹ While it was not the most violent act (in terms of deaths) that can be attributed to these movements, it was novel in that the perpetrators were comprised, at least in part, of the sorts of people present at more standard Trump rallies; people who are, ostensibly, not extremists.² As the Chicago Project on Security and Threats found in their analysis of those arrested for their actions on January 6 (as at January 1, 2022), only 14 percent had any affiliation with right-wing extremist groups.³

While acknowledging the leading role the more organised extremist groups, such as the Proud Boys and the Oath Keepers played, Pape and Ruby, the primary authors of the CPOST research, diagnose the riot as "a new kind of violent mass movement in which more "normal" Trump supporters—middle-class and, in many cases, middle-aged people without obvious ties to the far right—joined with extremists in an attempt to overturn a presidential election."⁴ The puzzle this presents is that it appears extremist violence has been perpetrated by people who are not really extremists. Had the majority of insurrectionists been members of extreme right-wing groups, the events of that day would have been shocking but perhaps not surprising.

The goal of this thesis is to understand how the "normals"—the term I will use to describe those seemingly regular Trump supporters who stormed the Capitol—came to take part in the events of that day. Specifically, my goal is to outline a theoretical model that can make sense of how the "normals" participated in political violence; what drove them to that extreme action, the motivations behind it, their justifications, and how they developed.

¹ O'Harrow Jr., Ba Tran, and Hawkins, "Rise Domestic Extremism America."

² Pape and Ruby, "Capitol Rioters."

³ CPOST, American Face of Insurrection, 12.

⁴ Pape and Ruby, "Capitol Rioters."

I begin in chapter two by looking at the concept of extremism itself. What does that term mean? What does it imply about the people and the movements it is applied to? If the "normals" are not extremists, then is there something about them that is different from actual extremists? One solution to the puzzle of the "normals" might be to simply acknowledge they are extremists because of what they have done, no matter how different they seem to be from more typical right-wing extremists. But given their dissimilarity to other extremists, and the fact one of the central agents in the whole affair was a former president—a most unusual situation—a careful and critical analysis of the concepts around extremism provides a solid base from which to build a theory.

Building on the conclusions I draw from my conceptual analysis, in chapter three I outline a theoretical model of how the "normals" came to turn to political violence. The model is principally informed by the literature on extremism and radicalisation that draws from the social identity and social movement perspectives, and is chosen in part to avoid some of the conceptual issues outlined in the prior chapter. In short, I argue that the "normals" see themselves as 'real Americans'—that is, white and Christian—in a country that is changing demographically and culturally in a direction they do not like. In particular, they see these changes as a threat, to both their status and continued existence as prototypical Americans. Central to this sense of threat is the idea of "the great replacement"—a far right conspiracy theory that says shadowy forces are trying to replace the American electorate with immigrants from non-white countries. While this idea originates on the far right, its increasing presence in the mainstream has intensified the sense of threat 'real Americans' feel due to demographic change. The sense of threat on behalf of a social group is key to understanding how violence occurs. Those who engage in violence on behalf of their group see themselves as defenders, not as aggressors. For understanding how "normals" came to violence on January 6, this is an important insight, because it helps to explain how people who ordinarily would not use violence interpreted their use of it that day as legitimate.

In chapter four, I come to examine January 6 and the weeks that proceeded it, with an eye to using the theoretical perspective I outlined in the previous chapter to explain the motivations of the "normals" who broke into the Capitol that day. I examine Trump's actions and rhetoric around his insistence that he actually won the election, and that it was stolen from him. Trump is perhaps the most important figure in developing the potential for violence that day, whether or not that was his actual intention. Through his rhetoric and encouragement, the Stop the Steal movement was able to spread. This movement, I argue, was the focal point where extremists and "normals" first came into alignment. Thus anything that occurred on January 6 cannot be understood without first examining how the movement developed in the weeks beforehand. Finally I turn to Trump's speech on the day. The narratives and frames he laid out in the speech he gave on the ellipse, I argue, aligned with the action frames that had been allowed to develop in the Stop the Steal movement, among both "normals" and extremists alike. Though Trump did not directly order anyone to storm the Capitol, when viewed through the lens of a 'real American,' the rhetoric he used sent a message that violence was necessary and justified.

Chapter 2: The conceptual lens of extremism

The terms 'extremism,' 'radicalisation,' and 'terrorism' are often used without explaining their meaning. Such usage suggests understanding of all three words is common knowledge, yet consensus definitions for all three are lacking.⁵ Part of what makes defining these terms difficult from a social science perspective is the fact they are also used by a variety of actors for their own political ends, making them highly contested.⁶

Incautious use of terms can obscure the phenomena under study and leave implicit assumptions unexamined. In his 1986 treatise on the shortcomings of mainstream economics, Hyman Minsky wrote that "in all disciplines theory plays a double role: it is both a lens and a blinder." For Minsky, the theoretical framework responsible for mainstream economics' usefulness in explaining some phenomena was also responsible for its deficiency in explaining others: "as a lens, [theory] focuses the mind upon specified problems, enabling conditional statements to be made about causal relations for a well-defined but limited set of phenomena. But as a blinder, theory narrows the field of vision." The concepts of extremism, radicalisation, and terrorism are not immune to this effect. Questions about who is an extremist, how radicalisation occurs, the legitimacy of violence, and what constitutes terrorism depends on the theoretical framework adopted to analyse them.

Charles Tilly, writing on the limitations of the term 'terrorism,' argues that "in social science useful definitions should point to detectable phenomena that exhibit some degree of causal coherence—in principle all instances should display common properties that embody or result from similar cause-effect relations." It is debatable whether 'extremism,' radicalisation,' and 'terrorism' have such objective phenomena at their core. For example, the observation that "one person's terrorist is another's freedom fighter" appears often in the

⁵ Striegher, "Violent-extremism: Definitional Dilemma," 75.

⁶ Mudde, *Ideology of Extreme Right*, 10.

⁷ Minsky, Stabilizing an Unstable Economy, 109.

⁸ Minsky, *Stabilizing an Unstable Economy*, 109.

⁹ Tilly, "Terror, Terrorism, Terrorists," 8.

¹⁰ Lindahl, "Conceptualising Violent Extremism," 41-43.

literature, though its implications are contested.¹¹ It is important, in other words, to appreciate the map is not the territory. In particular for my question in this thesis, getting a clearer handle on the concepts around extremism will help to determine whether part of the difficulty in understanding the "normals" and their use of political violence is due, at least in part, to some conceptual confusion.

Anthony Richards, argues "extremism, like radicalization, has limited analytical utility as a concept." In a trivial sense this is true of all concepts, as there are limits to the contexts in which they are applicable. But Richards' broader argument is that the concepts (in this case, as understood by the U.K.'s Prevent strategy) fall short of what they are purported to do and from a counterterrorism perspective are therefore inadequate for understanding and countering terrorism. To Richards, "it appears that 'terrorism', 'radicalization' and 'extremism' have increasingly become merged into a single discursive framework," one that obscures the phenomena in question and needlessly broadens the remit of counterterrorism. Kundnani and Hayes display a similar concern when they write,

Today, the terms 'radicalisation', 'extremism' and 'violent extremism' are bandied about with such frequency and abandon that they have become synonymous with terrorism itself, despite their quite different meanings, and the lack of clarity as to how these concepts relate to one another.¹⁵

This chapter will aim to explore and clarify these concepts, in particular with reference to the right in the United States. Cynthia Miller-Idris characterised January 6 as "a brutal assault fuelled by far-right ideas that had gone mainstream." The mainstreaming of the far right— "the process through which previously extreme ideas become normalized as part of the

5

¹¹ Neumann, "The Trouble with Radicalization," 878.; Guiora, *Tolerating Intolerance*, xxii.; Abbas, *Countering Violent Extremism*, I.; Sageman, *Turning to Political Violence*, 10.; Moghaddam, "The Staircase to Terrorism," 16I.; Feddes et al., *Psychological Perspectives on Radicalization*, 22.; Hogg, Kruglanski, and Bos, "Uncertainty Roots of Extremism," 408.; Michael, *Right Wing Extremism USA*, 6.

¹² Richards, "From Terrorism to 'Radicalization'," 374.

¹³ Richards, "From Terrorism to 'Radicalization'," 376.

¹⁴ Richards, "From Terrorism to 'Radicalization'," 371.

¹⁵ Kundnani and Hayes, *Globalisation Countering Violent Extremism*, 2.

¹⁶ Miller-Idriss, "From 9/11 to 1/6," 56.

acceptable spectrum of beliefs within democratic societies"—has produced an environment where extreme ideas are encountered more often in everyday life.¹⁷ I argue this has contributed to the blurring of boundaries between extreme and mainstream, boundaries which were somewhat unclear in the first place thanks in part to the conceptual haziness of extremism. As D. J. Mulloy argues "the dividing lines between the extreme right, the radical right, and conservatism are much less robust than many people would like to believe." ¹⁸ If there is a legitimate distinction between the "normals" who stormed the Capitol and the extremist Proud Boys, Three Percenters, and Oath Keepers who joined them, ¹⁹ then the first step is to understand what that conceptual difference is.

While a consensus definition of extremism does not exist,²⁰ most share some common elements. In what I will call the 'extremist frame,' three in particular stand out: fringe positioning, anti-democracy, and political violence. These three elements of extremism are not always mutually exclusive, and definitions may contain one, two or all three. This is not meant to be an exhaustive list and some definitions may include more substantive and descriptive features, particularly when it comes to more particularised definitions of right-wing extremism.²¹ My claim, however, is that at the core of most definitions of extremism in the literature (and in everyday language), these are the most important characteristics. Describing these features as an 'extremist frame' is not to denounce the concept prematurely—it is simply to make clear that these elements form a certain conceptual lens through which the world and certain political actors in it are seen.

¹⁷ Miller-Idriss, Hate in the Homeland, 46.

¹⁸ Mulloy, Enemies of the State, xiii.

¹⁹ Pape and CPOST, Understanding American Domestic Terrorism, II.

²⁰ Martini, Ford, and Jackson, "Introduction: Encountering Extremism," 13.

²¹ For an outline of some of these definitions, see Mudde, *Ideology of Extreme Right*, 10-11.

The extremist frame

The first element is fringe positioning. On this view, extremism is "a generalized measure of deviance from the political norm"²² or "a move away from the centre towards the extreme rather than an equilibrium position."²³ In other words, what is considered extreme is defined by its positional relationship with the mainstream; the further away from the centre of political gravity, the more extreme the views are considered. Julian Richards writes that "[a]n extremist, by definition, holds beliefs on the outer fringes of the 'mainstream," but that this relies on understanding both the spectrum of measurement and where the majority-endorsed centre is to be found.²⁴

A shortcoming of this is that it paints views or political movements as extreme solely on the basis of whether enough people in society support it. Many views now seen as abhorrent were once believed by great majorities, and many ethical positions with relatively slim followings today may well in the future be considered common sense. Another weakness is its inability to account for extremists and extreme views that are thoroughly within the mainstream. Mulloy, for example, points out that Joseph McCarthy and Barry Goldwater—who famously said "extremism in the defense of liberty is no vice" are generally accepted as extremists, yet both operated within mainstream institutions. Finally, it also complicates the notion of mainstreaming, for if extreme ideas are those which are only held by small minorities on the political fringes, then once those ideas enter the mainstream they are by definition no longer extreme.

Another reason fringe positioning seem inadequate for describing extremism is because in everyday language, extremism is understood to be a negative; the term is pejorative and disparaging.²⁷ Uwe Backes traces the cultural roots of this to ancient Greek ethics, where

²² Lipset and Raab, Politics of Unreason, 4.

²³ Breton et al., "Introduction," xiii.

²⁴ Richards, Extremism, Radicalization and Security, 17.

²⁵ Bay, "Extremism Defense of Liberty," 145.

²⁶ Mulloy, American Extremism, 20.

²⁷ Hogg, Kruglanski, and Bos, "Uncertainty Roots of Extremism," 408.

moderation in politics was considered virtuous.²⁸ An accusation of extremism is usually more than just descriptive, aiming not only to point out the unpopularity of some politics, but also to dismiss them. Calling someone an extremist is a normative act, one which Mariela Cuadro argues is "aimed at changing not only the subjects' behaviour but also their beliefs."²⁹ In other words, to call someone an extremist is to condemn their views as illegitimate and exhort them to change. This explains, in part, why many resist the label when it is applied to them. Most of the right-wing extremists Hilary Pilkington interviewed for her ethnographic research denied their views were extreme or radical and instead claimed they were mainstream and centrist.³⁰ So long as their views are within the Overton window—the territory of the political landscape mainstream society considers acceptable³¹—some will consider the accusation of extremism as an unfair smear on their politics.

This brings us to a fundamental conceptual issue: extremism can be understood as either a descriptive or a normative term. Take abolitionism, for example. Once considered a fringe view confined to "cranks," "scolds," and "extremists," today slavery is almost universally condemned. In its normative sense, the accusation of extremism implies a view outside the legitimate sphere of political happenings, an ideology, policy, or behaviour that should not be a part of the democratic discourse. Yet to have the rightness or wrongness of a view tied to whether it is supported by enough of society at a certain time seems to miss something fundamental about the reasons we hold political positions in the first place. Abolitionism did not become a just, righteous cause solely as the result of mainstream support—it was right when Jefferson drafted an anti-slavery paragraph to be included in the Declaration of Independence, and it did not become wrong when it was eventually left out. A label that simply identified views as unpopular would not be all that useful analytically. For that

²⁸ Backes, *Political Extremes*, 175-76.

²⁹ Cuadro, "Knowledge, Power, Subject," 61.

³⁰ Pilkington, "Why Should We Care," 12.

³¹ Miller-Idriss, *Hate in the Homeland*, 45-46.

³² Horwitz, *Midnight Rising*, 40.

³³ Zinn, A People's History, 72.

reason, most definitions go beyond a merely a descriptive understanding of extremism and attempt to explain the normative factors inherent to extremism that make it undesirable.

The first normative concept in extremist frame is that extremists are anti-democratic. The modern roots of this perspective trace back to scholarship produced in response to McCarthyism, which forms what D. J. Mulloy calls "the orthodox school," a common way of understanding extremism.³⁴ While many scholars contributed, the work of Seymour Martin Lipset, Earl Raab, and Richard Hofstadter is of particular note, as it remains influential to this day.³⁵

In their 1971 book *The Politics of Unreason*, Lipset and Raab argue extremism "means going beyond the limits of the normative procedures which define the democratic political process."36 The "fixed spiritual center" of liberal democracy is pluralism: the institutions and structures of society that allow its diverse identities, ethnic groups, and ideas to peacefully co-exist. Extremism, in contrast, is anti-pluralist or monist; it is an approach to politics that views give-and-take as illegitimate, that is hostile towards separate spheres of power and institutions that protect minority rights.³⁷ Extremists are historical simplists; events in history are not attributed to a complex web of interacting causes but to simple and easily comprehensible ones. With their simplism comes historical moralism, "the tendency to believe that human events are totally shaped by the supremacy of good intentions over bad at any given moment, or vice versa."38 Through this moralist and simplist lens, extremists see in history and current events not the messiness, mistakes, and compromises of a working pluralist society but the good events caused straightforwardly by good people and the bad ones caused by evil people. This leads directly to conspiracism. For the extremist, unfortunate events do not just happen—there is always a hidden hand, and Lipset and Raab employ Hofstadter's concept of the "paranoid style" to help explain it. Not be confused with

⁻

³⁴ Mulloy, American Extremism, 17.

³⁵ Mulloy, American Extremism, 17.; Brown, Mondon, and Winter, "Far Right and Mainstreaming," 3.

³⁶ Lipset and Raab, *Politics of Unreason*, 5.

³⁷ Lipset and Raab, Politics of Unreason, 6.

³⁸ Lipset and Raab, Politics of Unreason, 10.

paranoia in the clinical psychological sense, Hofstadter describes the paranoid style as a way of seeing the world, where those afflicted perceive an unyielding conspiracy to undermine and destroy the paranoid subject's nation, culture, or way of life.³⁹ Both Lipset and Raab, and Hofstadter acknowledge that conspiracies really do occur in political life, but that what is different in the extremist's understanding is the total comprehensiveness of the perceived plot.⁴⁰ "The distinguishing thing about the paranoid style," writes Hofstadter, "is not that its exponents see conspiracies or plots here and there in history, but that they regard a 'vast' or 'gigantic' conspiracy as the motive force in historical events."41 This perspective leads to a certain mode of action in response, one that demands "not the usual methods of political give-and-take, but an all-out crusade."42 The mindset that tends to produce the paranoid style was earlier described in Hofstadter's 1963 book Anti-intellectualism in American Life, and it has similarities to Lipset and Raab's concepts of historical simplism and moralism. Hofstadter describes a "secularized fundamentalism" wherein the "fundamentalism of the cross [has been] supplemented by a fundamentalism of the flag."43 The secular fundamentalist mind "looks upon the world as an arena for conflict between absolute good and absolute evil, and accordingly it scorns compromises (who would compromise with Satan?) and can tolerate no ambiguities."44 This essentially theological mindset leads to a kind of spiritual abstraction of politics, where the mundane give-and-take of everyday politics is secondary to a higher truth:

The issues of the actual world are hence transformed into a spiritual Armageddon, an ultimate reality, in which any reference to day-by-day actualities has the character of an allegorical illustration, and not of the empirical evidence that ordinary men offer for ordinary conclusions.⁴⁵

³⁹ Hofstadter, "The Paranoid Style," 4, 29.

⁴⁰ Lipset and Raab, *Politics of Unreason*, 14.; Hofstadter, "The Paranoid Style."

⁴¹ Hofstadter, "The Paranoid Style," 29.

⁴² Hofstadter, "The Paranoid Style," 29.

⁴³ Hofstadter, Anti-intellectualism, 131-34.

⁴⁴ Hofstadter, Anti-intellectualism, 135.

⁴⁵ Hofstadter, Anti-intellectualism, 135.

For Hofstadter, this mindset explains the extreme right's shaky relationship with facts and its unyielding marriage to conspiracy theorising.

The 'orthodox school' is normative because it defines the extremes in opposition to the moderate, pluralistic centre, which is considered good. Mondon and Winter argue that *The Politics of Unreason* "represented an attempt to psychopathologise and delegitimize the 'extremes' as lacking the reason and rationality of the political discourse of the mainstream democratic system, its procedures and values, and thus illegitimate." ⁴⁶ As is clear from American history, the mainstream and its institutions have not always been oriented towards equality, justice, and democracy; in the wake of Reconstruction, consensus politics settled on the solution of black disenfranchisement for maintaining peace and stability right until the 1960s. ⁴⁷ This disenfranchisement happened via "nominally democratic means," Richard Valelly notes, and the re-enfranchisement enabled by the Voting Rights Act only happened thanks to the "fierce struggle" of the civil rights movement. ⁴⁸ As Mulloy argues, the orthodox school's concept of extremism not only obscures the value to the mainstream of such a framing—the mainstream and its political institutions become good by definition—but it also makes it more difficult to examine any common roots, ideas, and behaviours the extreme and the mainstream might share. ⁴⁹

Some attempt to circumvent the implicit idea in the orthodox school that any challenge to the mainstream and its institutions is extremist by making a distinction between radicals and extremists. Alex Schmid, for example, argues that while radicals and extremists share a fringe nature, there are qualitative differences between them. Where radicals advocate for sweeping changes to society that can be compatible with democracy and diversity, extremists want to create homogenous, societies based on rigid ideologies. Where radicals are open minded, extremists are closed minded. Extremists are never democrats and they tend to use violence to achieve their ends, whereas radicals sometimes use violence and sometimes do

_

 $^{^{\}rm 46}$ Mondon and Winter, Reactionary Democracy, Chapter 2.

⁴⁷ Levitsky and Ziblatt, *How Democracies Die*, 204.

⁴⁸ Valelly, The Two Reconstructions, 2-3.

⁴⁹ Mulloy, American Extremism, 18-20.

not.⁵⁰ On this perspective, conceptual space is opened up for the possibility of non-extremist yet potentially violent fringe views in favour of greater democracy, equality, and justice.

Others criticize the pluralist understanding of democracy implicit in the extremist frame. Lipset and Raab consider the "open market place of ideas" to be at the heart of pluralism in democracies—it is the mechanism through which competing group interests are able to have their voice heard and their interests protected.⁵¹ In order to win political power, compromises between coalition members must be formed. Whether this describes political reality accurately is debatable. "While pluralists conceive of alliance formation among groups with different priorities," write McVeigh and Estep, "we argue that different political interests—not just class interests—are arranged in hierarchies." ⁵² They argue different groups have access to different structural privileges, and coalitions are often therefore formed between privileged groups to preserve their higher position in the hierarchy.

These critiques are not meant to imply the "orthodox school" is wholly wrong, or the authors mentioned have not identified some aspects of extremism that have relevance to the question I am trying to answer. After all, the actions of the Capitol rioters were profoundly undemocratic and anti-pluralist. The point is that the orthodox school allows the mainstream to put all the negative features of extremism neatly into a box and say "all this bad stuff is over there, on the extremes." The shape of the conceptual lens used to examine extremism is therefore influenced by this unwillingness to consider the shared roots and features the mainstream and extreme may have. Mulloy argues that, for the orthodox school "to open up the investigation of extremist groups in order to reveal what the dominant culture had in common with them was to invite an unwelcome bout of self-examination." 53

The influence of the "orthodox school" is visible in many works. In David Bennett's 1995 book *The Party of Fear*, he explains that "the passionate men and women who joined the right-wing groups that sought to check various alien enemies became extremists when they

12

⁵⁰ Schmid, Radicalisation, De-Radicalisation, Counter-Radicalisation, 6-11.

⁵¹ Lipset and Raab, Politics of Unreason, 6-7, 12.

⁵² McVeigh and Estep, *Politics of Losing*, 61-63.

⁵³ Mulloy, American Extremism, 32.

Steven Levitsky and Daniel Ziblatt's 2018 book, *How Democracies Die*, is premised on the idea that American democracy has relied on two unwritten norms to function: mutual tolerance—"the understanding that competing parties accept one another as legitimate rivals"—and institutional forbearance—"that politicians should exercise restraint in deploying their institutional prerogatives." In their analysis, political parties are the rightful gatekeepers of democracy; they have the responsibility to keep extremists at bay. In light of a Republican Party which has neglected this duty, they write, "[The Paranoid Style] may be more relevant than ever." In *Alt-America: The Rise of the Radical Right in the Age of Trump*, David Neiwart writes that "in American public life there is an alternate dimension, a mental space beyond fact or logic, where the rules of evidence are replaced by paranoia," and in *Hate Spin: The Manufacture of Religious Offense and Its Threat to Democracy*, Cherian George argues the Tea Party is "the inheritor of the 'paranoid style' in American Politics." The original analysis of the orthodox school is therefore still highly relevant to many understandings of extremism today.

The second normative concept in the extremist frame is that extremists are violent, or at least have the strong potential to be. Amos Guiora proposes extremism "be defined as 'conviction' that tenets of a given belief system—secular or religious—justify violence against others." Schuurman and Taylor argue extremists see violence as legitimate, necessary, and effective for achieving their goals. Jensen, Atwell Seate, and James consider an extremist ideology as one "that promotes the use of violence for the attainment of political, economic, religious, or social goals." This view is not limited to academic definitions—most of the

⁵⁴ Bennett, *The Party of Fear*, **3**.

⁵⁵ Levitsky and Ziblatt, How Democracies Die, 8.

⁵⁶ Levitsky and Ziblatt, *How Democracies Die*, 24-26.

⁵⁷ Levitsky and Ziblatt, How Democracies Die, 172-74.

⁵⁸ Neiwart, Alt-America, 34.

⁵⁹ George, Hate Spin, 146.

⁶⁰ Guiora, *Tolerating Intolerance*, 6.

⁶¹ Schuurman and Taylor, "Reconsidering Radicalization," 6-7.

⁶² Jensen, Atwell Seate, and James, "Radicalization to Violence," 1067.

right-wing extremists Hilary Pilkington interviewed in her research denied the label, attributing it only to those who use violence or the threat of violence to impose their views.⁶³

The centrality of violence in many understandings of extremism is often a reflection of the purpose for which the concept is being employed. Sedgwick describes three "official and semi-official contexts" in which radicalisation and the surrounding discourse is used: security, foreign policy, and integration. What is considered extreme depends on from which perspective the question is asked, as the utility of the term varies from context to context.⁶⁴ A government immigration body or NGO concerned with integration may judge extremism in a different manner to those whose concern with extremism is the security of the state and it citizens. Abbas argues the predominance of the security perspective and its task of countering terrorism distorts the understanding of extremism by emphasising the link between extremism and violence.⁶⁵ The fact many scholars and governments use the term "violent extremism," however, suggests an implicit acknowledgement that violence is not a necessary element in the meaning of extremism-if it was, adding 'violent' to the front would be redundant. To understand extremism as exclusively violent misses an important distinction between extreme ideas and extreme actions. 66 This distinction is reflected in the literature on radicalisation, or how people become extremists, where it is known as "cognitive radicalisation" and "behavioural radicalisation." Most of the people who have extreme or radical ideas do not use violence to pursue them,⁶⁸ and even if people do have violent ideas, as McLaughlin and Robitaille note "empirical evidence suggests that holding violent ideas is in itself a bad predictor in the identification of individuals who will commit violent actions."69

=

⁶³ Pilkington, "Why Should We Care," 13.

⁶⁴ Sedgwick, "Radicalization Confusion," 484-90.

⁶⁵ Abbas, Countering Violent Extremism, 15.

⁶⁶ Richards, "From Terrorism to 'Radicalization'," 376.

⁶⁷ Neumann, "The Trouble with Radicalization," 873.

⁶⁸ Borum, "Radicalization Violent Extremism I," 8.

⁶⁹ McLaughlin and Robitaille, "Radicalization Toward Violent Extremism," 3.

Many of the definitions put forward in the literature have all three elements of the extremist frame at their core. Manus Midlarsky's definition incorporates fringe positioning, anti-democracy, and violence:

Political extremism is defined as the will to power by a social movement in the service of a political program typically at variance with that supported by existing state authorities, and for which individual liberties are to be curtailed in the name of collective goals, including the mass murder of those who would actually or potentially disagree with that program.⁷⁰

Hafez and Mullins employ all three elements of the frame when they describe an extremist worldview as "one that is rejected by mainstream society and one that deems legitimate the use of violence as a method to effect societal or political change."⁷¹ Breton et al. note a possible synthesis definition that combines the different definitions used by contributors to their edited book:

A person is more extreme, the further away her views are from the mainstream or center view, the less willing she is to compromise about them, the fewer alternatives to them she is willing to contemplate, the more salient they are to her, and the more willing she is to use violent methods in support of those views.⁷²

Even in cases where extremism is used but not defined, the elements the extremist frame can be implicitly detected. For example, Julia Ebner doesn't explicitly define "extremist" in her book *Going Dark: The Secret Social Lives of Extremists*. That she understands extremists as anti-democratic and fringe is implied when she writes "my day job [working in a counter-extremism thinktank] comfortably keeps me within the bubbles of those in charge of upholding the status quo rather than those attacking it" and that counter extremism is a "cat-

⁷⁰ Midlarsky, *Origins of Political Extremism*, 7.

⁷¹ Hafez and Mullins, "The Radicalization Puzzle," 960.

⁷² Breton et al., "Introduction," xiii.

and-mouse game between those who try to disrupt and destabilise our democracies and those who seek to protect them."⁷³

Extremism, political violence, and terrorism

Extremism as a concept works to delegitimise people and groups whose ideas and actions are considered beyond the acceptability of mainstream society. In doing so, the extremist frame tends to obscure the similarities between the mainstream and the extreme. One place where there is inconsistency is with respect to political violence. My intention here is not to advance an argument for or against the legitimacy of political violence—that is beyond the scope of this project. There are positions that endorse at least some political violence as legitimate; Ted Honderich, for example, argues "democratic violence," his term for political violence in pursuit of freedom and equality, may sometimes be defensible.74 The extremist frame, however, does have a position on political violence, and that position is that it is illegitimate when used by non-state actors, yet it is often considered legitimate when used by states.⁷⁵ My contention, then, is that the extremist frame uses inconsistent standards with respect to political violence. The United States has used violence for political purposes—for example, in the revolutionary war—and depending on the definition, terrorism—for example, the bombings of Japanese and German cities in World War II—and broadly considered it justified. This is not to argue those instances of violence are in fact unjustifiable, but merely to point out that the extremist frame tends to evaluate violence inconsistently, and viewing the political world through the extremist frame therefore has consequences for how violence in that world is interpreted. To look at January 6 through the lens of the extremist frame requires clarity on the assumptions and limitations of that frame for understanding political violence.

⁷³ Ebner, *Going Dark*, 2.

⁷⁴ Honderich, Essays on Political Violence, 90-116.

⁷⁵ Jackson, "Knowledge, Power and Politics," 70.

The form of political violence often associated with extremism is terrorism. George Michael, for instance, writes that "it is axiomatic to say that terrorism is usually perpetrated by extremists." Terrorism, however, does not have a consensus definition. As with extremism, however, there are common elements most definitions possess. Chris Wilson, for example, identifies a near-consensus definition as "violence against civilians (according to various definitions by either non-state or state actors) designed to communicate a message to a broader audience so as to achieve a political or other purpose." 78

Neumann writes that "with terrorism, there is an objectively definable core—a violent tactic, sometimes a strategy, which can be distinguished from other means and modes of pursuing violent conflict."⁷⁹ However, while the violent act itself is a "brute fact," Richard Jackson argues, terrorism is a "social fact" and "is not a causally coherent, free-standing phenomenon which can be identified in terms of characteristics inherent to the violence itself."⁸⁰ The intentions of the perpetrator, the circumstances of the violence, and who exactly is labelling the violence, he argues, are all integral factors in understanding an instance of violence as terrorism or not. Jackson gives the example of killing civilians; if killed unintentionally during war, in a military operation gone wrong, that is not necessarily an instance of terrorism.⁸¹ Butler takes a further step, arguing all violence is interpreted, which is not to say violence is subjective but rather that it "appears within frameworks that are sometimes incommensurable or conflicting, and so it appears differently—or altogether fails to appear—depending on how it is worked over by the framework(s) at issue."⁸² For example, Kwame Ture (formerly Stokely Carmichael) and Charles Hamilton point out the labelling of violence in American history was always in favour of the mainstream: "In the

⁷⁶ Michael, Right Wing Extremism USA, 2.

⁷⁷ Jackson, "In Defence of 'Terrorism'," 117.

⁷⁸ Wilson, "Ubiquity of Terror," 389.

⁷⁹ Neumann, "The Trouble with Radicalization," 878.

⁸⁰ Jackson, "Knowledge, Power and Politics," 75.

⁸¹ Jackson, "Knowledge, Power and Politics," 75.

⁸² Butler, Force of Nonviolence, 14-15.

wars between the white settlers and the 'Indians,' a battle won by the Cavalry was described as a 'victory.' The 'Indian's' triumphs, however, were 'massacres." ⁸³

In addition to its conceptual murkiness, terrorism is also a highly politicized term. What makes something an instance of terrorism in everyday language is often more about who is committing the violence and what 'side' they are on, rather than any inherent features of the violence itself. C. A. J. Coady notes in a 1985 paper that the mujahadeen in Afghanistan, who at that time were fighting the Soviet Union, were "seldom if ever referred to as terrorist in the Western Press." This changed once it was the United States and other western allies occupying the country, a phenomenon Coady attributes to the unstated assumption that revolution against "us" is considered de facto illegitimate, whereas revolution against the enemy is just. This inconsistency of labelling leads some to argue in response, such as Anthony Richards, that to have more analytical utility, terrorism ought to be understood in a neutral sense, and "conceptualized as a particular method of violence, regardless of the ideological cause in whose service it is deployed."

The inconsistency with which the term terrorism is used extends beyond disagreements over which non-state groups, actors, or movements are terrorist in nature. A more consequential shortcoming of the discourse is that despite some acknowledgment that terrorism can be committed by states and non-state actors alike, terror at the hand of the former is often absent from the conversation. A literature review by Richard Jackson found in most of the texts examined, "the central concept of the field—terrorism—is conceptualised and understood solely or primarily as a form of illegitimate non-state political violence." State terrorism, in the words of Abbas, becomes "invisible in the discourse," which can end up legitimising state violence. Critics therefore see the discourse on terrorism as hypocritical and self-serving. Noam Chomsky, for instance, argued shortly after 9/11 that the

_

⁸³ Ture and Hamilton, Black Power, 36.

⁸⁴ Coady, "The Morality of Terrorism," 63.

⁸⁵ Sageman, Turning to Political Violence, 10.

⁸⁶ Coady, "The Morality of Terrorism," 63.

⁸⁷ Richards, "From Terrorism to 'Radicalization'," 375.

⁸⁸ Jackson, "Knowledge, Power and Politics," 70.

⁸⁹ Abbas, Countering Violent Extremism, 17-19.

United States itself is a major source of international terrorism, and that western powers could therefore "never abide by their own official definitions of the term," as doing so "would at once reveal that the U.S. is a leading terrorist state, as are its clients."90

C. A. J. Coady argues that different moral standards are often used to judge the violent actions of one's own state compared with the actions of non-state actors or other states. This usually runs in the direction of justifying state terrorism by appeal to utilitarian considerations that weigh up the potential benefits of terrorism against the immorality of killing non-combatants.91 Coady points to the nuclear bombings of Hiroshima and Nagasaki, and the area bombings of German cities during World War II, and their at least semisuccessful 'justification' on utilitarian grounds.92 For better or worse, the same standards are not usually applied to non-state actors. The inconsistency can be resolved in either direction—utilitarian considerations extended to non-state actors, deontological principles against terrorism extended to states⁹³, or the pacifist view that all violence is illegitimate applied to both state and non-state actors alike.94 Though they are not the terms he uses, Coady's idea of utilitarian principles being applied only in the case of state violence and terror maps on to what I have called the extremist frame; the state (which is perhaps the most mainstream institution of all) uses violence in ways that are often considered justified, whereas non-state actors, or extremists, are not evaluated to the same standards. Note this criticism of the extremist frame does not rely on advocacy of the position that non-state actors ought to be able to use violence in the same way as the state; it is compatible with that view, though it is equally compatible with the view Coady adopts that says state violence ought to be judged with the much stricter principles usually reserved for non-state actors.95

The invisibility of state violence in the extremist frame, and the goal-oriented stance much research of extremism and terrorism is conducted with further contributes to the

⁹⁰ Chomsky, September 11, 84-89, 16.

⁹¹ Coady, "The Morality of Terrorism," 57-58.

⁹² Coady, "The Morality of Terrorism," 56.

⁹³ Coady, "The Morality of Terrorism," 58.

⁹⁴ Ford, "Pacifist Approach Countering Extremism," 115.

⁹⁵ Coady, "The Morality of Terrorism," 56-57.

ideological contours of the discourse. Abbas argues the absence of state terrorism from the discourse "leads to certain limitations to questions that can be asked of independent, objective research, which, in the end, is unable to hold states to account." In other words, given the knowledge of terrorism and extremism is often created with policy or security goals in mind, the constraints of what it is possible to do within those structures influences the focus and shape of the knowledge produced. For example, in a paper outlining some of the psychological processes involved in terrorism, and their implications for counterterrorism, John Horgan writes the following:

Despite the increased discussions of root causes of terrorism, we can do little in a practical sense to change the 'push' factors (i.e., the broad sociopolitical conditions) that give rise to the increased likelihood of terrorism. In contrast, counterterrorism programs may be more effective in concentrating on the 'pull' factors (or 'lures'), since they tend to be narrower, more easily identifiable, and specific to particular groups and contexts.⁹⁷

The 'we' Horgan refers to in this passage are the people involved in counterterrorism. It can be read as an implicit acknowledgement that, given the limited sphere of power security agencies have in liberal democracies and the need for them to produce results, the focus is necessarily going to be on those things they can potentially influence, not necessarily those factors that are considered root causes. I do not point this out to criticize Horgan specifically; his is just a prominent example of even where limitations are acknowledged, the policy-oriented environments within which much of the terrorism and extremism literature is written has implications for the knowledge produced. Martini, Ford and Jackson, argue this is in part responsible for "an established dynamic within the discourse and understandings of terrorism, namely, that of neglecting the political causes, the inequalities of societies and the socio-economic causes that may bring individuals to embrace violence." 98

⁹⁶ Abbas, Countering Violent Extremism, 19.

⁹⁷ Horgan, "From Profiles to Pathways," 90.

⁹⁸ Martini, Ford, and Jackson, "Introduction: Encountering Extremism," 13.

This critique should not be understood as a kind of 'whataboutism,' where the harms of non-state actor violence are diminished just because state violence is potentially responsible for more. It is also not to unduly criticise those who do not focus on state actors (this project largely being such an example). Jackson is careful to point out there is nothing inherently wrong with focusing on non-state actor violence, and that scholars who do so are not acting in bad faith.⁹⁹ Marc Sageman, for example, acknowledges states and non-state actors alike are capable of political violence, and that state violence has caused orders of magnitude more harm than non-state violence. He nonetheless focuses on non-state actor violence not out of fealty to the state, he argues, but because it is more difficult to understand and requires a novel explanation.¹⁰⁰ However, if the conceptual tools used to analyse non-state actor violence are so constructed that they are blind to state violence, or even see it as always legitimate,¹⁰¹ then non-state political violence can come to be treated as its own special kind of violence, divorced from a context where it is sometimes a response to state violence, and instead appearing to erupt out of nowhere. There are potentially good reasons for thinking the state ought to have the monopoly on violence; in the ideal liberal democracy, the state is under the control of the people, and its institutions provide non-violent recourse for solving disputes between sub-state actors. History, however, is replete with examples where the state uses its monopoly on violence against its people. After all, 'terrorism' once referred mostly to state violence, in particular during the Reign of Terror in revolutionary France, and then later in Nazi Germany and the communist Soviet Union.¹⁰²

"American history books," writes Peter Neumann, "are full of reminders that many of the rights and freedoms now taken for granted were fought for by individuals who were condemned as dangerous 'radicals' by their contemporaries." Those struggles have often involved violence, both between sub-state groups fighting each other, and sub-state groups

.

⁹⁹ Jackson, "Knowledge, Power and Politics," 78.

¹⁰⁰ Sageman, Turning to Political Violence, 13-14.

¹⁰¹ Jackson, "Knowledge, Power and Politics," 70.

¹⁰² Tilly, "Terror, Terrorism, Terrorists," 8-9.; Sageman, Turning to Political Violence, 13.

¹⁰³ Neumann, "The Trouble with Radicalization," 877.

fighting against states. The extremist frame would convict some of these actors as extremists and terrorists, despite parts of contemporary mainstream society now seeing their views and actions as legitimate. It cannot be forgotten, for example, that the United States only exists thanks to a violent revolutionary war, mainstream narratives about which William Huntting Howell argues "create the difference between 'Revolution' and 'Rebellion,' between 'freedom fighting' and 'terrorism.'"104 The violence of the American revolution, Holger Hooke argues, "has been subject to whitewashing and selective remembering and forgetting." 105 Patriots used "campaigns of terror" to get loyalists to support the revolution. 106 Richard Maxwell Brown argues riotous mob violence was common during the revolutionary era, in part because it had a history of being effective. 107 Though the colonists' considered their violent actions justified, the British did not. H. T. Dickinson argues British imperialists rejected the Americans' right to take up arms in the fight for independence partially on the grounds that the colonists' "radical" claim that sovereignty ultimately lay with the people was based on a misguided and dangerous theory of natural rights and the equality of man. 108 This theory is central to the idea of America and forms the intellectual basis of the Declaration of Independence. 109 It also, argues Brown, served as a justification for violence: [t]he idea of the 'sovereignty of the people gave an ideological and philosophical justification and awesome dignity to the brutal physical abuse of killing of men that tarring and feathering, vigilantism, and lynching came to embody"110 In some sense, then, 'extremist violence' was instrumental in gaining America's independence, yet the extremist frame would likely reject such violence as illegitimate.

This critique of the extremist frame's way of analysing violence is not intended to imply that the violence seen on January 6 is legitimate. The point is instead that the extremist frame has a certain way of looking at violence which relies on a judgement of which violence

¹⁰⁴ Howell, "Starving Memory," 94.

¹⁰⁵ Hoock, Scars of Independence, xiv.

¹⁰⁶ Hoock, Scars of Independence, 12.

¹⁰⁷ Brown, "Violence and American Revolution," 82-97.

¹⁰⁸ Dickinson, "Britain's Imperial Sovereignty," 90-92.

¹⁰⁹ Lepore, *These Truths*, 98-99.

¹¹⁰ Brown, "Violence and American Revolution," 103.

is legitimate and which is not. To therefore argue the violence seen on January 6 was illegitimate—which I do—has to come from a certain perspective. In my judgement of January 6, that perspective emphases the anti-democratic nature of the violence. That is unlikely to be controversial, but for clarity of analysis it is useful to acknowledge all the same.

Mainstream, extreme, and American history

The purpose of the extremist frame is to draw the line between what is acceptable and legitimate political conduct, and what it is not. "While moderation is described as a peaceful, flexible and democratic way of acting and being," writes Mariela Cuadro, "extremism is portrayed as being violent, rigid and undemocratic, these two notions working together securing the meaning of one another."111 The relative nature of the concept means where the borders between mainstream and extreme lie differ depending on who is asked. In the context of western states, the extremes are usually defined relative to the precepts and norms of pluralist liberal democracy. However, the extremist frame can obscure what the mainstream and the extreme have in common. Mulloy argues "the pool of ideological resources employed by the extreme right exists not just on the margins, as the orthodox school would have us believe, but in the very fabric of America's mainstream ideology."112 On this view, the pervasiveness of the extreme right in America is seen less as an aberration of American culture and more simply as another group trying to define what it means to be American. 113 David Bennett advances a similar argument when he writes "the Americans of the Right were never monarchists, dreaming of a new aristocracy of the estates. They were not fascists, plotting to overthrow the nation's institutions and replace them with some sinister new order. They were, instead, Americanists par excellence."114 The right-wing extremists Bennett describes saw their America as threatened—an America founded as a

III Cuadro, "Knowledge, Power, Subject," 69.

¹¹² Mulloy, American Extremism, 30.

¹¹³ Mulloy, American Extremism, 30.

¹¹⁴ Bennett, The Party of Fear, 7-8.

Garden of Eden cleaved of the inequalities that plagued the old world, a place where every person could succeed through hard work and cultivating their unique talents.¹¹⁵ It was an America they believed once existed yet in their time seemed to be lost. But the American exceptionalism that informs this perspective is shared to varying degrees by mainstream and extreme alike. To be clear, this is not to say there are no differences between the two, but that extremism has to be understood as being informed by the mainstream society it comes from, and as such the boundaries between the two can be hazy. As Michael Cox argues, "right-wing extremists are not exactly political fish swimming in friendly waters," but "there is no insurmountable ideological wall separating them from a large swathe of their fellow white citizens." ¹¹⁶

In other words, the extreme right in America is not alien. In the post-911 environment, a perspective emerged where the extremist frame, alongside a Huntingtonian "clash of civilizations" view of world affairs, placed Islamic extremists as 'the other' in an existential struggle against the best of 'the West'—freedom, democracy, secularism, and liberal human rights. 118 The value or otherwise of that perspective aside, right-wing extremism does not fit neatly into that analytical frame—right-wing extremists look much more like 'us' than any 'them.' As Lane Crothers writes, "the 'new' extreme right in American politics [. . .] is, indeed, as American as apple pie." To acknowledge what the mainstream and extreme have in common is not to deny their differences—it is meaningful to talk of extreme right-wing ideas becoming mainstream, 120 which would not be the case were they the same thing. Yet the concept of mainstreaming is arguably more coherent when the boundaries between mainstream and extreme are recognised as vague, ever-changing, and to some extent overlapping. The difficulty of this, of course, is that while it might be straightforward to recognise a Nazi as a member of the extreme right, and a fiscal conservative as belonging to

.

¹¹⁵ Bennett, The Party of Fear, 7-12.

¹¹⁶ Cox, "Beyond the Fringe," 287.

¹¹⁷ Huntington, "The Clash of Civilizations?."

¹¹⁸ Hamid, Islamic Exceptionalism, 243-44.

¹¹⁹ Crothers, Rage on the Right, 4.

¹²⁰ Miller-Idriss, *Hate in the Homeland*, 46-47.

¹²¹ Mondon and Winter, Reactionary Democracy, 114-22.

the mainstream right, there is an expanse between them that does not yield to such easy classification. As Cas Mudde argues, the increasing presence of the far-right in mainstream territory "has made the borders between the radical right and the mainstream right [...] more and more difficult to establish."122 Mulloy writes, in a similar vein, that "[t]he clear demarcation between 'mainstream America' and 'extremist America' is very difficult, on several levels, to maintain."123 The sometimes hard-to-pinpoint nature of the distinction, however, does not mean the distinction is not useful. As Quassim Cassam points out, someone who argues the term 'extremist' should be abandoned will need some other concept to describe the common beliefs, mindsets, and actions people we call extremists appear to share.¹²⁴ The alternative is to deny there are any such common beliefs, mindsets, and actions that extremists share. This, I contend, would be a step in the wrong direction. Extremism is a hazy, relative, and socially constructed concept, but it is not incoherent. Acknowledging the limitations of a conceptual frame and identifying the implications of those limitations does not amount to denying its usefulness in pointing to recognizable phenomena in the world. I would contend that "extremism" meets Tilly's need for social science concepts to have "some degree of causal coherence"125—though it would be fair to say that the "some" in that sentence is doing a lot of work. Despite his acknowledgement that a clear demarcation between the two is difficult, Mulloy nonetheless argues "[d]espite the problems associated with defining extremism from the mainstream perspective, this, it seems, is the only workable approach."126

Being aware of a concept's limitations and blind spots at the very least makes it easier to understand why some things are not well illuminated by its application—as seems to be the case with the "normals" who took part in January 6. This is evident when trying to find the line between the mainstream and extreme; the shared body of values and ideology often presents confusing and tricky propositions that are not easy to resolve. Consider the

¹²² Mudde, The Far Right Today, 23.

¹²³ Mulloy, American Extremism, 20.

¹²⁴ Cassam, Extremism: A Philosophical Analysis, 9.

¹²⁵ Tilly, "Terror, Terrorism, Terrorists," 8.

¹²⁶ Mulloy, American Extremism.

following from Cox and Durham: "[I]t would be quite misleading to assume that all those who manipulate race for political purposes are extreme rightists. If this were the case, then we would have to place Richard Nixon, Ronald Reagan and George Bush in the extremist camp."127 They go on to explain the essentially racist character of the extreme right and its connection to white supremacy and white nationalism-views that Nixon, Reagan, and Bush did not endorse and are therefore not extremist. Yet their disinclination to consider "manipulating race for political purposes" as extreme can be read as them avoiding a qualitative factor that would accuse a president of extremism. To call a president an extremist seems like an oxymoron—after all, a large proportion of the country voted for them—but this confusion comes from the rigidity of the extremist frame and its presentation of a binary distinction where one does not exist. Cox and Durham do seem to be cognisant of this when they explain how Pat Buchanan suggested the Republican party manage David Duke's rise by adopting all they could from his platform without compromising their own. This, suggests Cox and Durham, that "the relationship between mainstream conservatism and the extreme right might be seen as two-way traffic."128 This view is disputed by others— George Michael argues "[o]ne should not confuse the far right as an extrapolation of the conservative right wing. [...] The far right is a different entity."129 A view of the far right as strictly distinct from the mainstream, however, makes it difficult to account for the apparent relationship between the two.

The difficulties in parsing mainstream from extreme are not limited to political actors. In 2019, Vice reported that in a company-wide internal meeting at Twitter, a technical employee explained the content filters they had developed for taking down white supremacist posts were ensnaring some Republican politicians. The explanation was in response to another employee's question asking why this content was still able to spread on their platform, when they had fairly successfully purged the network of ISIS-related material. The technical employee explained that where society accepted Twitter's strong

¹²⁷ Cox and Durham, "The Politics of Anger," 288.

¹²⁸ Cox and Durham, "The Politics of Anger," 305.

¹²⁹ Michael, Right Wing Extremism USA, 3.

approach to ISIS-related content sometimes flagging innocent accounts as the price to pay for purging the harmful material, it would not permit a similarly robust response against white supremacist content that could ban politicians. Where Twitter apparently finds it easy to draw clear lines with the Muslim "other," the ambiguity between extreme and mainstream is more readily acknowledged when dealing with domestic or "western" affairs.

Law enforcement has also struggled to find a line when it comes to white right-wing violence—so much so that it has often not considered it 'extremism' at all.131 Priya Dixit argues the sentences for extremist incidents perpetrated by whites are typically much lighter than those for people of colour and Muslims. She notes in comparing the outcomes in the Bundy Ranch case, where armed militants stood-off against the government over unpaid federal grazing fees, and the nine Somali-American teens arrested in 2014 for trying to travel to Syria and fight for Islamic State, it was the latter who received prison sentences up to 30 years, where charges were dropped for most involve in the former.¹³² In the time since 9/11, many more Muslims have been charged with terrorism offences, despite some evidence that white extreme-right violence has taken more lives during that period. 133 Mike German argues this cannot be blamed on any inadequacies in the law regarding domestic terrorism, and that the lack of far-right violence prosecuted under the already existing domestic-terror statutes is therefore a matter of choice by the Department of Justice and the FBI.¹³⁴ The idea that law enforcement is "blind in the right eye" 135 has some historical validity. One example of this is can be seen in the priorities the FBI chose for their COINTELPRO programs in the midtwentieth century. Their own assessments led to spy on, disrupt, and discredit civil rights activists, black nationalists, and anti-war protestors; the Ku Klux Klan, however, was only added to their roster of targets in 1964 at the behest of Lyndon Johnson—the only addition to the programs to come from outside pressure. 136 Yet with time, priorities can change.

¹³⁰ Cox and Koebler, "Twitter White Supremacy Banning."

¹³¹ Dixit, "Extremists or Patriots?," 222.

¹³² Dixit, "Extremists or Patriots?," 222-26.

¹³³ Norris, "Right-wing Terrorists Charged," 519-20.

¹³⁴ German, "Learning From Our Mistakes," 170-71.

¹³⁵ Bjørgo and Ravndal, Extreme-Right Violence and Terrorism, 15-17.

¹³⁶ Bermanzohn, "Violence, Nonviolence, Civil Rights," 160.

Recent comments from the FBI director suggest the aversion to tackling right-wing extremist violence may be dissipating.¹³⁷

At least some of the blindness can be explained by the political backlash law enforcement received from both the extreme and mainstream right. On the extremes, the Ruby Ridge and Waco incidents provided fuel for the reactionary fire of the 1990s militia movement. 138 Waco was also a precipitating factor in the 1995 Oklahoma City bombing, which remains the deadliest terror attack in the United States aside from 9/11; 168 people were killed and more than 500 were injured. 139 Media speculation in the immediate aftermath pointed to Islamic extremists as the culprits,140 though the perpetrator was soon discovered to be Timothy McVeigh, a right-wing extremist with connections to (depending on the terminology) the militia, white-power, and patriot movement(s).141 Kathleen Belew argues it was in reaction to the negative perception of Ruby Ridge and Waco, along with an earlier failure to convict white power activists in the 1988 Fort Smith sedition trial, that the Department of Justice and elements of the FBI shied away from framing the Oklahoma City bombing as part of the broader white power movement.¹⁴² In the public eye thereafter, the bombing came to be understood as the actions of one man with his own unique and particular grievances, rather than someone with deep connections to a greater right-wing social movement.¹⁴³ Nonetheless, a speech from President Clinton linking the attack to a media and political climate where "promoters of paranoia" freely and popularly launched hateful and divisive rhetoric was taken as an attack on mainstream conservatism by figures such as Rush Limbaugh, the talkback radio host.¹⁴⁴ David Neiwert argues this response from Limbaugh and his ilk stifled any burgeoning discussion about the increasing mainstream presence of extreme right ideas.145

__

¹³⁷ Naylor and Lucas, "Wray Stresses Right-Wing Extremism."

¹³⁸ Crothers, Rage on the Right, 34.

¹³⁹ Mulloy, American Extremism, 15, ix.

¹⁴⁰ Neiwart, Alt-America, 57.

¹⁴¹ Mulloy, American Extremism, 15, 68.; Belew, Bring the War Home, 210.; Neiwart, Alt-America, 59.

¹⁴² Belew, Bring the War Home, 211.

¹⁴³ Belew, *Bring the War Home*, 211.

¹⁴⁴ Purdum, "Clinton Condemns 'Promoters Paranoia'."

¹⁴⁵ Neiwart, Alt-America, 60-61.

A similar reaction from the mainstream right occurred in response to a 2009 Department of Homeland Security (DHS) memo outlining the increasing risk of right-wing extremism. 146 The memo, titled "Rightwing Extremism: Current Economic and Political Climate Fueling Resurgence in Radicalization and Recruitment," explained while the DHS had no specific information about right-wing extremist violence being planned, the recent financial crisis and the election of the country's first Black president presented new opportunities for radicalisation and recruitment, and created an environment with some resemblance to the 1990s, where increased activity of right-wing extremists was observed. 147 Conservative bloggers, television personalities, and politicians reacted with outrage, taking the report as evidence the government saw all conservatives as extremists and wanted to intimidate members of the then-burgeoning Tea Party movement. 148 The report was rescinded and two years after its release, the unit within the Department of Homeland security responsible for its creation had been "effectively eviscerated." 149 Daryll Johnson, the author of the memo, warned in a 2017 Washington Post opinion piece that federal agencies were still ignoring the rising threat of right-wing violent extremism, and attributed this lack of attention to fear of political backlash and those agencies' view of terrorists as almost exclusively Muslim. 150

Though the intention of the conservative backlash was to try and ridicule as hysterical the 'liberals' who would portray as extreme those political views they saw as obviously normal and acceptable¹⁵¹, in some ways they demonstrated precisely what they aimed to refute—that there is significant overlap and compatibility between mainstream conservative views and more odious elements of the extreme right. There is another irony in this reaction, and that is the implicit acknowledgement that the extremist frame can create "suspect communities." Those elements of right-wing media most upset about the focus on right-wing extremism took no second thoughts in spreading the idea that to be Muslim in itself

¹⁴⁶ Neiwart, *Alt-America*, 120-26.

¹⁴⁷ Department of Homeland Security, Rightwing Extremism.

¹⁴⁸ Neiwart, Alt-America, 125-26.

¹⁴⁹ Smith, "DHS curtails terror analysis."

¹⁵⁰ Johnson, "I Warned Right-Wing Violence."

¹⁵¹ Neiwart, *Alt-America*, 124-25.

¹⁵² Silva, "'Radicalisation Journey Concept' Revisited," 35.; German, "Learning From Our Mistakes," 174.

was worthy of suspicion and already somewhere on the road to terrorism.¹⁵³ Yet when they see the possibility—however disconnected from reality that perception may be—of such sweeping indictments threatening to judge them in a similar fashion, they begin to see the injustice of such ways of thinking.

Similar sentiments about conservative persecution can be heard from elements of the right today, in particular from Tucker Carlson. A line in Joe Biden's inauguration speech mentioned the new administration's goal of combating political extremism, white supremacy, and domestic terrorism; from this, Carlson spun a narrative that argues the definition of white supremacist has been dishonestly inflated to ensnare everyday conservatives, and that the new administration will use this as justification to "hunt for people who may criticize them." Once again, Carlson perhaps reveals more than he knows when he argues that mainstream conservatives seem to have some shared traits with white supremacists.

It would be a mistake to consider "conservatives" as a suspect community from the security perspective—as stated above, extreme ideas do not lead inexorably to violence. But while there are differences between mainstream conservatives and right-wing extremists, the extremist frame does not provide a particularly focused lens for distinguishing between the two in times like the present when ideas and violent actions once confined to the fringes are being pursued from within the mainstream.

The extremists of January 6

The difficulty in understanding the actors who stormed the Capitol on January 6 speaks to the limitations of the extremist frame. On the one hand, members of right-wing groups present such as the Three Percenters and the Proud Boys¹⁵⁵ fit reasonably well into the extremist frame. The "normals," by contrast, present a much more difficult conceptual

¹⁵³ George, Hate Spin, 165-66, 69.; Benkler, Faris, and Roberts, Network Propaganda, 132.

¹⁵⁴ Carlson, "War on 'White Supremacy'."

¹⁵⁵ Crothers and Burgener, "Insurrectionary Populism?," 5.

problem, because despite the anti-democratic and violent actions they displayed on that day, in many ways they appear more like the vast numbers of regular Trump supporters than they do members of extremist groups. Is it right, then, to call those "normals" who entered the Capitol on January 6 extremists? There are plausible arguments for thinking so. To take the most straightforward interpretation of the extremist frame, the January 6 rioters were acting against the institutions of liberal democracy. Their goal was to disrupt the certification of a free and fair democratic election. Even if it was accepted that political violence is sometimes justified—for example, Honderich's idea of democratic violence¹⁵⁶—the actions of the January 6 rioters would not be considered legitimate as they were based on the lie that the election was stolen. To be sure, they may have thought they were acting in defence of democracy, but believing it does not make it so. Right-wing extremist movements have often considered themselves defenders of democracy; at a Ku Klux Klan rally in the 1920s, the Grand Dragon of the time told the crowd that "[e]very [government] official who violates his oath to support the constitution by betrayal of the common welfare through any selfish service to himself or to others spits in the soup and in the face of democracy." 157 While it can be argued the institutions of democracy as they exist in the United States fall short of a democratic ideal, 158 the January 6 rioters were not fighting to move the country closer to any such goal. Finally, participants in the January 6 riot fit the current FBI and DHS definition of a domestic violent extremist: "an individual based and operating primarily within the territorial jurisdiction of the United States who seeks to further their ideological goals wholly or in part through unlawful acts of force or violence."159 While the FBI is not the philosophical arbiter of who or what is extremism or terrorism, the current director has stated they consider January 6 an instance of domestic terrorism. 160

On the other hand, care should be taken not to paint with too broad a brush. There were permutations of culpability within the people participated in the broad events of January 6:

¹⁵⁶ Honderich, Essays on Political Violence, 90-116.

¹⁵⁷ McVeigh and Estep, *Politics of Losing*, 2.

¹⁵⁸ For arguments of this kind, see Grayling, *The Good State*.; Dahl, *How Democratic American Constitution?*

¹⁵⁹ FBI and DHS, Domestic Terrorism

¹⁶⁰ Naylor and Lucas, "Wray Stresses Right-Wing Extremism."

not everyone at the Trump rally went to the Capitol; not everyone who went to the Capitol fought police to shift the lines backwards; not everyone on the stairs in front of the Capitol, behind the initial police line, entered the building; not everyone who entered the building did so in a physically violent way. On the other hand, collectively the mob functioned to violently intimidate members of Congress; for a member of that mob to argue they did not engage in violence and were therefore being unfairly associated with extremists, as did Robert Reeder, a now convicted January 6 participant, ignores any notion of collective responsibility.

Looking beyond the events of January 6, is it fair to consider Trump's most avid supporters—MAGA folk—to be extremists? Though it is undoubtedly painting with a broad brush, an argument can be made for seeing the answer as yes. McVeigh and Estep argue that Trump's election represented "a [white nationalist agenda] that not only entered our political discourse, but found a warm reception from Americans, most of whom did not think of themselves as political extremists." While they may not consider themselves extremist, the fact a set of political views is widely supported and by the President should not absolve it from extremism, unless extremism is meant only in the thin sense that denotes poorly supported views on the political fringes.

Is it fair to consider the Republican Party in its current form extremist? It does not use violence, but sometimes that is not necessary to meet anti-democratic ends. Steven Levitsky, author of *How Democracies Die*, recently argued the Republican Party has "become an anti-democratic force" and that it is not clear whether they are "willing to accept defeat anymore." As with 'extremism' itself, what makes a party a right-wing extremist party lacks a consensus definition. He as Mudde notes of extreme right parties: "we seem to know *who* they are even though we do not exactly know *what* they are." In other words, identification of extremists seems to be easier than explaining what it is exactly which makes

.

¹⁶¹ Shepard, "Capitol Riot Suspect Sentencing."; CBS Baltimore Staff, "Robert Reeder Sentenced."

¹⁶² McVeigh and Estep, Politics of Losing, 11.

¹⁶³ Riccardi, "'Slow-motion insurrection'."

¹⁶⁴ Mudde, Ideology of Extreme Right, 10.; Michael, Right Wing Extremism USA, 3.

¹⁶⁵ Mudde, *Ideology of Extreme Right*, 7.

them so. Given that most Republicans in Congress will not openly criticize Trump for his continued insistence that the election was stolen, it is fair to see the party as being complicit in Trump's extremist anti-democratic actions. The few Republicans that have spoken out can perhaps see the problem most clearly. Liz Cheney, a Republican congresswoman, wrote critically of Trump and her party in a *Washington Post* opinion piece:

Trump is seeking to unravel critical elements of our constitutional structure that make democracy work — confidence in the result of elections and the rule of law. No other American president has ever done this. [...] The Republican Party is at a turning point, and Republicans must decide whether we are going to choose truth and fidelity to the Constitution. [...] While embracing or ignoring Trump's statements might seem attractive to some for fundraising and political purposes, that approach will do profound long-term damage to our party and our country. [...] We must be brave enough to defend the basic principles that underpin and protect our freedom and our democratic process. 166

Trump's remarks after the "Unite the Right" rally in Charlottesville demonstrated even he struggles to coherently parse the extreme from the mainstream within his base. His temperate efforts to condemn Neo-Nazis and white nationalists were overshadowed by his insistence that there were "very fine people on both sides:"

I've condemned neo-Nazis. I've condemned many different groups. But not all of those people were neo-Nazis, believe me. Not all of those people were white supremacists by any stretch. Those people were also there because they wanted to protest the taking down of a statue, Robert E. Lee. 167

_

¹⁶⁶ Cheney, "GOP Turning Point."

¹⁶⁷ The New York Times, "Transcript: Trump's News Conference."

Trump may be right that some of the people present did not consider themselves neo-Nazis or white supremacists. But given how clearly their views and interests aligned with the neo-Nazis and white supremacists, it becomes difficult to see Trump's insistence that some of the people present ought to escape moral condemnation as anything other than empty rhetoric. It appears to be a distinction without a difference.

If you look, they were people protesting very quietly the taking down the statue of Robert E. Lee. I am sure in that group there were some bad ones. The following day, it looked like they had some rough, bad people, neo-Nazis, white nationalists, whatever you want to call them. But you had a lot of people in that group that were there to innocently protest and very legally protest.¹⁶⁸

Trump is of course correct that people have the right to peaceful protest. The first amendment guarantees it, even for abhorrent views. There are arguments that question the societal value of such laissez-faire approaches to free speech, ¹⁶⁹ but nonetheless, the first amendment as it stands protects hate speech as it does any other speech. However, in defending the Charlottesville protestors, Trump's condemnation of the violence only served to highlight the fact he did not condemn what the violence was in pursuit of. Anti-democratic movements that are non-violent (which after January 6, Trump's base cannot fully lay claim to be) can still be dangerous. As Levitsky and Ziblatt argue, democracies not only die through violent coups—they can also be destroyed from within, by democratically elected leaders who slowly but surely backslide their countries into autocracy. Mainstream political leaders and parties—and the bases of support that sustain them—can ruin democracy through the ballot box, in a manner that is "less dramatic but equally destructive" as extremist violence. ¹⁷⁰

"People's representations of social categories are clearly embedded in explanatory theories—social ontologies—that are consequential for their evaluations of them," write Haslam,

34

¹⁶⁸ The New York Times, "Transcript: Trump's News Conference."

¹⁶⁹ Waldron, Harm in Hate Speech.

¹⁷⁰ Levitsky and Ziblatt, How Democracies Die, 2-8.

Rothschild, and Ernst.¹⁷¹ The social category of extremist should not be understood in an objective sense, as a phenomena with clear criteria and a shared essence that all extremists possess. The concept is relative and hazy. That does not mean labels of extremism are arbitrary, meaningless, or random; as Julian Richards argues, in the context of a modern liberal democracies, "it seems far from inappropriate to suggest that violent actions which seek to target democratic institutions and dehumanize selected citizens of the state should properly be described as extremism."¹⁷² That said, the limitations of the extremist frame must be kept in mind. Given the pejorative and marginalizing nature of the term, care should be taken when it is applied and the perspective from which it comes should be acknowledged.¹⁷³

There would be something wrong with an analysis which considered all conservatives extremists; if the fabricated idea that the redacted 2009 DHS memo really was just trying to target conservatives was true, that would be problematic. Likewise, there would also problems with an analysis which considered Trump and his most ardent followers as legitimate political actors, given that Trump tried to steal a free and fair election and his followers attempted to help him do it with violence. I cannot pretend to know where the appropriate line between those two responses is. Stepping back momentarily from the term "extremist," however, can allow a related, but perhaps slightly simpler question to be asked: "how did the "normal" January 6 rioters get to the point where they were willing to use violence in support of a President trying to overthrow a democratic election?" I will argue in the next chapter this question can be answered, in part, using some of the tools of the extremism and radicalisation literature, namely the social identity and social movement perspective.

¹⁷¹ Haslam, Rothschild, and Ernst, "Essentialist Beliefs Social Categories," 123.

¹⁷² Richards, Extremism, Radicalization and Security, 218.

¹⁷³ Sedgwick, "Radicalization Confusion," 491.

Chapter 3: Radicalisation as identity under threat

The concepts of extremism and radicalisation are deeply connected, yet as with extremism, there is no consensus definition of radicalisation.¹⁷⁴ This is not particularly surprising; if, as Peter Neumann argues, radicalisation is understood roughly to mean "the process whereby people become extremists,"¹⁷⁵ what is meant by "extremist" will in turn alter the meaning of radicalisation. So while there is debate about what radicalisation means, there is some agreement that the term refers to the "how" in the question "how does a person become an extremist?"

What is radicalisation?

As mentioned in the previous chapter, the distinction between extreme ideas and extreme actions relates directly to radicalisation, in that the relationship (or lack thereof) between the two will impact how radicalisation occurs. Some authors therefore make a distinction between cognitive radicalisation and behavioural radicalisation, where the former refers to how people adopt extreme ideas, and the latter to how people come to engage in extreme action, political violence and terrorism. Whether cognitive extremism ought to be considered a necessary precursor to behavioural extremism, or in other words, whether cognitive radicalisation is itself part of behavioural radicalisation, is a debated question. Randy Borum, for example, does not see cognitive radicalisation as a necessary precursor to behavioural extremism, arguing that "[m]ost people who hold radical ideas do not engage in terrorism, and many terrorists—even those who lay claim to a 'cause'—are not deeply ideological and may not 'radicalize' in any traditional sense." Manni Crone similarly argues

_

¹⁷⁴ Gartenstein-Ross and Blackman, "Fluidity of the Fringes," 3.

¹⁷⁵ Neumann, "The Trouble with Radicalization," 874.

¹⁷⁶ Hafez and Mullins, "The Radicalization Puzzle," 961.; Bartlett and Miller, "Edge of Violence," 2.; Crone, "Radicalization Revisited," 590.

¹⁷⁷ Neumann, "The Trouble with Radicalization," 875-76.; Malthaner, "Radicalization," 386-87.; Kundnani and Hayes, *Globalisation Countering Violent Extremism*, 12.

¹⁷⁸ Borum, "Radicalization Violent Extremism I," 8.

approaches that emphasise extremist ideology provide an overly intellectualist approach to radicalisation that claims a specific relationship between ideas and violence, with the former seen as a precondition for the latter.¹⁷⁹ Donatella della Porta describes these sorts of views as binding radicalisation "to the adoption of extremist beliefs or 'mindsets,' with the assumption, implicit or explicit, that radical beliefs tend to result in violent behavior."¹⁸⁰

There is some merit to these criticisms. When Ted Kaczynski's "Unabomber manifesto" was published in the New York Times and Washington Post on September 19, 1995, 181 there were surely many regular people who read it and agreed with much of what it said. Yet no imitation Unabomber emerged in the days, weeks, and months after its publication—an outcome that might have been expected if there were some straightforward causal connection between extreme ideas and extreme violence. What these criticisms can miss, however, is that cognitive radicalisation does not have to be solely about beliefs or ideology. 182 Understanding cognitive radicalisation as "what is happening inside people's heads"183 means broadening its scope beyond the adoption of extreme ideas. In particular for my argument, cognitive radicalisation should be understood as involving changes in social identity and the adoption of perceptual frames that align an individual's understanding of the world and its problems with that of their social group, which they perceive to be under threat. This conception is broadly informed by social identity and social movement theory. 184 So while McCauley and Moskalenko are right to argue "[t]here is no "conveyor belt" from extreme beliefs to extreme action," that does not mean beliefs and ideology are not important—just that they have to be considered within a broader notion of cognitive change, and in the context of frame alignment, a concept from social movement I will come to explain. An individual who has undergone such cognitive radicalisation may be able to be mobilised to certain actions on behalf of the movement, some of which can involve violence.

¹⁷⁹ Crone, "Radicalization Revisited," 591-93.

¹⁸⁰ della Porta, "Radicalization: A Relational Perspective," 462.

¹⁸¹ Barnett, "20 Years Later," 60.

¹⁸² Neumann, "The Trouble with Radicalization," 881-83.

¹⁸³ Miller-Idriss, *Hate in the Homeland*, 3.

¹⁸⁴ Tajfel and Turner, "Integrative Theory Intergroup Conflict."; Borum, "Radicalization Violent Extremism I," 16-20.; Malthaner, "Radicalization," 375-76.

While there may be other pathways to political violence or ways of understanding and explaining radicalisation, the advantage of the social movement/social identity perspective in examining the "normals" who stormed the Capitol is that it can account for the hazy and fluid boundaries between mainstream and extreme, and the ways in which individuals might be mobilised to political violence despite not being members of extremist groups. Explaining this perspective is the task I will turn to now.

Social identity and social movements

In the broadest terms, the social identity/social movement perspective argues people can be mobilised to violence when they perceive their group to require defence from an outside threat. Two recent works which centralise the social identity perspective are Marc Sageman's *Turning to Political Violence* and J.M. Berger's *Extremism*. ¹⁸⁵ In a sentence, Sageman articulates his framework as follows:

A political community, in an escalating conflict with an outside group, disillusioned with peaceful means of solving the conflict and outraged by this group's unwarranted aggression, will generate volunteers, who view themselves as soldiers, to defend it against this outside group. 186

Berger outlines his notion of extremism with similar reference to group dynamics:

Extremism refers to the belief that an in-group's success or survival can never be separated from the need for hostile action against an out-group. The hostile action must be part of the in-group's definition of success. Hostile acts can range from verbal attacks and diminishment to discriminatory behavior, violence, and even genocide.¹⁸⁷

¹⁸⁵ Sageman, Turning to Political Violence, 4.; Berger, Extremism, 24.

¹⁸⁶ Sageman, Turning to Political Violence, 3.

¹⁸⁷ Berger, Extremism, 44.

Central to this framework is the concept of identity, and in particular the value of group identities to individuals. It has long been known that it does not take much for people to show in-group favouritism. Several studies in the early 1970s showed people randomly assigned into arbitrary groups still displayed in-group favouritism and out-group discrimination when tasked with awarding money to other participants. 188 Group identities, however, can be much more than arbitrary. As Anthony Appiah notes, social identities are not just labels that can be applied descriptively; for many people who feel solidarity with their group, their membership has normative significance, and their identities provide them with (and allow them to create) reasons and scripts for how to act, think, and be. 189 In other words, social identities are both descriptive and prescriptive, for both the in-group and the out-group. The prescriptive elements of identity, or the narratives around its meaning, are not developed solely by the in-group—they are created in dialogue with society and other out-groups. "When an identity grouping evolves beyond matters of convenience and simplicity, such as demarcating where you live or go to school," Berger writes, "it requires a narrative to explain the meaning of the collective—what the identity means, where it comes from, and where it is going."190

Henri Tajfel and John Turner's theory of inter-group conflict can explain how these identities can lead to hostile behaviour towards out-groups. Social identity, they argue, is made up of "those aspects of an individual's self-image that derive from the social categories to which he perceives himself as belonging." As people desire positive self-esteem, and as their self-esteem relies in part on their social identity, people want their social identity to be positive. Their social identity, however, is dependent on how their social group is evaluated compared with others. In-group members will therefore attempt to positively distinguish their group from the relevant out-groups. 192

¹⁸⁸ Tajfel, "Experiments in Intergroup Discrimination."; Tajfel et al., "Social Categorization Intergroup Behaviour."

¹⁸⁹ Appiah, The Lies That Bind, 8-12.; Appiah, "Identity, Authenticity, Survival," 160-63.

¹⁹⁰ Berger, Extremism, 54.

¹⁹¹ Tajfel and Turner, "Integrative Theory Intergroup Conflict," 101.

¹⁹² Tajfel and Turner, "Integrative Theory Intergroup Conflict," 101.

The theory is based on a conceptual distinction between interpersonal and intergroup behaviour. They describe a continuum of behaviour: on one end is pure interpersonal behaviour, characterised by a social interaction between two people that occurs purely on the basis on their interpersonal relationship and individual personalities; on the opposite end of the spectrum is pure intergroup behaviour, characterised by a social interaction between two or more individuals or groups that plays out purely through the individuals' group identities and norms, and not on their interpersonal relationships. The authors write that these two extremes of behaviour likely do not exist in reality and that most social interactions exist somewhere between the two, partially influenced by both.¹⁹³

There is another continuum the authors describe which has a causal effect on whether social interactions will operate more like the interpersonal or the intergroup extreme. It again involves two extremes, based on individuals' beliefs about the "the nature and the structure of the relations between social groups in their society. 194 On one end, the "social mobility" mindset believes society is flexible enough to allow movement between groups—for example, by working hard and changing their social class. On the other end, the "social change" mindset does not believe movement is so easy. They see society structured in a stratified and hierarchical way, be it by race, gender, or economic class, and that these group identities are extremely difficult to change. These mindsets may or may not align with objective reality—that is to say, there is not necessarily a "one-to-one relationship" between perceptions of the stratification of society and the facts on the ground, though the authors note there is usually some correlation. 195 Either way, the more individuals lean towards the "social change" end of the continuum, the more they push their social interactions towards the intergroup behavioural dynamic.

Where individuals lie on these two spectrums has consequences for how they treat and see members of the out-group. The closer in-group members are to the "intergroup" and "social change" extremes, the more homogenous their own behaviour towards, and

¹⁹³ Tajfel and Turner, "Integrative Theory Intergroup Conflict," 95.

¹⁹⁴ Tajfel and Turner, "Integrative Theory Intergroup Conflict," 96.

¹⁹⁵ Tajfel and Turner, "Integrative Theory Intergroup Conflict," 96.

perception of, the out-group will be.¹⁹⁶ This behaviour towards to out-group is likely to be hostile if the in-group is privileged or sits atop a hierarchy, and the out-group(s) are perceived to be questioning or threatening that status quo—especially when the privileged group sees their position as legitimate. In this situation, a dominant group will likely react by making their group more positively distinctive.¹⁹⁷

Empirical research on intergroup conflict is broadly compatible with Tajfel and Turner's theoretical expectations. Federico, Hunt, and Fisher find individuals with a greater need for cognitive closure—the desire for solid conclusions in the face of ambiguity—positively differentiated their in-group to a greater degree when they considered their in-group to have high status. The authors consider this strong differentiation between groups as a precursor of sorts to extremism—it creates the Manichean distinction "between a 'good' us and 'bad' them." 198 Fischer, Haslam, and Smith find that support for aggressive, retaliatory action against a source of threat towards a social group is increased when the salience of that identity is increased. They found that the perception of a given threat was moderated by which identity was more salient—women in the experiment, for example, whose gender identity was made salient felt more threatened (and in response endorsed greater military retaliation) when they were given details of the Taliban and their treatment of women (a threat against gender identity) than they were when shown pictures of the London bombings of 2005 (a threat against national identity). 199 Other research also links threats to social identity with hostility and support for political violence against the out-group.²⁰⁰ Nichole Argo finds willingness of Palestinians to participate in violent resistance was positively correlated with community-oriented values and negative correlated with self-enhancement values. This, she argues, lends credit to the idea political violence is motivated by social

¹⁹⁶ Tajfel and Turner, "Integrative Theory Intergroup Conflict," 97.

¹⁹⁷ Tajfel and Turner, "Integrative Theory Intergroup Conflict," 105-06.

¹⁹⁸ Federico, Hunt, and Fisher, "Uncertainty and Status-Based Asymmetries," 474.

¹⁹⁹ Fischer, Haslam, and Smith, ""If You Wrong Us", 147-48.

 $^{^{200}}$ Obaidi et al., "Living under threat."; Obaidi, Thomsen, and Bergh, "Meta-Cultural Threat Endorsement Violence."

identity concerns, rather than a rational-choice model where people participated for self-interested reasons.²⁰¹

Social identity is only one part of the framework. Social movement theory explains how people can be mobilised to violence on behalf of their group identity. Donatella della Porta describes social movements as "networks of individuals and organizations that have common identities and conflictual aims and that use unconventional means." Actors within social movements "are involved in conflictual relations with clearly identified opponents; are linked by dense informal networks; share a distinct collective identity." Social movements aim to change society in their preferred direction, and can emerge both from groups aiming to make society more equitable and groups with privilege who want to preserve or enhance it. For social movements to effect change, however, they need members of the group to mobilise to action. This action is often non-violent, and can involve things like participating in protests, handing out flyers, or contacting government representatives. In the context of extremist movements, however, this action can also extend to violence.

The nature of the action prescribed will be heavily influenced by which political opportunities are open.²⁰⁵ In social movement theory, the political opportunity structure functions to "enhance or inhibit prospects for mobilization, for particular sorts of claims to be advanced rather than others, for particular strategies of influence to be exercised, and for movements to affect mainstream institutional politics and policy."²⁰⁶ The principal idea behind the need for political opportunities, notes McVeigh and Estep, is that "people for the most part will not put time and effort into a movement if they believe it's doomed to fail."²⁰⁷ Arie Perliger finds empirical support for this notion with respect to far right violence in the

²⁰¹ Argo, "Why Fight?."

²⁰² della Porta, Clandestine Political Violence, 14.

²⁰³ della Porta and Diani, Social Movements: An Introduction, 20.

²⁰⁴ McVeigh and Estep, *Politics of Losing*, 56-57.

²⁰⁵ della Porta, "Radicalization: A Relational Perspective," 464.

²⁰⁶ Meyer and Minkoff, "Conceptualizing Political Opportunity," 1457-58.

²⁰⁷ McVeigh and Estep, *Politics of Losing*, 184.

United States, where Republican control of Congress and the presidency was correlated with more attacks by far right perpetrators.²⁰⁸

No matter the nature of the action, however, mobilising narratives are required to motivate, and these narratives are known as collective action frames. Collective actions frames are interpretive narratives that provide a certain perspective of the world on behalf of a social identity and its associated movement. They give meaning to events, and play a key role in constructing a group's social reality. Crucially, collective action frames are designed to mobilise people to action by diagnosing a problem and offering a course of action that would resolve it.209 In effect, collective action frames say to potential movement members "here is how we see the problem and here is our solution." When an individual's way of seeing the world, how it needs to change, and what action is needed to make it so matches up with a social movement's, this is known as frame alignment.²¹⁰ Alignment can occur both from a change in the individual's frame and actors within the movement changing and altering their own. Michael Jensen, Anita Atwell Seate, and Patrick James found that cognitive frame alignment and community crisis were the only two factors their analysis considered "'near' necessary causes" of violent extremism.²¹¹ Frames that are particularly effective at mobilising people to action are said to have "resonance"—that is, the view of the world the frame presents makes sense to the individual and they are motivated to take the action it prescribes.212

While there can be many different kinds of mobilising collective action frames that might engender political violence, there is one kind in particular I wish to focus on with respect to January 6, and that is those related to collective existential threat. As Berger writes, "[t]he complete destruction of one's in-group is an intoxicating fear and an effective way to mobilize in-group members."²¹³ In Sageman's model, threats against the group push some

²⁰⁸ Perliger, American Zealots, Chapter 5.

²⁰⁹ Benford and Snow, "Framing Processes Social Movements," 614-18.

²¹⁰ Benford and Snow, "Framing Processes Social Movements," 624.

²¹¹ Jensen, Atwell Seate, and James, "Radicalization to Violence," 1079-80.

²¹² Benford and Snow, "Framing Processes Social Movements," 620.

²¹³ Berger, Extremism, 92.

members to develop a "martial identity," which, for them, "legitimizes political violence: the perpetrators are just soldiers fighting for their imagined communities."²¹⁴ Empirical research supports this intuitive notion. Gilad Hirschberger, Tom Pyszczynski, and Tsachi Ein-Dor find that existential threat motivates support for violent action against an out-group through a sense of retributive justice, rather than a utility-based consideration of violence as an effective solution.²¹⁵

Collective existential threats can be either physical or symbolic; that is, angst can manifest over fears of physical annihilation or genocide and fears that the group identity will in the future no longer exist as it now does, through mechanisms like assimilation or demographic change. Crucially, threats do not have to be realistic or likely to be perceived as such by social groups. While the resonance of a collective action frame depends on its credibility and its salience for the target audience which on its face should work against frames based on false conspiracies or "alternative facts"—if those conspiracies and falsehoods are accepted by the social group already, then there is reason to expect collective action frames which utilise those aspects of the group's social reality to be successful.

A criticism of this conceptualisation of mobilisation and radicalisation might be that it doesn't solve the problem of understanding why some people resort to political violence and others do not. The question has not been answered, just shifted back a step in the analysis; there is still a knowledge gap with respect to why some members of the radicalised population respond to mobilising calls for violence. Presumably, this criticism would allege, there is some difference between the people able to be mobilised and those who are not. The desire for a complete explanation behind this criticism is understandable, but I would contend it is misguided. Such a criticism is coming from the point of view that there must be something special about people who are capable of engaging in violence, that there is

²¹⁴ Sageman, Turning to Political Violence, 40.

²¹⁵ Hirschberger, Pyszczynski, and Ein-Dor, "Existential Threat Intergroup Violence."

²¹⁶ Hirschberger et al., "Multidimensional Existential Threat Model," 4.

²¹⁷ Benford and Snow, "Framing Processes Social Movements," 619-22.

something that distinguishes them from others who share most of their beliefs. Despite its early popularity, the idea that psychopathology is a primary contributor to violent extremism or terrorism is not supported by the evidence and has fallen out of favour.²¹⁸ No "terrorist psychological profile" has been found and those who engage in political violence are not "crazy."²¹⁹ Psychological factors that have been linked with extremism—for example, the need for significance and meaning;²²⁰ a perception of unfairness;²²¹ or feelings of uncertainty²²²—are not unique to extremists or terrorists, and explanations of radicalisation therefore cannot rely solely on any individual cognitive deficit or quirk.²²³ Instead, both intra and inter group dynamics are more likely to yield insight into who engages in violence and who does not.²²⁴ Arun Kundnani argues micro-level explanations are in fact impossible:

While policing agencies search for scholarship that can give them a magical formula to predict who will be a future terrorist, an honest survey of individual cases suggests that the micro-level question of what causes one person rather than another in the same political context to engage in violence is beyond analysis and best seen as unpredictable.²²⁵

On the other hand, Kundnani does consider analysis at the meso and macro levels to be fruitful.²²⁶ In other words, we may be able to say what makes one social movement, or groups within a movement, more likely to engage in political violence, but not all that much about which individual members within those movements or groups will do so. Likewise, Sageman argues there is no evidence that those who adopt a "martial identity" are any different from other members of the social movement they are a part of.²²⁷ In short, there is

²¹⁸ Moghaddam, "The Staircase to Terrorism," 161.; Jackson, "Knowledge, Power and Politics," 72.

²¹⁹ Horgan, "From Profiles to Pathways," 84.; Doosje et al., "Terrorism, Radicalization, and De-radicalization,"

²²⁰ Jasko, LaFree, and Kruglanski, "Quest for Significance."; Kruglanski et al., "Psychology of Radicalization."

²²¹ van den Bos, "Unfairness and Radicalization."

²²² Hogg and Adelman, "Uncertainty-Identity Theory."

²²³ Ozer, Obaidi, and Pfattheicher, "Group Membership and Radicalization," 1231.

²²⁴ Ginges et al., "Psychology Out of Laboratory," 517.

²²⁵ Kundnani, "Radicalisation: Journey of Concept," 21.

²²⁶ Kundnani, "Radicalisation: Journey of Concept," 21-22.

²²⁷ Sageman, Turning to Political Violence, 38.

currently no theoretical or empirical way of determining which individuals within a movement will turn to violence and which will not.²²⁸ This, however, is consistent with the theoretical framework I am adopting. The social movement and social identity perspectives from which I am drawing do not treat violence as "a sui generis phenomenon or as one attributable to a distinct class of people."229 It instead aims to place violence in context in a field of actors, as one possible course of action among many, and as such does not consider necessarily consider the people who engage in violence on behalf of social movements to possess any special distinguishing traits from others in the movement. The value of social movement perspective for studying political violence and terrorism, argues Jereon Gunning, is that it can "relocate violence within its social context and encourage investigation into the interactions between militant organisations, the larger social movement of which they form a part, and the society and political system more broadly."230 The value of this perspective with respect January 6 is that it is therefore not committed to the idea that there is something intrinsically different about those who entered the Capitol violently, those who just attended the rally, those who may have watched at home in support, or those who voted for Trump but did not support the events of that day. Instead of having to say "these people are extremists" and outline rigid criteria, they can all be examined as actors in a broader movement.

It is important to emphasise that on this model, political violence does not occur without mobilising actors making the case for action to be taken. This is what Jacquelien van Stekelenburg and Bert Klandermans refer to as the "demand and supply" metaphor of mobilisation, where "the supply side of politics refers to social movement organizations, political parties, political entrepreneurs, and media in a society" and "[t]he demand side of politics refers to the potential of citizens in a society susceptible to appeals for political action." Thus, just as critics of overly intellectualised concepts of cognitive radicalisation argue there is no straightforward causal link between extreme ideas and extreme violence,

²²⁸ Miller-Idriss, *Hate in the Homeland*, 22.; Hafez and Mullins, "The Radicalization Puzzle," 959.

²²⁹ Bosi, Demetriou, and Malthaner, "Contentious Politics Approach Radicalization," 3.

²³⁰ Gunning, "Social Movement Study Terrorism," 161.

²³¹ van Stekelenburg and Klandermans, "Radicalization," 189-91.

violence is not the inevitable result when a social group perceives itself to be threatened. Violence only occurs when supply and demand are brought together in mobilisation.

How, then, do the "normals" who stormed the Capitol on January 6 fit into this framework? My claim is that the rioters saw themselves as part of a threatened social group, and that they were mobilised to protect it by political actors, chief among them the former president, Donald Trump. In many ways, these people are driven by similar forces to those which Christopher Parker and Matt Barreto argue drove support for the Tea Party: "the anxiety they feel as they perceive the America they know, the country they love, slipping away, threatened by the rapidly changing face of what they believe is the 'real' America: a heterosexual, Christian, middle-class, (mostly) male, white country."232 In a more recent paper Parker argues Trump's "use of Anglo cultural appeals is very similar to, and often even more overt than, the Tea Party's use of them."233 The sense of threat, however, goes further than a discomfort with the changing face of America; many of the rioters believe this change is intentionally designed and orchestrated to replace them within the American electorate, or perhaps even destroy them, physically or symbolically, as a social group.²³⁴ These fears are broadly in line with conspiracy theories of "the great replacement" or "white genocide," and until recently were mostly confined to the extreme fringes of political discourse.²³⁵ Replacement theory centres around the idea that "white European populations are being deliberately replaced at an ethnic and cultural level through migration and the growth of minority communities."236 The threat to 'real Americans' is perceived both symbolically (angst over the white, Christian population no longer being the dominant group) and physically (angst over white population decline or "genocide"). Rioters do not trust Democrats or the mainstream media, both of whom they see as complicit in trying to replace them as Americans. The right-wing media environment they exist in reinforces these ideas,

²³² Parker and Barreto, Change Can't Believe In, 3.

²³³ Parker, "Status Threat," 56.

²³⁴ CPOST, Deep, Divisive, Disturbing, 27-28.

²³⁵ Miller-Idriss, *Hate in the Homeland*, 53.

²³⁶ Davey and Ebner, The 'Great Replacement', 7.

and indulges in their conspiratorial worldview. The social reality they share with others in the movement is open to conspiracy theories and "alternative facts," in so far as that way of thinking works to the in-group's favour. Trump was viewed as a defender of white Christian interests,²³⁷ and his loss in the 2020 election would therefore have put these interests at risk. The former President's claim that the election was stolen from him (and by extension white, Christian America) was met with positive reception. His efforts to overturn the election results in the final months of his presidency proved unsuccessful. January 6 therefore became something of a last-ditch effort to keep a grip on the highest office in the land. If the certification of the ballots in the Senate could be stopped, then there was potentially (so Trump and his team believed) still time to stop the inevitable. This was understood by those in the movement, and on the morning of January 6, when Trump told them if they did not "fight like hell" they would "not have a country anymore," 238 they knew what they had to try and do. This collective action frame, or what Berger calls the "crisis-solution construct," 239 mobilised many people who had no prior connections to extremist groups or histories of violence to take extreme actions in defence of their embattled community. As far as political opportunities go, being mobilised to action by the President of the United States is perhaps as open as an opportunity could ever be. Many rioters believed Trump would pardon them (and in January of 2022, he said he would consider doing so if he became President again).240

While it is true there were different groups present on January 6, each with somewhat distinct ideologies, the fact they could all be mobilised to the same cause suggests at some level there is a through line that ties these groups together. My contention is that the sense of threat to the aforementioned identity—that of a 'real American'—can encircle at least parts of all the different groups present, and can provide an intelligible frame for understanding how those who were not part of small formal extremist groups (where the social dynamics may be

²³⁷ Smith and King, "White Protectionism in America."; Major, Blodorn, and Major Blascovich, "Threat of Increasing Diversity."; Whitehead, Perry, and Baker, "Make America Christian Again."

²³⁸ Naylor, "Trump's Jan. 6 Speech."

²³⁹ Berger, Extremism, 122-23.

²⁴⁰ Bleiberg and Mustian, "Capitol Rioters Trump Pardon."; Colvin, "Trump Dangles Pardons."

expected to produce greater violence)²⁴¹ were nonetheless mobilised to violence. As della Porta points out, the collective identity of a social movement is often not expressed through "integrated and homogeneous identities," but are formed instead through a "polycentric rather than a hierarchical structure" of constituent identities.²⁴² In other words, we should not expect one rigid identity to be the centre of this movement. Indeed, as Brian Hughes and Cynthia Miller-Idriss point out, "fragmentation and schism have been the norm rather than the exception" among far-right groups, and most attempts to unify them, such as at the Unite the Right rally in Charlottesville, have failed.²⁴³ January 6, they argue, was "the first mass action of an eclectic but increasingly unified extreme far-right scene."²⁴⁴

Another benefit to this framework is that it allows those who participated in January 6 to be placed in context with other members of broader identity and movement who did not storm the Capitol that day. After all, as with there always being many more people who have extremist ideas than there are people who engage in extremist violence, there are many more people in the United States population who will fit into this identity construct than who rose to violence to defend it. Research from CPOST suggests there are 21 million Americans who believe the 2020 election was stolen, that Biden is an illegitimate president, and that violence would be justified to restore Trump to the presidency.²⁴⁵ Of these people, nearly half believe in the great replacement and the QAnon conspiracy theory, which is nearly 400% higher than rates of belief in the general population.²⁴⁶

The rest of this chapter will be dedicated to examining this social identity and how it developed to see itself as threatened.

²⁴¹ Ginges et al., "Psychology Out of Laboratory," 517.

²⁴² della Porta and Diani, Social Movements: An Introduction, 98.

²⁴³ Hughes and Miller-Idriss, "Uniting for Total Collapse," 12.

²⁴⁴ Hughes and Miller-Idriss, "Uniting for Total Collapse," 12.

²⁴⁵ CPOST, Deep, Divisive, Disturbing, 18.

²⁴⁶ CPOST, Deep, Divisive, Disturbing, 28.

An American identity under threat

The norms that define American identity are usually categorised into one of two kinds: civic norms or ascriptive norms. Civic norms are those ideological elements of American identity that can be shared by anyone who adopts them, such as "the liberal creedal tradition of individualism, minimal government intervention into private life, hard work, equal opportunity, and political freedom," but also civic republicanism, where citizens have a civic duty to be informed, engaged in politics, and think in terms of the greater good of all.²⁴⁷ Ascriptive elements, on the other hand, are exclusive, and police the boundaries of American identity on characteristics like race, religion, ethnicity, or sexual orientation.²⁴⁸ Civic and ascriptive elements are not mutually exclusive and both are present in conceptions of American identity to this day.²⁴⁹ It is an American identity based on a combination of these ascriptive norms—being white and Christian—that I argue constitutes the 'real Americans' who feel threatened by changing the demographics of America and the prospect they will no longer be prototypical Americans.

Research has demonstrated the importance of these ascriptive notions of American identity for Trump's base; the desire to keep America white, both demographically and culturally, has been correlated with support for Trump, as has the desire to maintain Christianity's dominance in America.²⁵⁰ Trump's "galvanizing story of America" aimed to protect white, Christian Americans from losing in the zero-sum game of modern America.²⁵¹ Data about electoral support for Trump has its limits for my purposes, however, as it includes in its samples many people who voted for Trump yet nonetheless will have disapproved of the Capitol riots.

Looking at those who participated in the events of January 6, however, suggests these ascriptive elements may be even more important for them. Analysis from CPOST of the 716

²⁴⁷ Schildkraut, "American Identity," 447.

²⁴⁸ Schildkraut, "American Identity," 447-48.

²⁴⁹ Smith, Civic Ideals, 38-39.; Lepore, This America, 57-58.

²⁵⁰ Graham et al., "Who Wears MAGA Hat?."; Major, Blodorn, and Major Blascovich, "Threat of Increasing Diversity."; Whitehead, Perry, and Baker, "Make America Christian Again."

²⁵¹ Smith and King, "White Protectionism in America," 471.

people arrested for their involvement in January 6 (as at January 1 2022), shows 93% of them are white, which is greater than both the percentage of the general population who is white (69%) and the percentage of 2020 Trump voters who are white (85%).²⁵² Though there is no similar data on the rioters' religious affiliations, there was an overwhelming presence on the day of Christian symbology and rhetoric.²⁵³ The fact the rioters were not 100% white does not necessarily count against my interpretation of their motives—after all, CPOST found only half of those with insurrectionist sentiment believed in the great replacement, and even once factors such as belief in QAnon, media consumption habits, partisanship, racial resentment, importance of whiteness to identity, and evangelism (among many others) were added to their model, it still only explained 64% of the variance in insurrectionist sentiment.²⁵⁴ In other words, I do not claim the identity-based explanation of 'real Americans' is the entirety of the explanation, just that it is a very significant one.

Several events in modern history contributed to the sense of threat at the centre of 'real American's' concerns. The Al-Qaeda attacks on September 11, 2001, and the ensuing response from the Bush administration signalled to many Americans that their security in the world was no longer (if in fact it ever was) guaranteed. For some, it sharpened the different between "us," the freedom loving, secular, and democratic "West," and "them," the totalitarian, freedom-hating, and radically religious "them." The nature of the threat was existential and in some minds 9/11 was the first shot in a war between two incompatible ways of life.²⁵⁵

The election of Obama was also a significant event for those who feared a changing America.²⁵⁶ Obama himself writes "[i]t was as if my very presence in the White House had triggered a deep-seated panic, a sense that the natural order had been disrupted."²⁵⁷ The

²⁵² CPOST, American Face of Insurrection, 5.

²⁵³ Boorstein, "Capitol Attack Christian Revolt."; Edsall, "Capitol Insurrection Christian Nationalist."; Armaly, Buckley, and Enders, "Christian Nationalism Political Violence," 2.

²⁵⁴ CPOST, Deep, Divisive, Disturbing, 28-29.

²⁵⁵ Miller-Idriss, "From 9/II to I/6," 6I.

²⁵⁶ Parker and Barreto, *Change Can't Believe In*, 191.

²⁵⁷ Obama, A Promised Land, 672.

result, as Nicole Yadon and Spencer Piston explain, was that "Obama's rise to the presidency resulted not in the decline of prejudice but in its activation."²⁵⁸ The Tea Party movement, born near the beginning of Obama's first term, was significantly motivated by racial resentment,²⁵⁹ despite much protestation from members and sympathisers that racism had nothing to do with it.²⁶⁰

The most significant driver of threat perceptions, however, is not a single event but rather the long-noted trend of the changing demographics of America. This potential for this to contribute to the growth of a nativist and exclusivist conception of America was identified by Samuel Huntington in his 2004 book *Who Are We: The Challenges to America's National Identity*. In it, he hypothesizes that "the profound demographic changes occurring in America" could generate a reaction of "white nativism." For these people, "to keep America America, it is necessary keep America white." The nature of those demographic changes, and whites' reaction to them, are examined next.

Whiteness

The majority-minority thesis predicts that sometime in the middle of this century, in line with current trends and thanks to immigration and the aging of white population, the share of the American population that is white will fall below 50 percent.²⁶² At that point, society will become majority-minority—that is, the majority of the population will be minorities, or non-white.²⁶³ For many whites, the thought of this causes significant anxiety, and "congeals into a threatening vision about their place in America."²⁶⁴ CPOST's analysis suggest the 'real Americans' who were arrested for their role in January 6 acutely felt this change as a threat. Analysing the counties from which the arrested insurrectionists came from shows the more

²⁵⁸ Yadon and Piston, "Whites' Anti-Black Obama's Presidency."

²⁵⁹ Jardina, White Identity Politics, 230.

²⁶⁰ Parker and Barreto, Change Can't Believe In, 9.

²⁶¹ Huntington, Who Are We?, 310-12.

²⁶² Alba, Great Demographic Illusion, 1.

²⁶³ Craig, Rucker, and Richeson, "Racial and Political Dynamics," 205.

²⁶⁴ Myers and Levy, "Racial Population Projections."; Alba, Great Demographic Illusion, 2.

the white population in a county declined since 2015, the more likely that county was to have sent people to the capitol on January 6.²⁶⁵ For those who believe in the great replacement this population change is intentional, and they "argue that white European populations are being deliberately replaced at an ethnic and cultural level through migration and the growth of minority communities."²⁶⁶ Those charged as responsible for this purported replacement include progressive politicians, the media, globalists, and Jews.²⁶⁷

It is important to note that the perception of threat is what is relevant for the discussion that follows.²⁶⁸ As Samuel Huntington points out, it is only the perception of white loss, rather than any objective or material loss in reality, that is needed to generate hostility against the out-group.²⁶⁹ To say some whites feel threatened by the increasing diversity of America is not to endorse their interpretation of a changing America as necessarily threatening; many Americans do not find it threatening at all. Further to that point, Richard Alba argues the majority-minority thesis is analytically flawed to begin with, because it is based on census data that codes most mixed-race people as non-white, despite the more complex social reality where many mixed-race people are just as integrated into white communities as they are minority communities.²⁷⁰ This exaggerates the degree to which "white America" is changing. The subsequent framing of inevitable white decline therefore needlessly feeds into a narrative of an intensifying zero-sum game for influence and power between racial groups, which whites are projected to lose if something does not change.²⁷¹ Data from the 2020 census aligns with his thesis, as it shows the change in white population, both in absolute numbers and proportionally, depends on how "white" is defined.²⁷² That is not to deny the demographics of America are changing—they are—just that the story is not as straightforward as some interpretations of the demographic data would suggest.

²⁶⁵ CPOST, Deep, Divisive, Disturbing, 12.

²⁶⁶ Davey and Ebner, The 'Great Replacement', 7.

²⁶⁷ Davey and Ebner, The 'Great Replacement', 12.

²⁶⁸ Jardina, White Identity Politics, 140.

²⁶⁹ Huntington, Who Are We?, 314.

²⁷⁰ Alba, Great Demographic Illusion.

²⁷¹ Alba, *Great Demographic Illusion*, 2-8.

²⁷² Wang, "White Population Actually Changing."

The importance of narratives on the perception of threat has been demonstrated in research. ²⁷³ Hui Bai and Christopher Federico found evidence that whites' perception of absolute non-Hispanic white population decline (in contrast with relative decline) increased feelings of existential threat—the fear that the group will no longer physically exist—which led to greater inter-group bias and conservative politics. ²⁷⁴ Further studies from the authors also link this collective existential threat, driven by the perception of non-Hispanic white population decline, to support for extreme-right groups and actions. ²⁷⁵ However, the authors argue the fact they found no evidence of a direct link between white population decline and right-wing extremism means the latter is not an inevitable reaction given the former; avoiding framings that "imply conscious, conspiratorial, or aggressive efforts to change the composition of the population" may lower the perception of threat, which in turn can lower the support for right-wing extremism. ²⁷⁶

There is also research suggesting the perception of threat from demographic change changes not only with interpretive narratives but also with time. Kinder and Kam found in their analysis of data from 1992 that the relationship between ethnocentrism and opposition to immigration was stronger in places that had greater growth in the foreign-born population from 1980 to 1990, suggesting the rate of increase in the immigrant population is more important than their absolute numbers. Yauffman found similar results in the UK, where rapid increases in immigrant populations were associated with opposition to immigration in whites, but high levels of established immigrants reduced opposition to immigration—a finding Kaufmann attributes to the contact hypothesis, Yaufman that attitudes towards out-groups becomes more positive over time as contact and interaction with them increases. This comports with other data showing the places where immigrant

²⁷³ Myers and Levy, "Racial Population Projections."; Craig, Rucker, and Richeson, "Racial and Political Dynamics," 211.

²⁷⁴ Bai and Federico, "Collective Existential Threat".

²⁷⁵ Bai and Federico, "White Demographic Shifts.'

²⁷⁶ Bai and Federico, "White Demographic Shifts," 14.

²⁷⁷ Kinder and Kam, *Us Against Them*, 147-49.

²⁷⁸ Kaufmann, "Levels or Changes?."

²⁷⁹ Alba and Foner, "Immigration Geography of Polarization," 239.

populations are highest are also usually the places where native-majority sentiment towards them is most positive.²⁸⁰ Greater ethnic diversity within a country has also been linked with lower numbers of hate groups in that county.²⁸¹

There are two conceptual lenses related to whites' racial attitudes through which this perception of threat can be understood: white identity and racial resentment. In the context of whiteness, these correspond to in-group attitudes and out-group attitudes, respectively. Ashley Jardina argues positive in-group feelings and negative out-group feelings are not two sides of the same coin—they are related but also somewhat independent from one another. Thus, a person identifying as white (someone who says their racial identity as a white person is important to them) does not necessarily do so because they have negative attitudes to everyone who is non-white; their "in-group love" can be motivated more from a "desire to protect group members' status and privilege," rather than just dislike or animus towards the out-group. While she does find some correlations between her measures of white identity and racial resentment, anti-black stereotypes, negative evaluations of other minorities, and positive affect towards the KKK, the effects are all modest enough that she argues that white identity is not simply an alternative way of describing these other negative out-group feelings. As a strain of the protect group and the protect group and the protect group attitudes to get the protect group attitudes to get the protect group are the protect group attitudes to get the protect group attitudes and out-group atti

As the dominant racial group in the United States for most of its history, white racial identity has often not been salient for white Americans. Whites have been seen as the 'prototype' or 'default' American and their racial identity has therefore been taken for granted.²⁸⁵ Yet in the face of threats to their status—the prospect of a majority-minority country, and the election of Obama among them—Jardina argues white identity has become more salient for many Americans.²⁸⁶ "When these cherished privileges—ones that whites

²⁸⁰ Alba and Foner, "Immigration Geography of Polarization," 239.

²⁸¹ Goetz, Rupasingha, and Loveridge, "Social Capital, Religion, Wal-Mart," 390.

²⁸² Jardina, "In-Group Love Out-Group Hate," 5-6.

²⁸³ Jardina, White Identity Politics, 78.

²⁸⁴ Jardina, White Identity Politics, 78-81.

²⁸⁵ Devos and Banaji, "American = White?," 464.

²⁸⁶ Jardina, White Identity Politics, 37-43.

have to come to accept as almost natural—are challenged," she writes, "many whites react defensively, condemning and resisting changes to the racial status quo."²⁸⁷ Threats that go beyond status also have in impact on the salience and importance of in-group identity. Wohl, Branscombe, and Reysen examined the effects collective existential threat (also known as extinction threat) on in-group feelings, and found it caused angst about the in-group's future, which led to increased support for behaviours that strengthened the in-group, such as wanting to send their child to in-group schools, wanting to marry someone from the same ingroup, and insulating their in-group traditions from other cultures'.²⁸⁸ White identity has also been linked with positive affect for far right groups, supportive attitudes toward extreme policies (for example, the Muslim ban and border separation of children), and extreme behavioural intentions towards undocumented immigrants.²⁸⁹

White identity may be part of the importance of whiteness, but it is not the whole story—out-group attitudes of whites are just as important. CPOST's survey suggests racial resentment is a more significant driver of belief in the great replacement among those with insurrectionist sentiment than is "the importance of Whiteness to identity."²⁹⁰ This is the reason why framing the "normals" as purely a phenomenon of white identity politics is too narrow a frame for understanding their motivations. Whiteness is central, to be sure, but not always because being white is explicitly important to individual's identities. Negative feelings towards out-groups, or racial resentment, can have semi-independent and just as important effects.²⁹¹ Jardina, for instance, finds racial out-group attitudes and American identity, alongside white identity, are roughly coequal with each other in explaining more exclusionary opinions on what it means to be a "true" American.²⁹²

Among other things, the understanding 'true' or 'real' Americans have of what racism is at least part of why they see the changing demographics of America—which is objectively

²⁸⁷ Jardina, White Identity Politics, 22.

²⁸⁸ Wohl, Branscombe, and Reysen, "Perceiving Group's Future Jeopardy."

²⁸⁹ Bai, "Whites' Racial Identity Centrality."

²⁹⁰ CPOST, Deep, Divisive, Disturbing, 30.

²⁹¹ Jardina, "In-Group Love Out-Group Hate."

²⁹² Jardina, White Identity Politics.

occurring—as happening intentionally. Many whites believe they face more racial discrimination than other racial groups.²⁹³ This perception has grown among whites in tandem with decreasing perceptions of anti-black racism, ²⁹⁴ This, I contend, comes in part from their understanding of what racism is. Many on the right frequently point to the line in Martin Luther King's "I Have a Dream" speech—where he expresses his desire that one day American society will judge his children by the content of their character, not the colour of their skin—as informing their understanding of what racism is²⁹⁵ To be racist, in their mind, is to judge someone by their skin colour. There are two ways, however, in which the word racist is used in modern society. One refers to discriminatory attitudes and behaviours that might be thought of as classic racism. An example of this is Eatwell and Goodwin's definition of racism as "the erroneous and dangerous belief that the world is divided into hierarchically ordered races."296 The other says racism is anything that contributes intentionally or not to racial inequality, perhaps most popularly forward by Ibram X. Kendi in his bestselling How to Be an Antiracist. Kendi argues "racism" needs to return to its "proper usage," which is as a descriptive term that identifies structural racial inequalities, or, in his words, "[r]acism is a marriage of racist policies and racist ideas that produces and normalizes racial inequities."297 Racist policies, as Kendi defines them, are policies that sustain inequities. He gives the example of differing rates of home ownership between different racial groups. To say this inequality is racist is only to say that there exists an inequality between the two on the basis of race and that "written and unwritten laws, rules, procedures, processes, regulations, and guidelines" have created it—it is not necessarily to say this inequality exists on the basis of discrimination from racist (in the first sense) attitudes.²⁹⁸ Racist ideas are those which attribute racial inequalities to something inherent in the racial groups themselves, rather than the structural conditions, or in Kendi's parlance, racist policies.²⁹⁹ On Kendi's definition

²⁹³ Jardina, White Identity Politics, 144-46.

²⁹⁴ Norton and Sommers, "Whites See Racism Zero-Sum."

²⁹⁵ Sokol, The Heavens Might Crack, 260.

²⁹⁶ Eatwell and Goodwin, *National Populism*, 74-75.

²⁹⁷ Kendi, *How to Be Antiracist*, 17-18.

²⁹⁸ Kendi, How to Be Antiracist, 17-20.

²⁹⁹ Kendi, How to Be Antiracist, 20.

of racism, racial discrimination is not necessarily racist—it depends on whether that discrimination creates equity or inequity.³⁰⁰

Those who understand racism only in the first sense see all discrimination as racist—even those designed to redress racial inequalities. This "colour-blind" approach can therefore function to preserve the racial inequalities and the privileges of whites in society, even without whites being explicitly racist in the first sense of the word.³⁰¹ Proponents of this view typically see racial inequalities as somehow the fault of the racial groups themselves—a notion that has been linked with support for Trump.³⁰² Because they perceive anti-white racism to be rampant, calls to dismantle white supremacy—in this context meaning "broad systems of inequality that insure racial disparity of health, income, life, and freedom"³⁰³—are taken to be anti-white rather than pro-equity.³⁰⁴

The line between this understanding of racism, perceptions of anti-white discrimination, and existential threat can be seen clearly in the rhetoric of those of the "alt-right." For example, Gregory Hood writes in his contribution to *A Fair Hearing: The Alt-Right in the Words of its Members and Leaders*, that "ordinary white people, even those who revere Martin Luther King Jr., are often surprised or outraged to find themselves referred to as racists or 'Nazis.'"³⁰⁵ People who ostensibly revere King—or at least colour-blind caricature of him³⁰⁶—cannot be racist in Hood's view, and those who lodge such accusations must therefore do so in service of a bad faith effort to paint whites as evil. "Deconstructing a group's identity as entirely negative" he writes, "is a precursor to politically, economically, and physically destroying that group."³⁰⁷

Related views about the great replacement have been heard in mainstream circles for some time. Perhaps most notably was Ann Coulter's 2015 bestselling book, *Adios America*, in

³⁰⁰ Kendi, How to Be Antiracist, 19.

³⁰¹ Bonilla-Silva, Racism without Racists.; DiTomaso, Parks-Yancy, and Post, "White Views Civil Rights."

³⁰² Sides, Tesler, and Vavreck, *Identity Crisis*, 169-72.

³⁰³ Belew et al., "Thoughts Associated Press Stylebook" xi-xii.

³⁰⁴ Kendi, "Mantra of White Supremacy."

³⁰⁵ Hood, "The New Kulaks," 9.

³⁰⁶ Berry, "Vindicating King," 143.

³⁰⁷ Hood, "The New Kulaks," 9.

which she espouses an explicitly ethnonationalist conception of America, and advances narratives of existential threat from immigration:

The American electorate isn't moving to the left—it's shrinking. Democrats figured out they'd never win with Americans, so they implemented an evil, genius plan to change this country by restocking it with voters more favorably disposed to left-wing policies than Americans ever would be.³⁰⁸

Such ideas have not just been floated in public discourse, never to be heard again. According to CPOST's survey data of those who believe both that the use of force is justified to return Trump to the White House and that Joe Biden is an illegitimate president because the 2020 election was stolen, 54 percent also said they believe in the narrative outlined by Coulter above.³⁰⁹ This is another example of the increasing overlap between the mainstream and extreme, and the difficulty in finding clear borders between, as I argued exists in chapter one. Coulter's and 'real Americans' politics share a lot with people like Hood. The social identity and social movement perspective, however, can consider them both as connected and part of a greater whole, without necessarily needing to declare whether Coulter is or is not an extremist (though there is certainly an argument she should be).

Christian Nationalism

A leading scholar of Christian nationalism, Samuel Perry, told the New York Times that "[t]he Capitol insurrection was as Christian nationalist as it gets."³¹⁰ Perry and his co-author Andrew Whitehead define Christian nationalism as "a cultural framework—a collection of myths, traditions, symbols, narratives, and value systems—that idealizes and advocates a fusion of Christianity with American civic life."³¹¹ The concept is therefore broader than just

³⁰⁹ CPOST, Deep, Divisive, Disturbing, 28.

³⁰⁸ Coulter, Adios, America, 19.

³¹⁰ Edsall, "Capitol Insurrection Christian Nationalist."

³¹¹ Whitehead and Perry, Taking America Back God, 10.

evangelicalism and "it includes assumptions of nativism, white supremacy, patriarchy, and heteronormativity, along with divine sanction for authoritarian control and militarism. It is as ethnic and political as it is religious."³¹² For 'real Americans,' whiteness and Christianity are inextricably tied together.³¹³

Christian nationalism has been linked with support for Trump. Research from Baker, Perry, and Whitehead examining Trump support in the 2020 election found Christian Nationalism still had independent explanatory value as previous research on Trump support in 2016 showed,³¹⁴ but in 2020 it was more strongly mediated through concerns about immigrants and Muslims. This shows that Christian Nationalism, the authors explain, is "strongly tethered to antipathy toward people perceived as ethnoracial outsiders," and though some methodological changes since their prior research may account for the stronger relationship between the two, they also hypothesize it could also "be due to an increasing cultural and ideological affinity between Christian nationalism and xenophobia in the Trump era."³¹⁵

This interactive effect of Christian nationalism with other factors was also found in research looking at Christian nationalism's relationship to support for January 6 and political violence in general. Miles Armaly, David Buckley, and Adam Enders found that although Christian nationalism was correlated with seeing the events of January 6 as legitimate, this effect was mediated by white identity, a sense of victimhood, and conspiratorial information.³¹⁶ Other research has found the interaction of whiteness and Christian nationalism to be correlated with the denial of racial injustice against blacks and a greater perception of anti-white discrimination.³¹⁷

³¹² Whitehead and Perry, Taking America Back God, 10.

³¹³ Perry et al., "Divided by Faith," 2.

³¹⁴ Whitehead, Perry, and Baker, "Make America Christian Again."

³¹⁵ Baker, Perry, and Whitehead, "Keep America Christian," 288-89.

³¹⁶ Armaly, Buckley, and Enders, "Christian Nationalism Political Violence."

³¹⁷ Perry et al., "Divided by Faith."

Polarisation

For some Americans, the Democratic Party is at the centre of both the great replacement and QAnon conspiracy theories.³¹⁸ To understand how some Americans came to see them as a hostile, evil, and perhaps even subhuman opposition that hates America, we need to examine political polarisation.

The term polarisation, however, is somewhat misleading; it implies two poles moving away from each other in symmetrical fashion. Yet as Jacob Hacker and Paul Pierson argue, "[f]ar too many discussions of polarization are based on a flawed [diagnosis]: that polarization is broadly similar in degree and kind at both ends of the political spectrum."³¹⁹ This diagnosis is flawed, they argue, because polarisation is mostly a result of Republicans moving dramatically rightward—a view shared by many others.³²⁰ For this reason, the term asymmetric polarisation is a more accurate way of describing the phenomenon.

Asymmetric polarisation in Congress has been increasing ever since the 1970s.³²¹ The United States' two main political parties both used to be big ideological tents, housing both conservatives and liberals, but this began to change in the 1960s. While the 1964 Republican presidential candidate, Barry Goldwater, lost the national election, he won four southern states—including Georgia for the first time in history.³²² Prior to this, the south had been solid Democratic territory. But the passage of the Civil Rights Act in 1964 began the split between conservative southern Democrats or "Dixiecrats" and the Democratic Party. Though the Democratic Administration and president Lyndon Johnson, it was the Dixiecrat faction of

³¹⁸ Coulter, *Adios, America*, 19.; NCRI. and PERIL., *The QAnon Conspiracy*, 8.; Kydd, "Decline, Radicalization Attack Capitol," 14.

³¹⁹ Hacker and Pierson, "Confronting Asymmetric Polarization," 59.

³²⁰ Hacker and Pierson, "Confronting Asymmetric Polarization," 59.; Zimmer, "Writing (Pre-)History

[&]quot;Polarized" Present," 405-06.; Mann and Ornstein, *Even Worse Than Looks*, XXIV.; Barber and McCarty, "Causes Consequences Polarization," 17-18.; Klein, *Why We're Polarized*, 228-29.; Levitsky and Ziblatt, *How Democracies Die*, 223.; Hare and Poole, "Polarization Contemporary American Politics," 417.; Lewandowsky,

Ecker, and Cook, "Beyond Misinformation," 358.

321 Barber and McCarty, "Causes Consequences Polarization," 17.

³²² Mann and Ornstein, Even Worse Than Looks, 47.

the Democratic party who filibustered the bill. The legislation was eventually passed with support from vast majorities of Republicans in the House and Senate, but at the cost, for the Democrats, of their alliance with white southern conservatives.³²³

Where Goldwater's appeal was limited to the more extreme members of the south desiring to protect their status and the racial hierarchy, the eventual winner of the 1968 election, Richard Nixon, pursued a decidedly more moderate strategy, utilising coded language to avoid the negative trappings of openly racist language while successfully signalling to southern whites he would look out for their interests.³²⁴

In the years since, the Democratic party has been forced to become a coalition party that appealed to many different groups in order to win elections, whereas the Republican party has been able to instead speak directly to its base—conservative, Christian whites.³²⁵ This is not to say that it is only the shift of those southern conservatives that explains the increasing extremity of the Republican party. As Barber and McCarthy point out, all conservatives in the Republican party, not just those from southern districts, have followed the trajectory of increasing conservativism.³²⁶ One of the most dramatic rightward shifts in recent decades was the Tea Party movement. The movement's supporters, leaders, and politicians labelled as RINOs—Republican in name only—those in the Republican Party who did not share their vision for pushing the party further to the right.³²⁷

Demographic realignment was not the only factor purported to have intensified asymmetric polarisation. Increasing numbers of safely partisan districts, as Hacker and Pierson argue, mean many elections (especially for Republicans) are in practice intra-party competitions. Without the need to think about an eventual tack to the centre in the general election, the risk in these races is that another challenger can always run to your right, so the

³²³ Klein, Why We're Polarized, 28-30.

³²⁴ Maxwell and Shields, *The Long Southern Strategy*, 5-6.

³²⁵ Klein, Why We're Polarized, 230-33.

³²⁶ Barber and McCarty, "Causes Consequences Polarization," 27.

³²⁷ Mulloy, Enemies of the State, 160.

incentive is to play to the base.³²⁸ The result is congressional representatives tend to be more ideologically extreme than they otherwise would be in a more competitive district.

The polarisation discussed so far refers to ideological polarisation of representatives in congress and other party elites. While evidence supports the idea that partisan sorting has occurred—in other words, liberals are much more likely to be Democrats and conservatives more likely to be Republicans—it does not appear to support the idea that the American public have gone to the extremes in their policy preferences.³²⁹ Even so, the bases of both parties tend to dislike and distrust each other much more than they once did—a phenomenon known as affective polarisation.³³⁰ Some authors argue this is because polarisation among the population is better interpreted as a phenomenon of identity than it is ideology, pointing to evidence showing weak association between policy preferences and partisan affect.³³¹

There is some evidence, however, that perceptions of the differences between members of the parties are greater than they are in reality. Douglas Ahler and Gaurav Sood argue partisanship is theorised to result from the social groups that are associated with the parties, and that when people think about parties, they do so with a prototype in mind. Thinking about a Republican, for example, might bring to mind a white, rich, southern, or evangelical character, or a Democrat as non-white, working-class, or gay. The tendency to see these prototypes as representative of the group, however, means people will overestimate the prevalence of those stereotypical groups within the parties.³³² Their data showed this to be true for both people judging their own party and judging the other party, though in the latter they were further off-base. They also found the degree of misperception was correlated with interest in political news.³³³ The consequences of this misperception are that those who were most wrong about the makeup of the other party—judging the percentage of Democrats who

³²⁸ Hacker and Pierson, Off Center, 123.

³²⁹ Barber and McCarty, "Causes Consequences Polarization," 21-25.

³³⁰ Iyengar et al., "Origins Consequences Affective Polarisation," 130.

³³¹ Iyengar, Sood, and Lelkes, "Affect, Not Ideology," 421-24.

³³² Ahler and Sood, "Parties in Our Heads," 965.

³³³ Ahler and Sood, "Parties in Our Heads," 966-69.

are black, atheists, or union members, for example—judged the parties to be more ideologically sorted, and thus feel more socially distant from them.³³⁴ Other research shows Democrats and Republican also overestimate how much the other party distrusts and dehumanises them, enhancing each sides' desire for social distance from members of the other party.³³⁵ Erin Cassese finds partisans who dehumanise the other side also tend to desire greater social distance from them, as well as see them as more morally distant.³³⁶ The desire for greater social distance is often followed through on. Ross Butters and Christopher Hare find evidence that Americans' mostly discuss politics only with other people who agree with them, and they hypothesise these networks have become increasingly homogenous in recent decades.³³⁷ Both Democrats and Republicans increasingly say they would not want their children to marry a member of the opposition party,³³⁸ though some data suggests greater proportions of Republicans have this concern.³³⁹ Even if the reality is that polarisation is not as extreme as Americans believe it to be, their perception of it is much more closely correlated with how they act and feel towards members of the other side.³⁴⁰ This hostility has grown so much that it has led to negative partisanship—a phenomenon where "large proportions of Democrats and Republicans now dislike the opposing party and its leaders more than they like their own party and its leaders."341

How polarisation relates to the "real American" identity at the centre of my explanation of the "normals" who participated in January 6 is complex. Given the rioters were Trump supporters, and Trump is a Republican, it is true to say on some level they were Republicans too. But Trump's base is not identical to the broader Republican base. McVeigh and Estep point out that while support for Trump in the general election of 2016 is strongly correlated

³³⁴ Ahler and Sood, "Parties in Our Heads," 973.

³³⁵ Moore-Berg et al., "Exaggerated Meta-perceptions".

³³⁶ Cassese, "Partisan Dehumanization American Politics."

³³⁷ Butters and Hare, "Polarized Networks?."

³³⁸ Vavreck, "Measure of Identity."

³³⁹ Iyengar, Sood, and Lelkes, "Affect, Not Ideology," 417-18.

³⁴⁰ Enders and Armaly, "Effects Actual Perceived Polarization."

³⁴¹ Abramowitz and McCoy, "Negative Partisanship Trump's America," 146.

with support for Mitt Romney in the 2012 election—showing that Republican partisans got behind Trump in the general—the correlation between Trump's 2016 primary vote share and his 2016 general election vote share is practically non-existent.³⁴² However, support for Trump in a national election is likely to be most strongly explained by partisanship, given that the choice for president is a binary decision, and negative partisanship is strong, and this is what many studies find.³⁴³ Partisanship, however, is not the entirety of the explanation, with many other studies pointing to factors such as racial resentment, xenophobia, support for white nationalism and/or Christian nationalism, as having significant predictive value.³⁴⁴

Some argue Trump's base of support is unique among Republicans in the degree to which it is animated by out-group animus. Lilliana Mason, Julie Wronski, and John Kane agree with Ahler and Sood that evaluations of the parties are determined in part by individuals' feelings towards party-aligned groups, and that positive in-group and negative out-group feelings can therefore contribute to support for political candidates and parties. They find that animus towards Democratically-aligned groups, such as African-Americans, Hispanics, Muslims, Gays and Lesbians, predicted support for Trump in the 2016 election, but did not predict support for other Republicans.³⁴⁵ Interestingly, their measure of animus was taken from 2011, supporting the idea that Trump did not create his movement through his rhetoric but instead managed to capture a pre-existing constituency.³⁴⁶ This is suggestive, then, of Trump's most ardent supporters seeing themselves defined less by themselves as Republicans and more as anti-Democrats and the groups they represent.

When we look to those who support the events of January 6, we see partisanship explains relatively little, at least directly. CPOST's survey data shows partisanship is far from the most important factor in explaining what they call "insurrectionist sentiment," where belief in the great replacement alone accounts for 48% of the variance. Adding Qanon gets to 56%, and

³⁴² McVeigh and Estep, Politics of Losing, 121.

³⁴³ Mutz, "Status Threat Not Hardship," E4333.; Jardina, White Identity Politics, 235-45.

³⁴⁴ Graham et al., "Who Wears MAGA Hat?."; Buyuker et al., "Race Politics American Presidency."

³⁴⁵ Mason, Wronski, and Kane, "Activating Animus."

³⁴⁶ Mason, Wronski, and Kane, "Activating Animus," 1515-16.

then further adding a host of other factors, one of which is partisanship, gets the model to explain 64% of the variance.³⁴⁷ Partisan identity does, however, account for around 10 percent of the variance in belief in the great replacement, second in influence to racial resentment which explains 38%.³⁴⁸ It would therefore be misleading to say 'real Americans' are simply those who identify as Republicans. The literature on polarisation suggests, however, that affective polarisation and negative partisanship may have made it easier for those who believe in the great replacement that Democrats are responsible for it, as half of those with insurrectionist sentiment do.³⁴⁹

Among the spaces where such conspiracy theories are spread is right-wing partisan media. Research has shown consumption of such media increases affective polarisation. Research has shown consumption of such media increases affective polarisation. Relly Garrett, Jacob Long, and Min Seon Jeong link this increased affective polarisation from partisan media to increased misperceptions about the other side. They found use of conservative media increased affective polarisation for Republicans, which in turn increased misperceptions about Obama and misperceptions that Trump had been cleared of collusion with Russia (the data was from a 2016 survey, before any official investigations). A similar effect was not found for Democrats and liberal media, and misperceptions about Republicans. Though the authors do not speculate why this is so,352 others argue that the right-wing media landscape is more extremely polarised, in a way that liberal or left-wing media is not.353 Yochai Benkler, Robert Faris, and Hal Roberts argue the media ecosystem of "the radicalized right" plays "the central role" in "the current crisis of disinformation and misinformation. Table Examining how this media eco-system contributes to 'real Americans' perception of threat is the task of the next section.

³⁴⁷ CPOST, Deep, Divisive, Disturbing, 29.

³⁴⁸ CPOST, Deep, Divisive, Disturbing, 30.

³⁴⁹ CPOST, Deep, Divisive, Disturbing, 27-28.

³⁵⁰ Levendusky, "Partisan Media Exposure."

³⁵¹ Garrett, Long, and Jeong, "Partisan Media to Misperception."

³⁵² Garrett, Long, and Jeong, "Partisan Media to Misperception," 505.

³⁵³ Zimmer, "Writing (Pre-)History "Polarized" Present," 406.

³⁵⁴ Benkler, Faris, and Roberts, Network Propaganda, 15.

The media landscape

Data from CPOST suggest greater proportions of those supportive of the insurrection consume conservative media such as Fox News, Newsmax, and OAN, and use alternative social media such as Gab, Parler, and Telegram than do people in the general population.³⁵⁵ Despite this, regular social media, such as Facebook, Youtube, and Twitter are still cited by twice as many as a major source of news, suggesting alt-social media,³⁵⁶ at least for news, is not the primary vector for mobilising and threatening narratives for 'real Americans'—right-wing conservative media seems to play a greater role.

This is not altogether surprising, as conservative media has been responsible for spreading many of the ideas that contribute to the sense of threat 'real Americans' feel. While white genocide and replacement theory has been a persistent staple of far-right discourse, Miller-Idriss argues, it is only recently it has migrated into the mainstream, in part thanks to elites who "use the language of replacement, invasion, infestation, and a flood of illegals." These elites rely on conservative media to spread their message, who in doing so can also elevate the sense of threat by contributing to dehumanising narratives about immigrants. The term 'invasion' in particular has been employed extensively by Fox and the Trump campaign to refer to immigrants and the southern border.

The frame of the great replacement has also been deployed frequently on Fox News.³⁶⁰

Tucker Carlson in particular has pushed narratives of white replacement and rampant antiwhite discrimination many times on his highly rated show.³⁶¹ In a September 2021

³⁵⁵ CPOST, Deep, Divisive, Disturbing, 36.

³⁵⁶ CPOST, Deep, Divisive, Disturbing, 36.

³⁵⁷ Miller-Idriss, Hate in the Homeland, 53.

³⁵⁸ Esses, Medianu, and Lawson, "Role Media Promoting Dehumanization," 531.

³⁵⁹ Zimmer, "Trump's 'Invasion' Rhetoric."; Kaplan, "Trump Campaign Facebook 'Invasion'."; Stelter, *Hoax*, 216-18.

³⁶⁰ Stelter, Hoax, 211.; Alba, Great Demographic Illusion, 44.

³⁶¹ Fox News, "Tucker: Import Voter."; Fox News, "Tucker: Death of future."

broadcast, he accused President Biden of using the language of eugenics when describing the majority-minority thesis, and described it as part of a policy called "the great replacement—the replacement of legacy Americans with more obedient people from far away countries." This kind of rhetoric on Fox News, however, is not unique to the Trump era. Former host Bill O'Reilly claimed several times there was a secret agenda to change the demographics of America, and that this was the goal of "lefty zealots." 363

There is debate about the direction of causation between increasing partisanship and partisan media consumption—after all, strong partisans are more likely to be drawn to strongly partisan media in the first place.³⁶⁴ Partisan media, in other words, "may be the result of polarization and not the cause."365 On the other hand, evidence does seem to show watching partisan media increases negative affect towards the other side.³⁶⁶ These arguments are not necessarily incommensurable; it could be argued that though partisans are the ones most attracted to partisan media, their subsequent viewing of it solidifies and strengthens their views and identities.³⁶⁷ On this view, 'real Americans' are drawn to such media because it aligns with their understanding of the world and it can therefore be trusted, but in doing so also reinforces and furthers that understanding of the world. To an extent, this trust-based mechanism of media choice is how all people decide what media is reporting the facts as they are. As Phillip Sergeant points out, bar what we get from direct experience, all our knowledge is mediated; our information about the world has been "processed and packaged" by someone (for example, a journalist or scientist) or something else (a media organisation or a government body). Whether we accept that mediated information as truth is in large part based on trust. Society decides the standards for fair mediation, "[b]ut of course, the dividing line between fair and unfair—between having a particular perspective on

³⁶² Fox News, "Tucker: Why would Biden."

³⁶³ Kalven, "O'Reilly Claimed "Hidden Agenda"."; Neiwart, Alt-America, 80.

³⁶⁴ Iyengar et al., "Origins Consequences Affective Polarisation," 135.

³⁶⁵ Barber and McCarty, "Causes Consequences Polarization," 35.

³⁶⁶ Levendusky, "Partisan Media Exposure."

³⁶⁷ Finkel et al., "Political Sectarianism in America," 534.

the news (which is an inevitable part of the mediation process) and having an explicit bias—is neither clear-cut nor self-evident."368 Where that line is may often depend on our social identity, but for those who see themselves as part of a threatened social group, it may be even more so. In Sageman's model of the turn to political violence, he argues a key phase of this process is when a politicised social identity becomes a "discursive protest community," where group members discuss, share ideas, and begin to more clearly articulate the frames that define their movement.³⁶⁹ In time, "[m]embers of a protest community come to view political events from the group's point of view. News is rarely perceived objectively, but is interpreted through the prism of one's social identity and acquires different meanings for different groups."³⁷⁰ 'Real Americans,' in other words, view the world through the lens of seeing the white, Christian country they grew up in changing all around them. As such, they want to watch media that sees the world the same way as they do, or in the parlance of collective action frames, they are only going to trust media with which their frames are in alignment. For many 'real Americans,' mainstream media fails this task.

Trump's repeated insistence that the "fake news media" was the "enemy of the people"³⁷¹ further enhanced the frame that any media source that reported against 'real American's' preferred narrative was spreading false information and doing so knowingly. Daniel Kreiss argues Trump's ability to escape journalistic fact checks and lie about reality with little electoral penalty³⁷² shows "significant numbers of the public see journalism as lacking the legitimacy to produce objective truth."³⁷³ "While journalists (and many journalism scholars) cling to the assumption that there is one shared civic epistemology that underlays public debate," he writes, "an extensive body of evidence suggests otherwise."³⁷⁴ The implication of Kreiss's argument is that continued belief in falsehoods is not simply a matter of people being misinformed with the wrong facts—a malady that could be cured with giving them the

³⁶⁸ Sergeant, Art of Political Storytelling, 162-63.

³⁶⁹ Sageman, Turning to Political Violence, 18-19.

³⁷⁰ Sageman, Turning to Political Violence, 20.

³⁷¹ Davis, "'Enemy of the People'."

³⁷² Swire et al., "Processing Political Misinformation."; Nyhan et al., "Fact-Checks Literally Not Seriously?."

³⁷³ Kreiss, "Fragmenting of Civl Sphere," 452.

³⁷⁴ Kreiss, "Fragmenting of Civl Sphere," 452.

right facts—but instead a result of different epistemologies formed in concert with different social and political identities.³⁷⁵ In arguing for a similar diagnosis of the problem,

Lewandowsky, Ecker, and Cook note that "alternative epistemological communit[ies are] not easily punctured by empirical evidence or corrections issued by 'elitist' media or politicians."³⁷⁶ This means, as Kelly Garrett, Brian Weeks, and Rachel Neo found, that people can still believe falsehoods in line with their views even when they "know that their beliefs are inconsistent with claims made by journalists, fact checkers, scientists, etc."³⁷⁷

One explanation for the ability to seeming proliferation of belief in actual fake news—that is, false or misleading news stories such as the idea that the 2020 election was stolen—is motivated reasoning. However, evidence for what role this plays is conflicted. Dan Kahan found evidence the people who were best at analytic thinking were most likely to engage in motivated reasoning. Take Kahan and his co-authors theorised in another paper this was due to "identity-protective cognition," the idea that people with superior reasoning skills would use them to justify beliefs that protect their identity, rather than for assessing their truth or falsehood. The seement by Freddie Jennings found that "people do not just use motivated reasoning to defend opinions, they construct opinions to defend their social identity. Their research has found conflicting evidence. In their pithily titled paper "Lazy, not Biased," Gordon Pennycook and David Rand find those who engage in analytic thinking are less likely to believe fake news is true, and therefore argue those who believe fake news to be true are not displaying sophisticated mental gymnastics and motivated reasoning acuity but instead simply not being reflective thinkers. Further research found that active deliberation in judging of the accuracy of news headlines increased belief in true headlines

³⁷⁵ Kreiss, "Fragmenting of Civl Sphere," 455-56.

³⁷⁶ Lewandowsky, Ecker, and Cook, "Beyond Misinformation," 357.

³⁷⁷ Garrett, Weeks, and Neo, "Wedge Between Evidence Beliefs," 341.

³⁷⁸ Kahan, "Ideology, Motivated Reasoning, Reflection."

³⁷⁹ Kahan et al., "Motivated Numeracy Enlightened Self-Government."

³⁸⁰ Jennings, "Uninformed Electorate," 542.

³⁸¹ Pennycook and Rand, "Lazy, Not Biased."

and decreased it for false headlines, even when the headlines aligned with partisan beliefs—a result that does not support the motivated reasoning account.³⁸²

Whatever the cause, the change in what is seen as objective truth in news can be understood as part of a broader change in what Michel Foucault would call society's "regime of truth":

Each society has its regime of truth, its 'general politics' of truth: that is, the types of discourse which it accepts and makes function as true; the mechanisms and instances which enable one to distinguish true and false statements, the means by which each is sanctioned; the techniques and procedures accorded value in the acquisition of truth; the status of those who are charged with saying what counts as true.³⁸³

This does not have to be read as relativizing all forms of knowledge, but merely as acknowledging that the production, dissemination, and acquisition of knowledge are social processes. Those processes can be better or worse at aligning with truth in an objective sense.

Foucault argued these regimes of truth in western societies are characterized by five traits, one of which in particular seems to have changed since the '70s when he wrote these words: "[Truth] is produced and transmitted under the control, dominant if not exclusive, of a few great political and economic apparatuses (university, army, writing, media)."384 The rise of the internet and social media has meant traditional gatekeepers on knowledge are certainly no longer the exclusive controllers of truth, even if they are arguably still dominant.

For many early observers, the internet was viewed as an unbridled good for democracy. It would provide near-free access to information and the ability for open communication and deliberation to occur.³⁸⁵ With no more gatekeepers, previously marginalized voices would

³⁸⁴ Foucault, *Power/Knowlege*, 131-32.

³⁸² Bago, Rand, and Pennycook, "Fake News, Fast Slow."

³⁸³ Foucault, Power/Knowlege, 131.

³⁸⁵ Bail, Breaking Social Media Prism, 45.; Bor and Petersen, "Psychology Online Political Hostility," I.

have equal access to the digital public square.³⁸⁶ Such idealised visions are less heartily defended today.

There are what might be called two schools of thought about effects of social media on radicalisation: the quantitative and the qualitative. The quantitative view suggests that there is nothing new about the way social media and the internet interacts with extreme social movements. All it does is amplify already existing mechanisms and pathways; like other communications technologies that have come before, it can reduce the communicative frictions between members of a "discursive community," 387 and it "provides a cheap and efficient way to communicate, network and organize meetings or make other arrangements, which in turn leads to a better integration of each member into the movement."388 The qualitative view, on the other hand, argues that the structure of social networks is fundamentally different and therefore the effects it can produce in its users are unique to those platforms. YouTube's recommendations system and social-network structure, for example, has been argued to lead people down rabbit holes of conspiracy theories and increasingly extreme right-wing content.389 Manoel Horta Ribeiro and colleagues found evidence that those in their study who were currently watching extreme alt-right content had in the past watched "alt-lite" and "intellectual dark web" content, and that they were able to find pathways through YouTube's recommendations from the latter to the former.³⁹⁰

This idea that the structure of the platform influences how its users relate with media would appear to be supported by research that shows the diversity of media sources individuals encounter and the partisan or ideological orientation of those sources is associated with different platforms in different ways— Facebook use, for example, was associated with a greater consumptions of diverse news sources (though not as much as Reddit use) as well as greater shifts towards partisan media sources (most notably for

_

³⁸⁶ Sergeant, Art of Political Storytelling, 161.

³⁸⁷ Sageman, Turning to Political Violence, 18-20.

³⁸⁸ Koehler, "Radical Online," 118.

³⁸⁹ Lewis, Alternative Influence.; Roose, "Making a YouTube Radical."

³⁹⁰ Ribeiro et al., "Auditing Radicalization Pathways YouTube."

conservatives), whereas Reddit use was associated with more moderate sources.³⁹¹ Some social media companies would appear to buy-in to this second view too. Internal documents from Facebook show in-house researchers argued in 2019 that the core mechanics of the Facebook itself—"virality, recommendations, and optimizing for engagement"—were a significant reason for the spread of misinformation and hate speech on the platform.³⁹² This fact, they argued, meant Facebook could not do nothing and consider itself a neutral platform, as its algorithms would in effect be amplifying harmful content.³⁹³

One reasonably clear effect the internet and social media appears to have had on 'real Americans' is in stoking their belief in conspiracy theories, particularly related to QAnon. What began in 2017 on an obscure 4chan forum³⁹⁴ eventually made its way onto mainstream social media, where it was able to be recommended to people who otherwise would never have come across it. In July of 2019, an internal Facebook researcher set up a fake account for a "conservative Mom" named Carol Smith. Within a week, the account's feed was being recommended QAnon groups, and by three weeks it was full of "misleading, polarizing and low-quality content." How conspiracy theories fit into the threat narrative for 'real Americans' is the subject of the next section.

Conspiracy theories

Belief in conspiracy theories is not rare among Americans.³⁹⁶ It is also true to say conspiracies in politics and world events also sometimes exist,³⁹⁷ the Watergate scandal being perhaps the most uncontroversial example. However, the open embrace of conspiracy theories by political leaders in the past often saw them dismissed as cranks. Among the reasons for conspiracism's growing influence, Michael Barkun argues, is the fact conspiracy

-

³⁹¹ Kitchens, Johnson, and Gray, "Understanding Echo Chambers," 1635-38.

³⁹² Isaac, "Facebook Wrestles With Features."

³⁹³ Isaac, "Facebook Wrestles With Features."

³⁹⁴ NCRI. and PERIL., The QAnon Conspiracy, 6.

³⁹⁵ Mac and Frenkel, "Facebook's Employees Election Role."

³⁹⁶ Oliver and Wood, "Conspiracy Theories Mass Opinion."

³⁹⁷ Andersen, Fantasyland, 88.; Lipset and Raab, Politics of Unreason, 14.

theories—birther theories about Obama being the first to do so—have now been able to enter the mainstream of political discourse without entirely discrediting and marginalising those who peddle them.³⁹⁸

The conspiracy theories at the heart of January 6—the great replacement, QAnon, and the big lie (the name given to Trump's claim the 2020 was stolen from him³⁹⁹)—all have a distinctly populist shape to them. 400 Central to the notion of populism is the split in society between "the pure people" and "the corrupt elite." 401 At their core, all three of these conspiracy theories blame some nefarious elite—be it Democrats, the deep state, or economically powerful Jews—for the crimes the theories believe are happening. The other reason these theories should be considered populist theories is that Donald Trump, a man seen as playing a central role in fighting against those elites responsible, is seen as a representative of "the pure people," or in other words, an authentic populist leader. As such, Trump was believed to have the best interests of "the pure people" at heart, and would do anything to stop the atrocities those conspiracies insisted were occurring. "Populist leaders build groups of loyal followers who are willing to do whatever they are asked," Lane Crothers and Grace Burgener argue, "because they are under the impression that their leader is doing the same for them."402 How Trump—a famous and wealthy businessman from New York could be seen as an authentic populist leader might on first glance seem puzzling. Yet as Mudde and Kaltwasser note, in the populist mind the line between the people and the elite is drawn on moral, not socioeconomic grounds.⁴⁰³ Trump was therefore able to frame himself as a political outsider. His willingness to take on political correctness signalled to his followers that he was authentic and that he was not part of the establishment. 404

Berger argues conspiracy narratives of this kind paint the out-group as extraordinarily powerful but illegitimate, and the in-group as powerless but morally virtuous—a framing

-

³⁹⁸ Barkun, Culture of Conspiracy, 230.

³⁹⁹ Dean and Altemeyer, Authoritarian Nightmare, 285.

⁴⁰⁰ Crothers and Burgener, "Insurrectionary Populism?," 11-14.

⁴⁰¹ Mudde and Kaltwasser, *Populism*, 6.

⁴⁰² Crothers and Burgener, "Insurrectionary Populism?," II.

⁴⁰³ Mudde and Kaltwasser, *Populism*, 71.

⁴⁰⁴ Hahl, Kim, and Zuckerman Sivan, "Authentic Appeal Lying Demagogue," 24.

that justifies extreme action in response.⁴⁰⁵ Research on how conspiracy beliefs affect people's choice of political action aligns with this thinking. Study participants who were asked to adopt a "high conspiracy mentality," where they imagined they confidently believed "that a few powerful groups decided about the fate of millions of people and that politicians were nothing more than marionettes controlled by disguised powers"—in other words, that their options for political action through regular, legal engagement were seen as non-existent—were more likely to say they would use the non-normative political actions described, some of which included violence against people in power and police officers.⁴⁰⁶ The study has its limitations—the use of terrorism wasn't explicitly mentioned and the participants weren't actual conspiracists—but as the authors note, it does at least show "once people accept a basic belief of conspiracy believers, adopting non-normative violent means to pursue one's political goals becomes—if not inevitable—certainly a seemingly logical decision to ordinary people."⁴⁰⁷

Why people were so willing to believe the conspiracy theories at the heart of January 6 and the perception of threat 'real Americans' feel is difficult to say with any certainty. An answer that aligns with the theory of social identity/social movements I have adopted to explain January 6, however, might be that conspiracy theories in this instance functioned to maintain the in-group's sense of social reality. A shared social reality is a framework for understanding and interpreting the world that is informed as much by intra-group communications as much as it is the objective world. Because this reality is socially constructed and sometimes difficult to test empirically, social groups can (to an extent) adopt different theories of reality based on their interests. The idea of shared social reality is not meant to imply all knowledge is completely divorced from objective reality, but instead to acknowledge our understanding of reality is necessarily mediated through social

40

⁴⁰⁵ Berger, Extremism, 85.

⁴⁰⁶ Imhoff, Dieterle, and Lamberty, "Puzzle of Conspiracy Worldview."

⁴⁰⁷ Imhoff, Dieterle, and Lamberty, "Puzzle of Conspiracy Worldview," 77.

⁴⁰⁸ Echterhoff, "Shared-Reality Theory."

⁴⁰⁹ Berger and Luckmann, Social Construction of Reality, 137-38.

connections and our particular perspective on the world. People are motivated to maintain shared reality in part due to their desire to maintain social relationships; people are therefore likely to "tune' relationship-relevant attitudes, beliefs, and behaviors toward others" in the group who also share that reality. 410 In the face of perceived group threat, the motivation to strengthen the in-group⁴¹¹ should also strengthen the desire the maintain the in-group's shared reality.⁴¹² If that shared reality is based in part on conspiracies, then perceived group threat might be expected to increase an individual's willingness to accept conspiracy theories. This aligns with Federico, Williams, and Vitriol's work on what they call "system identity threat," the perception that the fundamental social identity at the core of society is being changed or threatened. "When individuals perceive that societal change is undermining fundamental values and challenging the meaning of what it means to be a part of their society," the authors explain, "they may adopt a more conspiracy-oriented mindset and become more willing to endorse CTs [conspiracy theories]."413 This also aligns with Jan-Willem van Prooijen's existential threat model of conspiracy theories, where existential threats are only theorised to promote belief in conspiracy theories when there is a salient antagonistic out-group⁴¹⁴—in this case, the Democrats, the deep state, immigrants et cetera.

⁴¹⁰ Jost, Ledgerwood, and Hardin, "Shared Reality, System Justification," 173.

⁴¹¹ Wohl, Branscombe, and Reysen, "Perceiving Group's Future Jeopardy."

⁴¹² Douglas, Sutton, and Cichocka, "Psychology of Conspiracy Theories," 540-41.

⁴¹³ Federico, Williams, and Vitriol, "System Identity Threat Conspiracy," 935.

⁴¹⁴ van Prooijen, "An Existential Threat Model of Conspiracy Theories."

Chapter 4: Mobilising an insurrection

In chapter two, I argued the concept of extremism is fuzzy; the borders between the extreme and the mainstream are difficult to establish in a robust manner, even though it is often possible to point to uncontroversial examples (Nazis, for instance, being the most obvious). This conceptual fuzziness, I argued, is at least part of the reason why it is difficult to categorise and understand why and how "normal" people with no links to extremist groups took part in the Capitol riot. The extremist frame can give clearer answers to why members of groups like the Oath Keepers and the Proud Boys took part in January 6 than it does for "normal" Trump supporters such as Jenna Ryan, a 50-year-old female real estate agent from Texas, or Robert Palmer, a 54-year-old male from Florida—both of whom have been convicted for their role in the attack.⁴¹⁵ Stewart Rhodes, the Oath Keepers leader who has been charged with seditious conspiracy for his role in January 6,416 can be labelled as an extremist on most understandings of the word, but does it make sense to apply the same term to people like Ryan and Palmer? I suggested at the end of chapter two that the answer could be yes, but that an easier question would be "how did the "normal" January 6 rioters get to the point where they were willing to use violence in support of a President trying to overthrow a democratic election?"

In chapter three, I argued the best answer is to view their actions through a lens informed by social identity and social movement theory. The people who invaded the Capitol see themselves as 'real Americans'—an ascriptive notion of American identity that considers being white and Christian important to being American. 'Real Americans' feel threatened by the changing demographics of the country. Many believe, however, that this change is happening on purpose and that they are being replaced as Americans with immigrants and other racial minorities whose birth-rates are higher than the white population's. This sense of threat was able to form in part thanks to the actually changing demographics, but most importantly by the narratives that were able to form around it due to increasing polarisation,

. .

⁴¹⁵ Peiser, "Capitol Rioter Says."; Feuer, "Man Gets 5 Years."

⁴¹⁶ Feuer and Goldman, "Oath Keepers Leader Charged.";

changes in the media landscape, and the increasing influence of conspiracy theories. A social movement formed on behalf of the social identity of 'real Americans,' with the aim to try and protect the in-group from the out-group. Though this movement precedes Trump, he very clearly appeals to the white protectionist, Christian nationalist, and anti-immigrant sentiments at the heart of 'real Americans' desire to defend their notion of what America should be.

How does this threatened sense of identity connect with the Capitol riot? In short, 'real Americans' believed that the election was being stolen from them and the candidate they had voted for, who was seen as one of the only politicians on their side. The Democrats, the party many consider to be responsible for wanting to destroy 'real Americans,' would be in control of both the presidency and Congress—an intolerable outcome. Something, therefore, had to be done to avert this crisis. Collective action frames about how this might be done were developed in conjunction with—though as far we know as of February 2022, not in collusion with—the Trump campaign and its efforts to overturn the election. Crucially, the violence at the Capitol came at the end of a roughly two month period characterised by Trump's continued insistence the election was stolen but also his continued inability to do anything about it, despite his best efforts. As each day went by, the opportunities to "stop the steal" became fewer and the stakes for those that remained became ever higher. Sageman describes one of the important factors in his social identity model of the turn to political violence is the protest community's disillusionment with nonviolent strategy. As the legal avenues for a social movement to address their grievances are exhausted, members are increasingly incentivised to turn to more extreme means.⁴¹⁷ Disillusionment with protest, Sageman notes, can help explain why "political violence often erupts at the tail end of a legal political protest campaign."418 The protests that took place from election day to January 6 failed to change the outcome of the election. January 6 was therefore, as a Capitol Police intelligence report from January 3 argued, viewed by Trump's supporters as the "last chance" to keep him in the

_

⁴¹⁷ Sageman, Turning to Political Violence, 31-33.

⁴¹⁸ Sageman, Turning to Political Violence, 33.

White House.⁴¹⁹ This last stand was necessary, because the Democrats as the architects of the great replacement (or at least in cahoots with those architects), would destroy 'real America' if they got into power. As Lane Crothers and Grace Burgener argue,

According to the insurrectionists, elites didn't just steal the 2020 election.

They stole it for a reason: to replace "real" America with a different, alien one.

The stand in the U.S. Capitol, then, was for them a stand for America—an effort to "Stop the Steal" across many different dimensions.⁴²⁰

That this was a prominent narrative was clear to many in the days before the attack. The ADL wrote in a January 4 blog post discussing some of the online planning around January 6 that:

Many extremist and mainstream Trump supporters are framing the rallies as a last stand to prevent Biden from being sworn in as the next President, and some chatter indicates that there is a desire to engage in radical and sometimes violent tactics to ensure that the election is not stolen from President Trump.⁴²¹

The frame had resonance with 'real Americans' because maintaining Trump's presidency was seen as necessary for mitigating the existential threat of a changing America. CPOST's research found that "for every 1 standard deviation decline in the white population (~1%), the number of expected insurrectionists increases by 25%."⁴²² In other words, capitol rioters tended to come from places where the white population had declined the most. Bai and Federico's research shows how this population decline can increase the sense of collective existential threat, which in turn increases support for right-wing extremist groups and extremist anti-immigrant actions.⁴²³ Were 'real Americans' not so threatened the prospect of

79

⁴¹⁹ Davis, "Red Flags," 3 days to go.

⁴²⁰ Crothers and Burgener, "Insurrectionary Populism?," 13.

⁴²¹ ADL, "Extremists Trump Supporters Plan."

⁴²² CPOST, Deep, Divisive, Disturbing, 12.

⁴²³ Bai and Federico, "White Demographic Shifts."

a Democratic president—who would continue pursuing those changes to America they feared—it is unlikely the "normals" would have been so easily mobilised to violence.

In the face of perceived group threat, the motivation to strengthen the in-group⁴²⁴ would have strengthened the desire the maintain the in-group's shared reality.⁴²⁵ Belief that election fraud had taken place is consistent with the shared reality of 'real Americans'. Trump's claims of election fraud did not have their genesis in 2020—after losing the popular vote in the 2016 election, he claimed he would have won it had all the votes from illegal immigrants not been counted.426 That said, George Musgrove argues Trump did not create the receptivity to voter-fraud narratives among his base, as Republican operatives had "been claiming for more than half a century that voter fraud, ostensibly by African Americans, Latinos, Native Americans, undocumented immigrants, possibly even felons, all supported by the Democratic Party and ignored by the mainstream media, was rampant"427 This aligns with the broader narrative of the great replacement, which says that the Democrats have already let in millions of illegal immigrants to overpower the vote of 'real American' citizens. Even as many specific claims about election fraud were shown to have no substance behind them, in many minds this did not matter because many of the people who were voting were assumed to be illegitimate. In other words, too much of the electorate had already been replaced, so belief in widespread fraud was resistant to the obvious shortcomings of many of the Trump campaign's claims.

In a speech following Trump's second acquittal, Republican Senate leader Mitch McConnell said,

the people who stormed this building believed they were acting on the wishes and instructions of their president. The leader of the free world cannot spend

80

⁴²⁴ Wohl, Branscombe, and Reysen, "Perceiving Group's Future Jeopardy."

⁴²⁵ Douglas, Sutton, and Cichocka, "Psychology of Conspiracy Theories," 540-41.; Jost, Ledgerwood, and Hardin, "Shared Reality, System Justification," 181-82.

⁴²⁶ Neiwart, *Alt-America*, 329.; Leonnig and Rucker, *I Alone Can Fix*, 279-80.

⁴²⁷ Musgrove, "The Ingredients for "Voter Fraud" Conspiracies," 229.

weeks thundering that shadowy forces are stealing our country and then feign surprise when people believe him and do reckless things.⁴²⁸

This accords with many statements from rioters who say they were in Washington and marched to the Capitol because they thought that is what Trump wanted.⁴²⁹ Members of the Oath Keepers and Proud Boys considered Trump to be the one calling for action on January 6 too.⁴³⁰ For the Proud Boys in particular, it was Trump's election debate message to the group to to "stand back and stand by" that engaged them fully.⁴³¹ Enrique Tarrio, leader of the Proud Boys, got the message, writing on Parler soon after Trump's comment, "Standing by sir."⁴³² Another Proud Boy, Joe Biggs, posted on Parler that "Trump basically said to go fuck them [antifa and the left] up! this makes me so happy."⁴³³ Biggs would end up playing a prominent role in the Proud Boys contingent that attacked the Capitol.⁴³⁴ I will come to examine how these extreme actors interacted with the "normals" in the lead up to January 6, and how the frames that lead to violence were able to flourish, in part, in the Stop the Steal movement. First, however, the primary mobilising actor—Trump—needs to be examined.

Planting the seeds of insurrection

It is important to first establish that Trump was trying to overturn the election, because it is key to establishing that the rioters were acting with purpose and not simply being swept away in rally that spiralled out of control. Trump supporters were well aware of what he was trying to do, and as many of them said in the aftermath, they were only too happy to try and help in his goal of stopping Biden's certification as president.⁴³⁵

⁴²⁸ Leonard, "'Practically and Morally Responsible'."

⁴²⁹ Pape and CPOST, *Understanding American Domestic Terrorism*, 40.

⁴³⁰ Argentino et al., Far from Gone, 15-16.;

⁴³¹ Leonnig and Rucker, I Alone Can Fix, 294-95.

⁴³² Davis, "Red Flags," 102 days to go.

⁴³³ Atlantic Council's DFRLab, "#StopTheSteal: Timeline," September 29, 2020.

⁴³⁴ Hsu and Weiner, "Proud Boys conspired".

⁴³⁵ Pape and Ruby, "Capitol Rioters."

That Trump's intention was to overturn the election is clear. Notes released from a December 27 conversation between Trump and senior officials from the Justice Department show Trump asked the then acting attorney general Jeffrey Rosen to "just say the election was corrupt + leave the rest to me and the R. Congressmen."⁴³⁶ On January 2, Trump called Georgia secretary of state Brad Raffensperger and asked him "to find 11,780 votes," one more than he would need to flip the state.⁴³⁷ He was doing all he could, behind the scenes as well as in public lawsuits to keep a hold on the presidency.⁴³⁸

Trump spent much of his campaign warning of election fraud, laying the groundwork for a rejection of the results before any purported evidence of fraud had been found.⁴³⁹ The first concrete mobilising motions towards January 6 could be said to have started in the early hours of November 4. In a speech full of false claims of a rigged election, Trump said "[t]his is a fraud on the American public. This is an embarrassment to our country. We were getting ready to win this election. Frankly, we did win this election." In the weeks that followed, Trump and his Republican proxies filed around 60 lawsuits to no avail. These collective failures, alongside Trump's inability to pressure officials behind the scenes, we meant the last chance to turn things around was January 6. Trump was aware something like this might be necessary to hold onto power long before election day. He first referenced the idea that the House in Congress could determine the outcome of the election in the event of a disputed election, saying in a rally on September 26 that "I don't want to go back to Congress either, even though we have an advantage if we go back to Congress. Does everyone understand that? I think it's 26 to 22 or something because it's counted one vote per state."

A memo developed in the White house by legal scholar John Eastman outlined the plan: several states were going to send alternate electors to the Senate to be certified, against the

_

⁴³⁶ Barrett and Dawsey, "Trump to Acting AG."

⁴³⁷ Gardner, "Trump Pressures Georgia Secretary."

⁴³⁸ Rutenberg, Corasaniti, and Feuer, "Trump's Claims Died Court."

⁴³⁹ Woodward and Costa, Peril, 131.

⁴⁴⁰ Rucker, Olorunnipa, and Linskey, "Trump Falsely Asserts Fraud."

⁴⁴¹ Rutenberg, Corasaniti, and Feuer, "Trump's Claims Died Court."

⁴⁴² Gardner, "Trump Pressures Georgia Secretary."

⁴⁴³ Davis, "Red Flags," 102 days to go.

legitimate electors for Biden. As president of the senate, the vice president was responsible for running the certification process. He therefore had the power to declare that ongoing disputes about who were the legitimate electors from those states meant none of them could be deemed legitimate. As the electors from the states would not then be counted, Trump would have a majority of those electors who were counted, and therefore could be announced as president re-elect. If the Democrats objected on the basis of no candidate reaching the 270 electoral votes required now that many had been dismissed, the vice president could send the decision of who is to be elected president to the house. As outlined by the 12th amendment, the matter is decided with each state getting one vote, no matter its population. Because Republicans represented more states, despite having fewer representatives, they would be able to elect Trump president.⁴⁴⁴ Despite Trump's best efforts to convince him, Pence remained sceptical, convinced by his own advisors that the vice president's power in the process was only ceremonial.⁴⁴⁵ In a meeting with Trump on the evening of January 5th, Pence told Trump he would not follow the plan, and that if Trump has "a strategy for the 6th, it really shouldn't involve me because I'm just there to open the envelopes."446 Trump could therefore not rely on Pence to fulfil his role and would instead need some other

The centrality of this plan to Trump's efforts to steal the election became even more indisputable in January 2022, when in a statement questioning why Congress was attempting to revise the Electoral Count Act if in fact the vice president really does have only ceremonial power, he said "[a]ctually, what they are saying, is that Mike Pence did have the right to change the outcome, and they now want to take that right away. Unfortunately, he didn't exercise that power, he could have overturned the Election!"⁴⁴⁷

⁴⁴⁴ Woodward and Costa, Peril, 209-12.

⁴⁴⁵ Woodward and Costa, Peril, 225-26.

⁴⁴⁶ Woodward and Costa, Peril, 228-29.

⁴⁴⁷ Wagner, Sonmez, and Dawsey, "Trump Suggests Pence 'Overturned'."

Stop the Steal

As Trump was saying the election was stolen and trying to overturn it, his supporters were organising too. The Stop the Steal movement is where many of the actors present on January 6 first aligned—"normal" or mainstream and extreme alike.⁴⁴⁸ Proud Boys leader Enrique Tarrio referred to the November 14 "Million MAGA March" as "the moment we really united everybody under one banner."⁴⁴⁹ Trump's failure to condemn the Proud Boys opened the door for them to enter the Stop the Steal movement, and painted them as legitimate actors in the eyes of many 'real Americans.'

The alignment of extreme and mainstream actors in the lead up to January 6 is important, because it helps shed light on an important question: would the "normals" have entered the Capitol that day had it not been for the more organised elements present? Though it is difficult to know, there are good reasons to consider the answer is likely no. For one, without the more extreme groups the specific mobilising narratives that suggested the Capitol be stormed instead of merely protested in front of may not have been developed. Members of the both the Proud Boys and the Oath Keepers have been indicted on conspiracy charges—seditious conspiracy in the case of Stewart Rhodes, the leader of the Oath Keepers. It would appear, then, that the collective action frames for taking the Capitol were developed by these small and structured groups, rather than spontaneously developing in the broader non-hierarchically-organised mass of 'real Americans.' When it came time to take action on the day, Proud Boys were among the first to break through the initial police lines and into the Capitol building itself. However, the frames outlining the storming of the Capitol clearly resonated with many "normal" Americans, as evidenced by their willingness to join in.

⁴⁴⁸ Hughes, ""Stop the Steal" Symbology."

⁴⁴⁹ Kaplan and Sapien, "New Details Suggest," One Nation Under God.

⁴⁵⁰ Feuer, "Stay Scattered Avoid Police."; Feuer and Goldman, "Oath Keepers Leader Charged."

⁴⁵¹ Kriner and Lewis, "Oath Keepers January 6," 10-13.; Kriner and Lewis, "Pride & Prejudice," 34-35.

⁴⁵² Kriner and Lewis, "Pride & Prejudice."

The question of the relationship between the "normals" and the extreme actors can be considered in the other direction too—would the Proud Boys and the Oath Keepers have been as willing to break the law and enter into combat if there had not been huge numbers of "normal" Trump supporters present who they felt confident would follow them into the Capitol? It is again difficult to say, but the fact that they felt they had the blessing of the president and large masses of his supporters may have given them a degree of cover that was necessary to turn the mobilising frames they had developed from talk to action.

Counterfactuals aside, the Stop the Steal movement provided the platform for extremists and "normals" to intermingle, and where "normal" could be exposed to collective action frames developed by more extreme actors. Though it was not then widely supported, the slogan of "Stop the Steal" began in 2016 as the name of an activist group founded by the political operative and Trump backer Roger Stone. The group's stated goal was to conduct exit polls and compare them with the official tallies, though they were accused of attempting voter intimidation as they mostly planned to operate in minority-dense areas.⁴⁵³

The 2020 incarnation of Stop the Steal was founded by the "far-right provocateur" Ali Alexander. ⁴⁵⁴ The success of the 2020 incarnation owes much to social media for its ability to spread quickly. Though the original Stop the Steal Facebook group was live for less than a day before it was banned on November 5, it amassed over 320,000 members in that time. ⁴⁵⁵ Hughes and Miller-Idriss argue the mass bans and exodus of Q followers, election-fraud misinformation spreaders, and other far-right actors from mainstream platforms in late 2020, and their subsequent arrival on platforms like Parler and Telegram, helped to create a community with a concentrated and shared sense of grievance around the election. ⁴⁵⁶ Luke Munn argues Parler functioned as "preparatory media," in that it was an environment where the specific collection action frames—for instance, about storming the Capitol—were developed. The predevelopment of these frames "allowed Trump's incendiary but broad

-

⁴⁵³ Kruzel, "Pro-Trump Group Warns Members."

⁴⁵⁴ Kaplan and Sapien, "New Details Suggest," One Nation Under God.

⁴⁵⁵ Frenkel, "Rise 'Stop Steal' Facebook."

⁴⁵⁶ Hughes and Miller-Idriss, "Uniting for Total Collapse," 16.

rhetoric to be slotted into an existing framework, amplifying the group's animosity against certain targets and the urgency of attaining certain goals."457 For example, one post with 50,000 views read "CALLING ALL PATRIOTS. DONALD TRUMP HAS CALLED FOR US TO COME TO THE NATIONS CAPITOL FOR THE LAST STAND AGAINST THE GLOBALISTS."458

Despite alternative social media's role in providing a less restrictive space for violent frames to develop, Stop The Steal was far from limited to those platforms; engagement with Stop the Steal on mainstream social media channels was significant, peaking at several times in the interim period between election day and January 6.459 The movement was not entirely cleaved from the platform, however. An internal Facebook document detailed how the narratives and groups around Stop the Steal grew and spread through mass invites but also organic growth.460 Another internal Facebook report from January 7 showed content that potentially violated Facebook's policies was seven times higher in the weeks before January 6, with many posts calling for violence to overthrow the government.461

On November 7, the day most major media outlets projected Biden would be the next President, Alexander, alongside numerous other actors, including white nationalist Nick Fuentes and Proud Boys leader Enrique Tarrio, begin promoting the "Million MAGA March" scheduled for November 14 in Washington. The rally featured a fix of mainstream Trump supporters, as well as Proud Boys, Oath Keepers, white nationalists, and followers of Alex Jones, the conspiracist and figurehead of InfoWars who was also a speaker at the rally. Some of those aligned with the Stop the Steal movement expressed discomfort with some of the extreme actors Alexander had allowed to take part.

_

⁴⁵⁷ Munn, "More Than a Mob," Introduction.

⁴⁵⁸ Munn, "More Than a Mob," Mobilizing.

⁴⁵⁹ Atlantic Council's DFRLab, "#StopTheSteal: Timeline," Metrics.

⁴⁶⁰ Mac, Silverman, and Lytvynenko, "Facebook Report Insurrection."

⁴⁶¹ Mac and Frenkel, "Facebook's Employees Election Role."

⁴⁶² Atlantic Council's DFRLab, "#StopTheSteal: Timeline."

⁴⁶³ Kaplan and Sapien, "New Details Suggest," One Nation Under God.; Atlantic Council's DFRLab,

[&]quot;#StopTheSteal: Timeline," November 10, 2020.; Hayden, "Far-Right Extremist Heading Washington."

⁴⁶⁴ Kaplan and Sapien, "New Details Suggest," One Nation Under God.

not distance himself from the rally; he diverted his motorcade to drive past it and wave to his supporters,⁴⁶⁵ in effect endorsing its message.

December 12 saw another rally in Washington, organised and promoted by the same groups and individuals as the November 14 event. On stage, Alexander told the crowd January 6 would be the next point of protest, should the electoral college confirm Biden's victory in two days' time. He warned Republicans that if they did not object to the certification on January 6, that he and the movement would "throw them out of office." 467

On December 19, Trump tweeted "Big protest in D.C. on January 6th. Be there, will be wild!" 468 Members of the TheDonald.win, the new home of the banned Reddit forum r/TheDonald, took Trump's tweet as a call to action, with one post reading "Well, shit. We've got marching orders, bois," and another noting "He [Trump] can't exactly tell you to revolt. This is the closest he'll ever get." 469 The groups responsible for the prior protests also reacted quickly; Women for America First announced a January 6 rally and launched a companion website. 470 A few days later, Alexander published a video linking to WildProtest.com, that explicitly mentioned assembling outside the Capitol by 1pm, after attending the rally at the ellipse earlier in the day. A day later, he tweeted the video and wrote "President Trump invited you so now it's your turn to invite a fellow patriot." 471

Some reporting suggests as January 6 neared, however, there were disagreements between the protest groups supporting Trump. *ProPublica* reported that despite being aligned in planning and promoting the November 14 and December 12 rallies,⁴⁷² the group Women for America First, led by Amy Kremer, a Republican operative who was heavily involved in the Tea Party movement, considered the Stop the Steal faction to have become

⁴⁶⁵ Leonnig and Rucker, I Alone Can Fix, 384.

⁴⁶⁶ Davis, "Red Flags," 25 days to go.

⁴⁶⁷ Leonnig and Rucker, I Alone Can Fix, 418.

⁴⁶⁸ Atlantic Council's DFRLab, "#StopTheSteal: Timeline," December 19, 2020.

⁴⁶⁹ SITE Intelligence Group, "Trump Tweet Sparked Plots."

⁴⁷⁰ Atlantic Council's DFRLab, "#StopTheSteal: Timeline," December 19, 2020.

⁴⁷¹ Atlantic Council's DFRLab, "#StopTheSteal: Timeline," December 25, 2020; December 26, 20.

⁴⁷² Davis, "Red Flags," 53 days to go, 36 days to go.; Atlantic Council's DFRLab, "#StopTheSteal: Timeline," November 8, 2020.

too extreme.⁴⁷³ It was Women for America First who had the permit for the event on the White House ellipse where Trump spoke on the morning of January 6; Stop the Steal only had a permit to rally on Capitol grounds. The ellipse permit, however, specifically forbade an "organized march"—Kremer therefore reportedly did not want Alexander, Jones, and others from the Stop the Steal faction speaking at the ellipse rally and encouraging their planned march and causing potential legal headaches.⁴⁷⁴ How deep this rift was in reality, however, is difficult to say. Kremer used the hashtag #StoptheSteal in a January 2 tweet promoting the ellipse rally, and the group was listed as a coalition partner alongside Stop the Steal, WildProtest.com, and others on marchtosaveamerica.com, a site promoting both the January 6 rally as well as the one scheduled for the evening before.⁴⁷⁵ In the end, however, it was Trump himself speaking at that rally who said "I know that everyone here will soon be marching over to the Capitol building to peacefully and patriotically make your voices heard."⁴⁷⁶

Trump's speech on January 6

Though Trump's speech on the morning of January 6 should not be viewed as the whole story—after all, much of the mobilising had already occurred to get people to D.C.—its importance in directly mobilising those present cannot be understated. The collective action frame Trump laid out in his speech said to the 'real Americans' present that if they did not act now, they would lose their country because the Democrats would win and continue to change America against their interests, and continue to replace them as Americans.

Whether Trump wanted the violence to occur is difficult to say. The fact he did nothing to stop the attack for 187 minutes once it began suggests at the very least an indifference to

⁴⁷³ Kaplan and Sapien, "New Details Suggest," "Historic Day!".

⁴⁷⁴ Kaplan and Sapien, "New Details Suggest," "Historic Day!".

⁴⁷⁵ Atlantic Council's DFRLab, "#StopTheSteal: Timeline," January 2, 2021; January 3, 21.

⁴⁷⁶ Naylor, "Trump's Jan. 6 Speech."

what was occurring.⁴⁷⁷ He also did not hesitate from piling on Mike Pence during the riot, as the following tweet, sent once the Capitol had been breached, demonstrates:

Mike Pence didn't have the courage to do what should have been done to protect our Country and our Constitution, giving States a chance to certify a corrected set of facts, not the fraudulent or inaccurate ones which they were asked to previously certify. USA demands the truth!⁴⁷⁸

That he views violence as a legitimate response to Pence's inaction is also clear. When confronted with the fact his supporters were chanting "Hang Mike Pence," he said it was "common sense," arguing they were "very angry" that Pence "pass[ed] on a fraudulent vote to Congress." 479

Whatever Trump's actual intentions with his speech, what is important for mobilisation is not the unknowable intentions in someone's mind but the perception of what those intentions are. Judging by their actions, the "normals" and the more extreme actors present acted out what they thought their president desired. His speech aligned with the frame that gave them a reason to be in Washington D.C. for. To be clear, Trump did say in the speech that "I know that everyone here will soon be marching over to the Capitol building to peacefully and patriotically make your voices heard."⁴⁸⁰ Yet aside from that one instance, peaceful protest was not mentioned again—the rest of the speech was in alignment, or at least not in contradiction with, the violent and confrontational collective action frames that suggested storming the Capitol. For instance, Trump outlined clearly why everyone was there, and who was responsible:

All of us here today do not want to see our election victory stolen by emboldened radical-left Democrats, which is what they're doing. And stolen by the fake news media. That's what they've done and what they're doing. We will

⁴⁷⁸ Rucker, "Bloodshed," section I.

89

⁴⁷⁷ Rucker, "Bloodshed."

⁴⁷⁹ Pengelly, "Trump Defended 'Hang Pence'."

⁴⁸⁰ Naylor, "Trump's Jan. 6 Speech."

never give up, we will never concede. It doesn't happen. You don't concede when there's theft involved. Our country has had enough. We will not take it anymore and that's what this is all about. And to use a favorite term that all of you people really came up with: We will stop the steal.⁴⁸¹

"Our country" is a way of speaking directly to 'real Americans'—in the frame, the country belongs to them. The phrase "we will not take it anymore" stokes a sense of victimhood and loss.

But just remember this: You're stronger, you're smarter, you've got more going than anybody. And they try and demean everybody having to do with us. And you're the real people, you're the people that built this nation. You're not the people that tore down our nation.

The "they" Trump mentions presumably means the Democrats and the media, the people who have no respect for 'real Americans' and want to replace them. 'Real Americans' "built this nation"—not the people "who tore down our nation," likely a reference to Black Lives Matters protestors and Antifa—two groups Trump frequently frames as sources of violence.⁴⁸² Metaphors for violence are used by Trump, however, throughout the speech:

"Republicans are constantly fighting like a boxer with his hands tied behind his back. It's like a boxer. And we want to be so nice. We want to be so respectful of everybody, including bad people. And we're going to have to fight much harder."

Republicans here are framed as the victims, being attacked by Democrats and others who are willing to use unfair means to defeat them. "We're going to have to fight much harder" suggests an escalation in tactics is required. Another phrase used later evokes similar sentiments:

⁴⁸² Bump, "Trump Black Lives Matter."; Perez and Hoffman, "Trump Antifa Labeled Terrorist."

. .

⁴⁸¹ All quotes from Trump's speech below come from Naylor, "Trump's Jan. 6 Speech."

"You'll never take back our country with weakness. You have to show strength and you have to be strong."

Footage assembled by the New York Times shows as Trump says these words, different people in the crowd can be heard shouting "storm the Capitol!," "invade the Capitol building!," "let's take the Capitol," "take the Capitol," and "let's take it." ⁴⁸³ The people in the videos are not identified, but even if we assume that it was members of organised groups who were attempting to spread the idea of storming the Capitol, it seemed to have resonated with many in the crowd.

As the speech continues, Trump begins providing justifications for radical action:

The Constitution doesn't allow me to send them back to the States. Well, I say, yes it does, because the Constitution says you have to protect our country and you have to protect our Constitution, and you can't vote on fraud. And fraud breaks up everything, doesn't it? When you catch somebody in a fraud, you're allowed to go by very different rules.

While the reference to "very different rules" can be interpreted as Trump saying Pence has the power to send the votes back to the states, it is also compatible with an interpretation the legitimises the idea of storming the Capitol. Once again, it is impossible to know Trump's true intentions and desires—but given the frames already floating around, the statement does not conflict with some crowd members' interpretation that Trump wants them to take drastic action. The final line I will point out is perhaps the most important, given how sharply it summarises the content and tone of the speech:

"And we fight. We fight like hell. And if you don't fight like hell, you're not going to have a country anymore."

⁴⁸³ The New York Times, "Day of Rage," 6:40-7:12.

This final sentence is the clearest articulation of the mobilising frame; "If you don't fight like hell"—that is, if you, the 'real Americans,' do not take action now to keep me in office— "you're not going to have a country anymore,"—in other words, the America you know and love will be destroyed. Narratives of existential threat, as Holger Marks and Janina Pawelz note, suggest "a need for self-defense and thus a situation, in which everything is permitted, if not necessary"⁴⁸⁴

⁴⁸⁴ Marcks and Pawelz, "Victimhood to Violence," 2.

Chapter 5: Conclusion

The goal of this thesis has been to understand how regular Trump supporters—"normals," as I have called them—came to engage in political violence against their government. Such actions would usually thought to be confined to extremists—however, analysis of those who have been charged for their involvement in storming the Capitol do not match the typical right-wing extremist profile and many had no affiliation with extremist groups. Thus, to analyse their political violence as if they were just any other extremists would seem to be missing something important about them, with the potential to come to misleading conclusions. The first step in understanding the political violence of the "normals" would be to critically examine the conceptual tools that are normally used to analyse political violence.⁴⁸⁵

I began, then, by examining the concept of extremism. I argued that part of what makes understanding the "normals" and their actions on January 6 difficult may be the limitations of the concept of extremism itself. In particular, the extremist frame can serve to obscure the shared features of the mainstream and the extreme, while also failing to clearly demarcate the borders between the two in a clear and consistent way. While it may be easy to identify Nazis as extremists, others do not fit so clearly into the mould. I also argued that the label of "extremist" functions to delegitimise certain actors, often related to their use of violence for an unworthy cause. What is a just cause and what is not, however, has changed over time; what once have may been considered extremism—such as abolitionism—is now seen as the moral good. Despite the limitations of the extremist frame, I ended chapter two by arguing that instead of trying to determine whether the "normals" were extremists or not (though I argued there are good reasons to consider they are), their actions could still be analysed using certain concepts from the literature, principally those relating to social identity and social movement theory, without committing to explicit demarcations between which actors are extremists and which are not.

⁴⁸⁵ CPOST, American Face of Insurrection, 5.

In chapter three, using the social identity and social movement perspectives, I outlined a theory of 'real Americans' who perceive the changes happening in America's demographics and culture as a threat. It was the desire to protect and defend this identity, I argued, that was behind the successful mobilisation to violence of many "normals." Collective action frames were developed that interpreted the world from the point of view of this identity, and gave them scripts for action on home they could defend it. They invaded the Capitol in a last ditch effort to protect their in-group—white and Christian Americans—by keeping in power a president who made it clear he would protect their interests as 'real Americans.' With Donald Trump as president, they would be able to continue fighting back against the forces that wanted to replace them as Americans with immigrants and minorities. I examined how polarisation, the media landscape, and the increasing acceptance of conspiracy theories all interacted with white identity politics and Christian nationalism to enhance the sense of threat 'real Americans' appear to feel.

In chapter four, I attempted to show how this theory fits with what we know about January 6—that the rioters were trying to keep Trump in office by assisting him in stopping the certification of Biden as president; that the influence of extremist groups such as the Proud Boys contributed to the frames developed in the Stop the Steal movement; and how Trump's speech on the morning of January 6, whatever his actual intention, aligned with the frames the "normals" had for both how important it was to keep Trump in office and what he desired them to do in order to make that so.

Though I have argued the social identity/social movement perspective is the best conceptual frame to apply to what is known about the rioters and their motivations, it does not establish unequivocally that the identity-based concerns are the primary animating force behind their actions. The studies from the Chicago Project on Security and Threats provide compelling evidence that concerns about white population decline, changing demographics, and the fear of replacement are important to rioters' concerns, many of their survey conclusions come from people who merely support the insurrection, rather than actually took part in it. Nonetheless, my argument is that the theoretical perspective I have presented

provides a coherent frame for examining how "normal" people were driven to political violence, even if it may not explain it fully.

The frame I have presented would suggest future violence from this movement is possible, so long as the mobilising forces continue to exist—most importantly, Donald Trump staying influential as the mobiliser-in-chief. So long as Trump continues to be perceived as someone willing to protect the interests of 'real Americans,' and so long as he continues to stoke the grievances that 'real Americans' have, my analysis would suggest he could mobilise others to violence in the future. To be clear, the last-ditch nature of January 6 was certainly important in providing the desperation necessary for violence to occur—I am not suggesting Trump would be capable of inspiring violence for any circumstance he pleases. But if similar circumstances arise around future elections, similar violence could be inspired. Most concerning is the fact he appears to not see much wrong with the violence he already inspired. In January of 2022, he stated if he became President again in 2024, he would consider pardons for those charged for their role in January 6, "because they are being treated so unfairly." (American American States) as the Republican National Committee recently did, (American States) as the Republican National Committee recently did, (American States) as the Republican National Committee recently did, (American States) as the Republican National Committee recently did, (American States) as the Republican National Committee recently did, (American States) as the Republican National Committee recently did, (American States) as the Republican National Committee recently did, (American States) as the Republican National Committee recently did, (American States) as the Republican National Committee recently did, (American States) as the Republican National Committee recently did, (American States) as the Republican National Committee recently did, (American States) as the Republican National Committee recently did, (American States) as the Republican National Committee recently did, (American States) as the Republican Nation

⁴⁸⁶ Colvin, "Trump Dangles Pardons."

⁴⁸⁷ Weisman and Epstein, "G.O.P. Declares Jan. 6."

Bibliography

- Abbas, Tahir. Countering Violent Extremism: The International Deradicalization Agenda. London: I. B. Tauris, 2021.
- Abramowitz, Alan, and Jennifer McCoy. "United States: Racial Resentment, Negative Partisanship, and Polarization in Trump's America." *The Annals of the American Academy of Political and Social Science* 681, no. 1 (2019): 137-56. https://doi.org/10.1177/0002716218811309.
- ADL. "Extremists and Mainstream Trump Supporters Plan to Protest Congressional Certification of Biden's Victory." *ADL Blog*, January 4, 2021. https://www.adl.org/blog/extremists-and-mainstream-trump-supporters-plan-to-protest-congressional-certification-of.
- Ahler, Douglas J., and Gaurav Sood. "The Parties in Our Heads: Misperceptions About Party Composition and Their Consequences." *The Journal of Politics* 80, no. 3 (2018): 964-81. https://doi.org/10.1086/697253.
- Alba, Richard. *The Great Demographic Illusion: Majority, Minority, and the Expanding American Mainstream.* Princeton: Princeton University Press, 2020.
- Alba, Richard, and Nancy Foner. "Immigration and the Geography of Polarization." *City & Community* 16, no. 3 (2017): 239-43. https://doi.org/10.1111/cico.12241.
- Andersen, Kurt. Fantasyland: How America Went Haywire: A 500 Year History. London: Ebury Press, 2017.
- Appiah, Kwame Anthony. "Identity, Authenticity, Survival: Multicultural Societies and Social Reproduction." In *Multiculturalism: Expanded Paperback Edition*, edited by Charles Taylor, Susan Wolf and Kwame Anthony Appiah, 149-63. Princeton: Princeton University Press, 1994.
- ——. *The Lies That Bind: Rethinking Identity.* London: Profile Books, 2018.
- Argentino, Marc-André, Blyth Crawford, Florence Keen, and Hannah Rose. Far from Gone: The Evolution of Extremism in the First 100 Days of the Biden Administration. (London: International Centre for the Study of Radicalisation, 2021). https://icsr.info/wp-content/uploads/2021/04/ICSR-Report-Far-From-Gone-The-Evolution-of-Extremism-in-the-First-100-Days-of-the-Biden-Administration.pdf.
- Argo, Nichole. "Why Fight?: Examining Self-Interested Versus Communally-Oriented Motivations in Palestinian Resistance and Rebellion." *Security Studies* 18, no. 4 (2009): 651-80. https://doi.org/10.1080/09636410903368920.
- Armaly, Miles T., David T. Buckley, and Adam M. Enders. "Christian Nationalism and Political Violence: Victimhood, Racial Identity, Conspiracy, and Support for the Capitol Attacks." *Political Behavior* (2022): 1-24. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11109-021-09758-y.
- Atlantic Council's DFRLab. "#Stopthesteal: Timeline of Social Media and Extremist Activities Leading to 1/6 Insurrection." *Just Security*, February 10, 2021.

 https://www.justsecurity.org/74622/stopthesteal-timeline-of-social-media-and-extremist-activities-leading-to-1-6-insurrection/.
- Backes, Uwe. *Political Extremes: A Conceptual History from Antiquity to the Present.* London: Routledge, 2010.
- Bago, Bence, David G. Rand, and Gordon Pennycook. "Fake News, Fast and Slow: Deliberation Reduces Belief in False (but Not True) News Headlines." *Journal of Experimental Psychology* 149, no. 8 (2020): 1608-13. https://doi.org/10.1037/xge0000729.

- Bai, Hui. "Whites' Racial Identity Centrality and Social Dominance Orientation Are Interactively Associated with Far-Right Extremism." *British Journal of Social Psychology* 59, no. 2 (2020): 387-404. https://doi.org/10.1111/bjso.12350.
- Bai, Hui, and Christopher M. Federico. "Collective Existential Threat Mediates White Population Decline's Effect on Defensive Reactions." *Group processes & intergroup relations* 23, no. 3 (2020): 361-77. https://doi.org/10.1177/1368430219839763.
- ——. "White and Minority Demographic Shifts, Intergroup Threat, and Right-Wing Extremism." *Journal of Experimental Social Psychology* 94 (2021): 104114. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jesp.2021.104114.
- Bail, Chris. Breaking the Social Media Prism: How to Make Our Platforms Less Polarizing. Princeton: Princeton University Press, 2021.
- Baker, Joseph O., Samuel L. Perry, and Andrew L. Whitehead. "Keep America Christian (and White): Christian Nationalism, Fear of Ethnoracial Outsiders, and Intention to Vote for Donald Trump in the 2020 Presidential Election." *Sociology of Religion* 81, no. 3 (2020): 272-93. https://doi.org/10.1093/socrel/sraa015.
- Barber, Michael J., and Nolan McCarty. "Causes and Consequences of Polarization." In *Solutions to Political Polarization in America*, edited by Nathaniel Persily, 15-58. New York: Cambridge University Press, 2015.
- Barkun, Michael. *A Culture of Conspiracy: Apocolyptic Visions in Contemporary America*. 2nd ed. Berkeley: University of California Press, 2013.
- Barnett, Brett A. "20 Years Later: A Look Back at the Unabomber Manifesto." *Perspectives on Terrorism* 9, no. 6 (2015): 60-71. http://www.jstor.org/stable/26297462.
- Barrett, Cevlin, and Josh Dawsey. "Trump to Acting Ag, According to Aide's Notes: 'Just Say the Election Was Corrupt + Leave the Rest to Me'." *Washington Post*, July 31, 2021. https://www.washingtonpost.com/national-security/trump-rosen-phone-call-notes/2021/07/30/2e9430d6-f14d-11eb-81d2-ffaeof931b8f">https://www.washingtonpost.com/national-security/trump-rosen-phone-call-notes/2021/07/30/2e9430d6-f14d-11eb-81d2-ffaeof931b8f">https://www.washingtonpost.com/national-security/trump-rosen-phone-call-notes/2021/07/30/2e9430d6-f14d-11eb-81d2-ffaeof931b8f">https://www.washingtonpost.com/national-security/trump-rosen-phone-call-notes/2021/07/30/2e9430d6-f14d-11eb-81d2-ffaeof931b8f">https://www.washingtonpost.com/national-security/trump-rosen-phone-call-notes/2021/07/30/2e9430d6-f14d-11eb-81d2-ffaeof931b8f story.html.
- Bartlett, Jamie, and Carl Miller. "The Edge of Violence: Towards Telling the Difference between Violent and Non-Violent Radicalization." *Terrorism and Political Violence* 24, no. 1 (2012): 1-21. https://doi.org/10.1080/09546553.2011.594923.
- Bay, Christian. "Extremism in the Defense of Liberty Is No Vice': A Humanist Interpretation of a Rightist Manifesto." *Bulletin of Peace Proposals* 16, no. 2 (1985): 145-54. https://doi.org/10.1177/096701068501600208.
- Belew, Kathleen. Bring the War Home: The White Power Movement and Paramilitary America. Cambridge, Massachusetts: Harvard University Press, 2018.
- Belew, Kathleen, Khaled Beydoun, Adam Goodman, Carly Goodman, Emily Gorcenski, Nicole Hemmer, Cassie Miller, et al. "Thoughts on the Associated Press Stylebook." In A Field Guide to White Supremacy, edited by Kathleen Belew and Ramón A. Gutiérrez, ix-xvi. Oakland: University of California Press, 2021.
- Benford, Robert D., and David A. Snow. "Framing Processes and Social Movements: An Overview and Assessment." *Annual Review of Sociology* 26 (2000): 611-39. http://www.jstor.org/stable/223459.
- Benkler, Yochai, Robert Faris, and Hal Roberts. *Network Propaganda: Manipulation, Disinformation, and Radicalization in American Politics*. New York: Oxford University Press, 2018.

- Bennett, David. *The Party of Fear: From Nativist Movements to the New Right in American History*. Revised and Updated ed. New York: Vintage Books, 1995.
- Berger, J. M. Extremism. Cambridge, Massachusetts: MIT Press, 2018. eBook.
- Berger, Peter L., and Thomas Luckmann. *The Social Construction of Reality: A Treatise in the Sociology of Knowledge*. London: Penguin, (1966) 1991.
- Bermanzohn, Sally Avery. "Violence, Nonviolence, and the U.S. Civil Rights Movement." In *Violence and Politics: Globalization's Paradox*, edited by Kenton Worcester, Sally Avery Bermanzohn and Mark Ungar, 146-64. London: Routledge, 2002.
- Berry, Mary Frances. "Vindicating Martin Luther King, Jr.: The Road to a Color-Blind Society." *The Journal of Negro History* 81, no. 1/4 (1996): 137-44. http://www.jstor.org.ezproxy.auckland.ac.nz/stable/2717613.
- Bjørgo, Tore, and Jacob Aasland Ravndal. *Extreme-Right Violence and Terrorism: Concepts, Patterns, and Responses.* International Centre for Counter-Terrorism The Hague (2019).
- Bleiberg, Jake, and Jim Mustian. "Capitol Rioters Hold out Long-Shot Hope for a Trump Pardon." *AP News*, January 20 2021. https://apnews.com/article/joe-biden-donald-trump-capitol-siege-riots-32a212d3ac899905be744632d236862c.
- Bonilla-Silva, Eduardo. *Racism without Racists: Color-Blind Racism and the Persistence of Racial Inequality in the United States.* Third ed. Lanham: Rowman & Littlefield, 2010.
- Boorstein, Michelle. "A Horn-Wearing 'Shaman.' a Cowboy Evangelist. For Some, the Capitol Attack Was a Kind of Christian Revolt." *Washington Post*, July 6 2021.

 https://www.washingtonpost.com/religion/2021/07/06/capitol-insurrection-trump-christian-nationalism-shaman/.
- Bor, Alexander, and Michael Bang Petersen. "The Psychology of Online Political Hostility: A Comprehensive, Cross-National Test of the Mismatch Hypothesis." *The American Political Science Review* (2021): 1-18. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0003055421000885.
- Borum, Randy. "Radicalization into Violent Extremism I: A Review of Social Science Theories." *Journal of Strategic Security* 4, no. 4 (2011): 7-36. https://doi.org/10.5038/1944-0472.4.4.1.
- Bosi, Lorenzo, Charles Demetriou, and Stefan Malthaner. "A Contentious Politics Approach to the Explanation of Radicalization." In *Dynamics of Political Violence : A Process-Oriented Perspective on Radicalization and the Escalation of Political Conflict*, edited by Lorenzo Bosi, Charles Demetriou and Stefan Malthaner, 1-23. Farnham: Ashgate, 2014.
- Breton, Albert, Gianluigi Galeotti, Pierre Salmon, and Ronald Wintrobe. "Introduction." In *Political Extremism and Rationality*, edited by Albert Breton, Gianluigi Galeotti, Pierre Salmon and Ronald Wintrobe, xi-xxi. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2002.
- Brown, Katy, Aurelien Mondon, and Aaron Winter. "The Far Right, the Mainstream and Mainstreaming: Towards a Heuristic Framework." *Journal of Political Ideologies* (2021): 1-18. https://doi.org/10.1080/13569317.2021.1949829.
- Brown, Richard Maxwell. "Violence and the American Revolution." In *Essays on the American Revolution*, edited by Stephen G. Kurtz and James H. Hutson, 81-120. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press, 1973.
- Bump, Phillip. "Over and over, Trump Has Focused on Black Lives Matter as a Target of Derision or Violence." *Washington Post*, September 1, 2020.

 https://www.washingtonpost.com/politics/2020/09/01/over-over-trump-has-focused-black-lives-matter-target-derision-or-violence/.

- Butler, Judith. The Force of Nonviolence: An Ethico-Political Bind. London: Verso, 2020.
- Butters, Ross, and Christopher Hare. "Polarized Networks? New Evidence on American Voters' Political Discussion Networks." *Political Behavior* (2020). https://doi.org/10.1007/s11109-020-09647-w.
- Buyuker, Beyza, Amanda Jadidi D'Urso, Alexandra Filindra, and Noah J. Kaplan. "Race Politics Research and the American Presidency: Thinking About White Attitudes, Identities and Vote Choice in the Trump Era and Beyond." *The Journal of Race, Ethnicity, and Politics* 6, no. 3 (2021): 600-41. https://doi.org/10.1017/rep.2020.33.
- Carlson, Tucker. "Joe Biden Declares War on 'White Supremacy.' What Does He Mean by That?" *Fox News*, January 20, 2021. https://www.foxnews.com/opinion/tucker-carlson-joe-biden-inauguration-war-on-white-supremacy.
- Cassam, Quassim. *Extremism: A Philosophical Analysis*. London: Routledge, 2021. eBook. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.4324/9780429325472.
- Cassese, Erin C. "Partisan Dehumanization in American Politics." *Political Behavior* 43, no. 1 (2021): 29-50. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11109-019-09545-w.
- CBS Baltimore Staff. "Harford County Man Robert Reeder Sentenced to 3 Months in Capitol Riot Case." CBS Baltimore, October 8 2021. https://baltimore.cbslocal.com/2021/10/08/harford-county-man-robert-reeder-sentenced-to-3-months-in-capitol-riot-case/.
- Cheney, Liz. "The Gop Is at a Turning Point. History Is Watching Us." *Washington Post*, May 5 2021. https://www.washingtonpost.com/opinions/2021/05/05/liz-cheney-republican-party-turning-point/.
- Chomsky, Noam. September 11. Crows Nest, New South Wales: Allen & Unwin, 2001.
- Coady, C. A. J. "The Morality of Terrorism." *Philosophy* 60, no. 231 (1985): 47-69. http://www.jstor.org.ezproxy.auckland.ac.nz/stable/3750562.
- Colvin, Jim. "Trump Dangles Prospect of Pardons for Jan. 6 Defendants." *AP News*, January 31 2022. https://apnews.com/article/trump-says-he-will-pardon-capitol-riot-defendants-if-elected-934c38eb247dd8839e8985ff966b7bc5.
- Coulter, Ann. Adios, America: The Left's Plan to Turn Our Country into a Third World Hellhole. Washiington: Regnery, 2016.
- Cox, Joseph, and Jason Koebler. "Why Won't Twitter Treat White Supremacy Like Isis? Because It Would Mean Banning Some Republican Politicians Too." *Vice*, April 26, 2019. https://www.vice.com/en/article/a3xgq5/why-wont-twitter-treat-white-supremacy-like-isis-because-it-would-mean-banning-some-republican-politicians-too.
- Cox, Michael. "Beyond the Fringe: The Extreme Right in the United States of America." In *The Extreme Right in Europe and the USA*, edited by Paul Hainsworth, 286-309. London: Pinter Publishers, 1992.
- Cox, Michael, and Martin Durham. "The Politics of Anger: The Extreme Right in the United States." In *The Politics of the Extreme Right: From the Margins to the Mainstream*, edited by Paul Hainsworth London: Bloomsbury, (2000) 2016, ProQuest Ebook Central.
- CPOST. American Face of Insurrection: Analysis of Individuals Charged for Storming the Us Capitol on January 6, 2021. (Chicago Project on Security and Threats, January 5 2022). https://d3qioqp55mx5f5.cloudfront.net/cpost/i/docs/Pape
 American Face of Insurrection (2022-01-05) 1.pdf?mtime=1641481428.

- ——. Deep, Divisive, Disturbing and Continuing: New Survey Shows Mainstream Community Support for Violence to Restore Trump Remains Strong. (Chicago Project on Security and Threats, January 2 2022). https://d3qioqp55mx5f5.cloudfront.net/cpost/i/docs/Pape AmericanInsurrectionistMovem ent 2022-01-02.pdf?mtime=1641247259.
- Craig, Maureen A., Julian M. Rucker, and Jennifer A. Richeson. "Racial and Political Dynamics of an Approaching "Majority-Minority" United States." *The ANNALS of the American Academy of Political and Social Science* 677, no. 1 (2018): 204-14. https://doi.org/10.1177/0002716218766269.
- Crone, Manni. "Radicalization Revisited: Violence, Politics and the Skills of the Body." *International Affairs* 92, no. 3 (2016): 587-604. https://doi.org/10.1111/1468-2346.12604.
- Crothers, Lane. Rage on the Right: The American Militia Movement from Ruby Ridge to the Trump Presidency. 2nd ed. Lanham: Rowman & Littlefield, 2019. eBook.
- Crothers, Lane, and Grace Burgener. "Insurrectionary Populism? Assessing the January 6 Attack on the U.S. Capitol." [In English]. *Populism* (01 Oct. 2021 2021): 1-17. https://brill.com/view/journals/popu/aop/article-10.1163-25888072-bja10025/article-10.1163-25888072-bja10025.xml.
- Cuadro, Mariela. "Knowledge, Power, Subject: Constituting the Extremist/Moderate Subject." In *Encountering Extremism: Theoretical Issues and Local Challenges*, edited by Alice Martini, Kieran Ford and Richard Jackson, 55-73. Manchester: Manchester University Press, 2020.
- Dahl, Robert A. *How Democratic Is the American Constitution?* New Haven: Yale University Press, 2002.
- Davey, Jacob, and Julia Ebner. *The 'Great Replacement': The Violent Consequences of Mainstreamed Extremism*. (London: Institute for Strategic Dialogue, 2019). https://www.isdglobal.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/07/The-Great-Replacement-The-Violent-Consequences-of-Mainstreamed-Extremism-by-ISD.pdf.
- Davis, Aaron C. "Red Flags." *Washington Post*, October 31, 2021. https://www.washingtonpost.com/politics/interactive/2021/warnings-jan-6-insurrection/.
- Davis, William P. "'Enemy of the People': Trump Breaks out This Phrase During Moments of Peak Criticism." *New York Times*, July 19 2018.

 https://www.nytimes.com/2018/07/19/business/media/trump-media-enemy-of-the-people.html.
- Dean, John W., and Bob Altemeyer. *Authoritarian Nightmare: Trump and His Followers*. Brooklyn: Melville House, 2021.
- della Porta, Donatella. Clandestine Political Violence. New York: Cambridge University Press, 2013.
- ——. "Radicalization: A Relational Perspective." *Annual review of political science* 21, no. 1 (2018): 461-74. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-polisci-042716-102314.
- della Porta, Donatella, and Mario Diani. *Social Movements: An Introduction*. 2nd ed. Malden, MA: Blackwell, 2006.
- Department of Homeland Security. Rightwing Extremism: Current Economic and Political Climate Fueling Resurgence in Radicalization and Recruitment, 2009. https://irp.fas.org/eprint/rightwing.pdf
- Devos, Thierry, and Mahzarin R. Banaji. "American = White?". *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology* 88, no. 3 (2005): 447-66. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.88.3.447.

- Dickinson, H. T. "Britain's Imperial Sovereignty: The Ideological Case against the American Colonists." In *Britain and the American Revolution*, edited by H. T. Dickinson, 64-96. London: Longman, 1998.
- DiTomaso, Nancy, Rochelle Parks-Yancy, and Corrine Post. "White Views of Civil Rights: Color Blindness and Equal Opportunity." In *White Out: The Continuing Significance of Racism*, edited by Ashley W. Doane and Eduardo Bonilla-Silva New York: Routledge, 2003.
- Dixit, Priya. "Extremists or Patriots? Racialisation of Countering Violent Extremism Programming in the US." In *Encountering Extremism: Theoretical Issues and Local Challenges*, edited by Alice Martini, Kieran Ford and Richard Jackson, 221-41. Manchester: Manchester University Press, 2020.
- Doosje, B., F. M. Moghaddam, A. W. Kruglanski, A. de Wolf, L. Mann, and A. R. Feddes. "Terrorism, Radicalization, and De-Radicalization." *Current Opinion in Psychology* 11 (2016): 79-84. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.copsyc.2016.06.008.
- Douglas, Karen M., Robbie M. Sutton, and Aleksandra Cichocka. "The Psychology of Conspiracy Theories." *Current Directions in Psychological Science* 26, no. 6 (2017): 538-42. https://doi.org/10.1177/0963721417718261.
- Eatwell, Roger, and Matthew Goodwin. *National Populism: The Revolt against Liberal Democracy*. London: Pelican, 2018.
- Ebner, Julia. Going Dark: The Secret Social Lives of Extremists. London: Bloomsbury, 2020.
- Echterhoff, Gerald. "Shared-Reality Theory." In *Handbook of Theories of Social Psychology: Volume* 2, edited by Paul A. M. Van Lange, Arie W. Kruglanski and E. Tory Higgins London: SAGE, 2012http://dx.doi.org/10.4135/9781446249222.n35.
- Edsall, Thomas B. "'The Capitol Insurrection Was as Christian Nationalist as It Gets.'." *New York Times*, January 28 2021. https://www.nytimes.com/2021/01/28/opinion/christian-nationalists-capitol-attack.html.
- Enders, Adam M., and Miles T. Armaly. "The Differential Effects of Actual and Perceived Polarization." *Political Behavior* 41, no. 3 (2018): 815-39. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11109-018-9476-2.
- Esses, Victoria M., Stelian Medianu, and Andrea S. Lawson. "Uncertainty, Threat, and the Role of the Media in Promoting the Dehumanization of Immigrants and Refugees." *Journal of Social Issues* 69, no. 3 (2013): 518-36. https://doi.org/10.1111/josi.12027.
- Feddes, Allard R., Nickolson Lars, Mann Liesbeth, and Doosje Bertjan. *Psychological Perspectives on Radicalization*. London: Routledge, 2020.
- Federal Bureau of Investigation, and Department of Homeland Security. *Domestic Terrorism:*Definitions, Terminology, and Methodology, 2020. https://www.fbi.gov/file-repository/fbi-dhs-domestic-terrorism-definitions-terminology-methodology.pdf/view
- Federico, Christopher M., Corrie V. Hunt, and Emily L. Fisher. "Uncertainty and Status-Based Asymmetries in the Distinction between the "Good" Us and the "Bad" Them: Evidence That Group Status Strengthens the Relationship between the Need for Cognitive Closure and Extremity in Intergroup Differentiation." *Journal of Social Issues* 69, no. 3 (2013): 473-94. https://doi.org/10.1111/josi.12025.
- Federico, Christopher M., Allison L. Williams, and Joseph A. Vitriol. "The Role of System Identity Threat in Conspiracy Theory Endorsement." *European Journal of Social Psychology* 48, no. 7 (2018): 927-38. https://doi.org/10.1002/ejsp.2495.

- Feuer, Alan. "Man Gets 5 Years on Capitol Riot Charges, Longest Sentence So Far." *New York Times*, December 17, 2021. https://www.nytimes.com/2021/12/17/us/politics/robert-palmer-capitol-riot-sentence.html.
- ——. "Stay Scattered and Avoid Police, Proud Boys Were Told before Capitol Riot." *New York Times*, March 19, 2021. https://www.nytimes.com/2021/03/19/us/politics/proud-boys-indictment.html.
- Feuer, Alan, and Adam Goldman. "Oath Keepers Leader Charged with Seditious Conspiracy in Jan. 6 Investigation." *New York Times*, January 13, 2022. https://www.nytimes.com/2022/01/13/us/politics/oath-keepers-stewart-rhodes.html.
- Finkel, Eli J., Christopher A. Bail, Mina Cikara, Peter H. Ditto, Shanto Iyengar, Samara Klar, Lilliana Mason, *et al.* "Political Sectarianism in America." *Science* 370, no. 6516 (2020): 533-36. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.abe1715.
- Fischer, Peter, S. Alexander Haslam, and Laura Smith. ""If You Wrong Us, Shall We Not Revenge?" Social Identity Salience Moderates Support for Retaliation in Response to Collective Threat." *Group Dynamics* 14, no. 2 (2010): 143-50. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0017970.
- Ford, Kieran. "A Pacifist Approach to Countering Extremism." *Global Society* 34, no. 1 (2020 2020): 112-27. https://doi.org/10.1080/13600826.2019.1668356.
- Foucault, Michel. *Power/Knowlege: Selected Interviews and Other Writings* 1972-1977. New York: Vintage Books, 1980.
- Fox News. "Tucker: Every Time They Import a New Voter They Dilute Citizens Power." Youtube video, April 9, 2021. https://youtu.be/2VfWGwAxxFI.
- ——. "Tucker: Why Would Biden Do This to His Own Country?". Youtube video, September 23, 2021. https://youtu.be/Z_oiFBJPWoY.
- ——. "Tucker: You Are Watching the Death of the Future of Our Country." Youtube video, June 25, 2021. https://youtu.be/NB6LPIYlteo.
- Frenkel, Sheera. "The Rise and Fall of the 'Stop the Steal' Facebook Group." *New York Times*, November 5 2020. https://www.nytimes.com/2020/11/05/technology/stop-the-steal-facebook-group.html.
- Gardner, Amy. "'I Just Want to Find 11,780 Votes': In Extraordinary Hour-Long Call, Trump Pressures Georgia Secretary of State to Recalculate the Vote in His Favor." *Washington Post*, January 3, 2021. https://www.washingtonpost.com/politics/trump-raffensperger-call-georgia-vote/2021/01/03/d45acb92-4dc4-11eb-bda4-615aaefdo555 story.html.
- Garrett, R. Kelly, Jacob A. Long, and Min Seon Jeong. "From Partisan Media to Misperception: Affective Polarization as Mediator." *Journal of Communication* 69, no. 5 (2019): 490-512. https://doi.org/10.1093/joc/jqz028.
- Garrett, R. Kelly, Brian E. Weeks, and Rachel L. Neo. "Driving a Wedge between Evidence and Beliefs: How Online Ideological News Exposure Promotes Political Misperceptions: Driving a Wedge between Evidence and Beliefs." *Journal of Computer-Mediated Communication* 21, no. 5 (2016): 331-48. https://doi.org/10.1111/jcc4.12164.
- Gartenstein-Ross, Daveed, and Madeleine Blackman. "Fluidity of the Fringes: Prior Extremist Involvement as a Radicalization Pathway." *Studies in Conflict and Terrorism* (2019): 1-24. https://doi.org/10.1080/1057610X.2018.1531545.
- George, Cherian. *Hate Spin: The Manufacture of Religious Offence and Its Threat to Democracy*. Cambridge, Massachusetts: MIT Press, 2016.

- German, Mike. "Learning from Our Mistakes: How Not to Confront White Supremacist Violence." Article. *Journal of National Security Law & Policy* 12 (2021 Special Issue 2021): 169-77. https://ezproxy.auckland.ac.nz/login?url=https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=i3h&AN=152546045&site=ehost-live&scope=site.
- Ginges, Jeremy, Scott Atran, Sonya Sachdeva, and Douglas Medin. "Psychology out of the Laboratory: The Challenge of Violent Extremism." *The American Psychologist* 66, no. 6 (2011): 507-19. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0024715.
- Goetz, Stephan J., Anil Rupasingha, and Scott Loveridge. "Social Capital, Religion, Wal-Mart, and Hate Groups in America." *Social science quarterly* 93, no. 2 (2012): 379-93. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1540-6237.2012.00854.x.
- Graham, Amanda, Francis T. Cullen, Leah C. Butler, Alexander L. Burton, and Velmer S. Burton. "Who Wears the Maga Hat? Racial Beliefs and Faith in Trump." *Socius* 7 (2021): 2378023121992600. https://doi.org/10.1177/2378023121992600.
- Grayling, A. C. *The Good State: On the Principles of Democracy*. London: Oneworld Publications, 2020.
- Guiora, Amos N. *Tolerating Intolerance: The Price of Protecting Extremism*. New York: Oxford University Press, 2014.
- Gunning, Jeroen. "Social Movement Theory and the Study of Terrorism." In *Critical Terrorism*Studies, edited by Richard Jackson, Marie Breen Smyth and Jeroen Gunning, 156-77. London: Routledge, 2009.
- Hacker, Jacob S., and Paul Pierson. "Confronting Asymmetric Polarization." In *Solutions to Political Polarization in America*, edited by Nathaniel Persily, 59-70. New York: Cambridge University Press, 2015.
- ———. *Off Center: The Republican Revolution and the Erosion of American Democracy.* New Haven: Yale University Press, 2005.
- Hafez, Mohammed, and Creighton Mullins. "The Radicalization Puzzle: A Theoretical Synthesis of Empirical Approaches to Homegrown Extremism." *Studies in Conflict & Terrorism* 38, no. 11 (2015): 958-75. https://doi.org/10.1080/1057610X.2015.1051375.
- Hahl, Oliver, Minjae Kim, and Ezra W. Zuckerman Sivan. "The Authentic Appeal of the Lying Demagogue: Proclaiming the Deeper Truth About Political Illegitimacy." *American sociological review* 83, no. 1 (2018): 1-33. https://doi.org/10.1177/0003122417749632.
- Hamid, Shadi. *Islamic Exceptionalism: How the Struggle over Islam Is Reshaping the World.* New York: St. Martin's Griffin, 2016.
- Hare, Christopher, and Keith T. Poole. "The Polarization of Contemporary American Politics." *Polity* 46, no. 3 (2014): 411-29. https://doi.org/10.1057/pol.2014.10.
- Haslam, Nick, Louis Rothschild, and Donald Ernst. "Essentialist Beliefs About Social Categories." *British Journal of Social Psychology* 39, no. 1 (2000): 113-27. https://doi.org/10.1348/014466600164363.
- Hayden, Michael Edison. "Far-Right Extremists Heading to Washington Amid Talk of Trump "Coup"." *Hatewatch*, November 12, 2020.

 https://www.splcenter.org/hatewatch/2020/11/12/far-right-extremists-heading-washington-amid-talk-trump-coup.
- Hirschberger, Gilad, Tsachi Ein-Dor, Bernhard Leidner, and Tamar Saguy. "How Is Existential Threat Related to Intergroup Conflict? Introducing the Multidimensional Existential Threat (Met)

- Model." [In English]. *Frontiers in Psychology* 7 (2016). https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2016.01877.
- Hirschberger, Gilad, Tom Pyszczynski, and Tsachi Ein-Dor. "Why Does Existential Threat Promote Intergroup Violence? Examining the Role of Retributive Justice and Cost-Benefit Utility Motivations." *Frontiers in psychology* 6 (2015): 1761-61. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2015.01761.
- Hofstadter, Richard. Anti-Intellectualism in American Life. New York: Vintage Books, 1963.
- ——. "The Paranoid Style in American Politics." In *The Paranoid Style in American Politics and Other Essays.* New York: Vintage Books, 2008.
- Hogg, Michael A., and Janice Adelman. "Uncertainty-Identity Theory: Extreme Groups, Radical Behavior, and Authoritarian Leadership: Uncertainty-Identity Theory." *Journal of Social Issues* 69, no. 3 (2013): 436-54. https://doi.org/10.1111/josi.12023.
- Hogg, Michael A., Arie Kruglanski, and Kees Bos. "Uncertainty and the Roots of Extremism." *Journal of Social Issues* 69, no. 3 (2013): 407-18. https://doi.org/10.1111/josi.12021.
- Honderich, Ted. Three Essays on Political Violence. Oxford: Basil Blackwell, 1976.
- Hoock, Holger. Scars of Independence: America's Violent Birth. New York: Broadway 2017.
- Hood, Gregory. "The New Kulaks: Whites as an Enemy Class." In *A Fair Hearing: The Alt-Right in the Words of Its Members and Leaders*, edited by George T. Shaw, 3-13: Arktos, 2018.
- Horgan, John. "From Profiles to Pathways and Roots to Routes: Perspectives from Psychology on Radicalization into Terrorism." *The Annals of the American Academy of Political and Social Science* 618, no. 1 (2008): 80-94. https://doi.org/10.1177/0002716208317539.
- Horwitz, Tony. *Midnight Rising: John Brown and the Raid That Sparked the Civil War*. New York: Picador, 2011.
- Howell, Huntting William. "Starving Memory: Antinarrating the American Revolution." In *Remembering the Revolution: Memory, History, and Nation Making from Independence to the Civil War*, edited by Michael A. McDonnell, Clare Corbould, Frances M. Clarke and W. Fitzhugh Brundage, 93-109. Amherst: University of Massachusetts Press, 2013.
- Hsu, Spencer S., and Rachel Weiner. "Proud Boys Conspired in Multiple Encrypted Channels Ahead of Jan. 6 Riot, Fearing Criminal Gang Charges, U.S. Alleges." *Washington Post*, March 20, 2021. https://www.washingtonpost.com/local/legal-issues/captiol-riots-indictment-proud-boys/2021/03/18/971da624-8770-11eb-82bc-e58213caa38e_story.html.
- Hughes, Brian. "At the "Stop the Steal" Rally, Dc: A Survey of Far-Right Rhetoric and Symbology." 2021. https://www.radicalrightanalysis.com/2021/01/13/at-the-stop-the-steal-rally-dc-a-survey-of-far-right-rhetoric-and-symbology/.
- Hughes, Brian, and Cynthia Miller-Idriss. "Uniting for Total Collapse: The January 6 Boost to Accelerationism." *CTC Sentinel* 14, no. 4 (2021): 12-18. https://ctc.usma.edu/uniting-fortotal-collapse-the-january-6-boost-to-accelerationism/.
- Huntington, Samuel P. "The Clash of Civilizations?". *Foreign Affairs* 72, no. 3 (1993): 22-49. https://doi.org/10.2307/20045621.
- ——. Who Are We? The Challenges to America's National Identity. New York: Simon & Schuster, 2004.
- Imhoff, Roland, Lea Dieterle, and Pia Lamberty. "Resolving the Puzzle of Conspiracy Worldview and Political Activism: Belief in Secret Plots Decreases Normative but Increases Nonnormative

- Political Engagement." *Social Psychological & Personality Science* 12, no. 1 (2021): 71-79. https://doi.org/10.1177/1948550619896491.
- Isaac, Mike. "Facebook Wrestles with the Features It Used to Define Social Networking." *New York Times*, October 25, 2021. https://www.nytimes.com/2021/10/25/technology/facebook-like-share-buttons.html.
- Iyengar, S., G. Sood, and Y. Lelkes. "Affect, Not Ideology: A Social Identity Perspective on Polarization." *Public Opinion Quarterly* 76, no. 3 (2012): 405-31. https://doi.org/10.1093/poq/nfs038.
- Iyengar, Shanto, Yphtach Lelkes, Matthew Levendusky, Neil Malhotra, and Sean J. Westwood. "The Origins and Consequences of Affective Polarization in the United States." *Annual review of political science* 22, no. 1 (2019): 129-46. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-polisci-051117-073034.
- Jackson, Richard. "In Defence of 'Terrorism': Finding a Way through a Forest of Misconceptions." Behavioral Sciences of Terrorism and Political Aggression 3, no. 2 (2011): 116-30. https://doi.org/10.1080/19434472.2010.512148.
- ——. "Knowledge, Power and Politics in the Study of Political Terrorism." In *Critical Terrorism Studies*, edited by Richard Jackson, Marie Breen Smyth and Jeroen Gunning, 66-83. London: Routledge, 2009.
- Jardina, Ashley. "In-Group Love and out-Group Hate: White Racial Attitudes in Contemporary U.S. Elections." *Political Behavior* (2020). https://doi.org/10.1007/s11109-020-09600-x.
- ----. White Identity Politics. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2019.
- Jasko, Katarzyna, Gary LaFree, and Arie Kruglanski. "Quest for Significance and Violent Extremism: The Case of Domestic Radicalization." *Political Psychology* 38, no. 5 (2017): 815-31. https://doi.org/10.1111/pops.12376.
- Jennings, Freddie J. "An Uninformed Electorate: Identity-Motivated Elaboration, Partisan Cues, and Learning." *Journal of Applied Communication Research* 47, no. 5 (2019): 527-47. https://doi.org/10.1080/00909882.2019.1679385.
- Jensen, Michael A., Anita Atwell Seate, and Patrick A. James. "Radicalization to Violence: A Pathway Approach to Studying Extremism." *Terrorism and Political Violence* 32, no. 5 (2020): 1067-90. https://doi.org/10.1080/09546553.2018.1442330.
- Johnson, Daryl. "I Warned of Right-Wing Violence in 2009. Republicans Objected. I Was Right." Washington Post, August 21, 2017. https://www.washingtonpost.com/news/posteverything/wp/2017/08/21/i-warned-of-right-wing-violence-in-2009-it-caused-an-uproar-i-was-right/.
- Jost, John T., Alison Ledgerwood, and Curtis D. Hardin. "Shared Reality, System Justification, and the Relational Basis of Ideological Beliefs." *Social and Personality Psychology Compass* 2, no. 1 (2008): 171-86. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1751-9004.2007.00056.x.
- Kahan, Dan M. . "Ideology, Motivated Reasoning, and Cognitive Reflection." *Judgment and Decision Making* 8, no. 4 (2013): 407-24.
- Kahan, Dan M., Ellen Peters, Erica Cantrell Dawson, and Paul Slovic. "Motivated Numeracy and Enlightened Self-Government." *Behavioural Public Policy* 1, no. 1 (2017): 54-86. https://doi.org/10.1017/bpp.2016.2.
- "O'reilly Claimed to Have Exposed the "Hidden Agenda" Behind the Immigrant Rights Movement: "The Browning of America"." Media Matters, 2006, accessed 23 Sep 2021,

- $\underline{https://www.mediamatters.org/fox-nation/oreilly-claimed-have-exposed-hidden-agendabehind-immigrant-rights-movement-browning.}$
- Kaplan, Joshua, and Joaquin Sapien. "New Details Suggest Senior Trump Aides Knew Jan. 6 Rally Could Get Chaotic." *ProPublica*, June 25, 2021. https://www.propublica.org/article/new-details-suggest-senior-trump-aides-knew-jan-6-rally-could-get-chaotic.
- Kaplan, Thomas. "How the Trump Campaign Used Facebook Ads to Amplify His 'Invasion' Claim." *New York Times*, August 5, 2019. https://www.nytimes.com/2019/08/05/us/politics/trump-campaign-facebook-ads-invasion.html.
- Kaufmann, Eric. "Levels or Changes?: Ethnic Context, Immigration and the Uk Independence Party Vote." *Electoral Studies* 48 (2017): 57-69. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.electstud.2017.05.002.
- Kendi, Ibram X. How to Be an Antiracist. London: Bodley Head, 2019.
- ---. "The Mantra of White Supremacy." *Atlantic*, November 30, 2021. https://www.theatlantic.com/ideas/archive/2021/11/white-supremacy-mantra-anti-racism/620832/.
- Kinder, Donald R., and Cindy D. Kam. *Us against Them: Ethnocentric Foundations of American Opinion*. Chicago: University of Chicago Press, 2010.
- Kitchens, Brent, Steven Johnson, L., and Peter Gray. "Understanding Echo Chambers and Filter Bubbles: The Impact of Social Media on Diversification and Partisan Shifts in News Consumption." *MIS Quarterly* 44, no. 4 (2020): 1619. https://doi.org/10.25300/MISQ/2020/16371.
- Klein, Ezra. Why We're Polarized. London: Profile 2021.
- Koehler, Daniel. "The Radical Online: Individual Radicalization Processes and the Role of the Internet." *Journal for Deradicalization*, no. 1 (2014): 116-34.
- Kreiss, Daniel. "The Fragmenting of the Civil Sphere: How Partisan Identity Shapes the Moral Evaluation of Candidates and Epistemology." *American Journal of Cultural Sociology* 5, no. 3 (2017): 443-59. https://doi.org/10.1057/s41290-017-0039-5.
- Kriner, Matthew, and Jon Lewis. "The Oath Keepers and Their Role in the January 6 Insurrection." *CTC Sentinel* 14, no. 10 (2021): 1-18. https://ctc.usma.edu/the-oath-keepers-and-their-role-in-the-january-6-insurrection/.
- ——. "Pride & Prejudice: The Violent Evolution of the Proud Boys." *CTC Sentinel* 14, no. 6 (2021): 26-38. https://ctc.usma.edu/pride-prejudice-the-violent-evolution-of-the-proud-boys/.
- Kruglanski, Arie W., Michele J. Gelfand, Jocelyn J. Bélanger, Anna Sheveland, Malkanthi Hetiarachchi, and Rohan Gunaratna. "The Psychology of Radicalization and Deradicalization: How Significance Quest Impacts Violent Extremism." *Political psychology* 35, no. S1 (2014): 69-93. https://doi.org/10.1111/pops.12163.
- Kruzel, John. "Controversial Pro-Trump Group Warns Members to Avoid Election Day Meddling." *ABC News*, November 8 2016. https://abcnews.go.com/Politics/controversial-pro-trump-group-warns-members-avoid-election/story?id=43372037.
- Kundnani, Arun. "Radicalisation: The Journey of a Concept." *Race & Class* 54, no. 2 (2012): 3-25. https://doi.org/10.1177/0306396812454984.
- Kundnani, Arun, and Ben Hayes. *The Globalisation of Countering Violent Extremism Policies: Undermining Human Rights, Instrumentalising Civil Society*. Transnational Institute (2018). https://www.tni.org/files/publication-downloads/cve web.pdf.

- Kydd, Andrew H. "Decline, Radicalization and the Attack on the Us Capitol." *Violence: An International Journal* 2, no. 1 (2021/04/01 2021): 3-23. https://doi.org/10.1177/26330024211010043. https://doi.org/10.1177/26330024211010043.
- Leonard, Ben. "'Practically and Morally Responsible': Mcconnell Scorches Trump but Votes to Acquit." *POLITICO*, February 13, 2021.

 https://www.politico.com/news/2021/02/13/mcconnell-condemns-trump-acquitted-469002.
- Leonnig, Carol, and Philip Rucker. *I Alone Can Fix It: Donald J. Trump's Catastrophic Final Year*. London: Bloomsbury, 2021.
- Lepore, Jill. *These Truths: A History of the United States*. Revised paperback ed. New York Norton, 2019.
- ———. *This America: The Case for the Nation*. New York: Liveright, 2019.
- Levendusky, Matthew. "Partisan Media Exposure and Attitudes toward the Opposition." *Political Communication* 30, no. 4 (2013): 565-81. https://doi.org/10.1080/10584609.2012.737435.
- Levitsky, Steven, and Daniel Ziblatt. *How Democracies Die: What History Reveals About Our Future*. New York: Penguin Books, 2019.
- Lewandowsky, Stephan, Ullrich K. H. Ecker, and John Cook. "Beyond Misinformation: Understanding and Coping with the "Post-Truth" Era." *Journal of Applied Research in Memory and Cognition* 6, no. 4 (2017): 353-69. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jarmac.2017.07.008.
- Lewis, Rebecca. *Alternative Influence: Broadcasting the Reactionary Right on Youtube*. Data & Society (2018). https://datasociety.net/wp-content/uploads/2018/09/DS Alternative Influence.pdf.
- Lindahl, Sondre. "Conceptualising Violent Extremism: Ontological, Epistemological and Normative Issues." In *Encountering Extremism: Theoretical Issues and Local Challenges*, edited by Alice Martini, Kieran Ford and Richard Jackson, 40-54. Manchester: Manchester University Press, 2020.
- Lipset, Seymour Martin, and Earl Raab. *The Politics of Unreason: Right-Wing Extremsim in America* 1790-1970. London: Heinemann, 1971.
- Mac, Ryan, and Sheera Frenkel. "Internal Alarm, Public Shrugs: Facebook's Employees Dissect Its Election Role." *New York Times*, October 22, 2021. https://www.nytimes.com/2021/10/22/technology/facebook-election-misinformation.html.
- Mac, Ryan, Craig Silverman, and Jane Lytvynenko. "Facebook Stopped Employees from Reading an Internal Report About Its Role in the Insurrection. You Can Read It Here." *Buzzfeed News*, April 26, 2021. https://www.buzzfeednews.com/article/ryanmac/full-facebook-stop-the-steal-internal-report.
- Major, Brenda, Alison Blodorn, and Gregory Major Blascovich. "The Threat of Increasing Diversity: Why Many White Americans Support Trump in the 2016 Presidential Election." *Group processes & intergroup relations* 21, no. 6 (2018): 931-40. https://doi.org/10.1177/1368430216677304.
- Malthaner, Stefan. "Radicalization: The Evolution of an Analytical Paradigm." *European Journal of Sociology* 58, no. 3 (2017): 369-401. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0003975617000182.
- Mann, Thomas E., and Norman J. Ornstein. *It's Even Worse Than It Looks: How the American Constitutional System Collided with the New Politics of Extremism.* New and Expanded ed. New York: Basic Books, 2016.

- Marcks, Holger, and Janina Pawelz. "From Myths of Victimhood to Fantasies of Violence: How Far-Right Narratives of Imperilment Work." *Terrorism and Political Violence* (2020): 1-18. https://doi.org/10.1080/09546553.2020.1788544.
- Martini, Alice, Kieran Ford, and Richard Jackson. "Introduction: Encountering Extremism: A Critical Examination of Theoretical Issues and Local Challenges." In *Encountering Extremism: Theoretical Issues and Local Challenges*, edited by Alice Martini, Kieran Ford and Richard Jackson, 1-17. Manchester: Manchester University Press, 2020.
- Mason, Lilliana, Julie Wronski, and John V. Kane. "Activating Animus: The Uniquely Social Roots of Trump Support." *The American Political Science Review* 115, no. 4 (2021): 1-9. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0003055421000563.
- Maxwell, Angie, and Todd Shields. *The Long Southern Strategy: How Chasing White Voters in the South Changed American Politics*. New York: Oxford University Press, 2019.
- McLaughlin, Gilbert, and Christian Robitaille. "Radicalization toward Violent Extremism: A Typology Based on a General Theory of Rationality." *Behavioral Sciences of Terrorism and Political Aggression* ahead-of-print, no. ahead-of-print: 1-23. https://doi.org/10.1080/19434472.2021.2007979.
- McVeigh, Rory, and Kevin Estep. *The Politics of Losing: Trump, the Klan, and the Mainstreaming of Resentment*. New York: Columbia University Press, 2019.
- Meyer, David S., and Debra C. Minkoff. "Conceptualizing Political Opportunity." *Social Forces* 82, no. 4 (2004): 1457-92. http://www.jstor.org/stable/3598442.
- Michael, George. *Confronting Right Wing Extremism and Terrorism in the USA*. New York: Routledge, 2003.
- Midlarsky, Manus I. *Origins of Political Extremism: Mass Violence in the Twentieth Century and Beyond.* Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2011.
- Miller-Idriss, Cynthia. "From 9/11 to 1/6: The War on Terror Supercharged the Far Right." *Foreign Affairs*, September/October, 2021, 54-64.
- ——. *Hate in the Homeland: The New Global Far Right*. Princeton, New Jersey: Princeton University Press, 2020. eBook.
- Minsky, Hyman. Stabilizing an Unstable Economy. New York: McGraw Hill, 2008.
- Moghaddam, Fathali M. "The Staircase to Terrorism: A Psychological Exploration." *The American psychologist* 60, no. 2 (2005): 161-69. https://doi.org/10.1037/0003-066X.60.2.161.
- Mondon, Aurelien, and Aaron Winter. *Reactionary Democracy: How Racism and the Populist Far Right Became Mainstream*. London: Verso, 2020.
- Moore-Berg, Samantha L., Lee-Or Ankori-Karlinsky, Boaz Hameiri, and Emile Bruneau. "Exaggerated Meta-Perceptions Predict Intergroup Hostility between American Political Partisans." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 117, no. 26 (2020): 14864-72. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.2001263117.
- Mudde, Cas. The Far Right Today. Cambridge, UK: Polity Press, 2019.
- ——. *The Ideology of the Extreme Right*. Manchester: Manchester University Press, 2002.
- Mudde, Cas, and Cristóbal Rovira Kaltwasser. *Populism: A Very Short Introduction*. New York: Oxford University Press, 2017.

- Mulloy, D. J. American Extremism: History, Politics and the Militia Movement. London: Routledge, 2004.
- ———. Enemies of the State: The Radical Right in America from FDR to Trump. London: Rowman & Littlefield, 2018.
- Munn, Luke. "More Than a Mob: Parler as Preparatory Media for the U.S. Capitol Storming." *First Monday* 26, no. 3 (2021). https://doi.org/10.5210/fm.v26i3.11574.
- Musgrove, George Derek. "The Ingredients for "Voter Fraud" Conspiracies." *Modern American History* 1, no. 2 (2018): 227-32. https://doi.org/10.1017/mah.2018.7.
- Mutz, Diana C. "Status Threat, Not Economic Hardship, Explains the 2016 Presidential Vote." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences PNAS* 115, no. 19 (2018): E4330-E39. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1718155115.
- Myers, Dowell, and Morris Levy. "Racial Population Projections and Reactions to Alternative News Accounts of Growing Diversity." *The Annals of the American Academy of Political and Social Science* 677, no. 1 (2018): 215-28. https://doi.org/10.1177/0002716218766294.
- Naylor, Brian. "Read Trump's Jan. 6 Speech, a Key Part of Impeachment Trial." *NPR*, February 10 2021. https://www.npr.org/2021/02/10/966396848/read-trumps-jan-6-speech-a-key-part-of-impeachment-trial.
- Naylor, Brian, and Ryan Lucas. "Wray Stresses Role of Right-Wing Extremism in Hearing About Jan. 6 Riot." *NPR*, March 2, 2021. https://www.npr.org/2021/03/02/972539274/fbi-director-wray-testifies-before-congress-for-1st-time-since-capitol-attack.
- NCRI., and PERIL. *The Qanon Conspiracy: Destroying Families, Dividing Communities, Undermining Democracy.* (American University and Rutgers University, 2020).
- Neiwart, David. Alt-America: The Rise of the Radical Right in the Age of Trump. London: Verso, 2017.
- Neumann, Peter R. "The Trouble with Radicalization." *International Affairs* 89, no. 4 (2013): 873-93. https://doi.org/10.1111/1468-2346.12049.
- Norris, Jesse J. "When (and Where) Can Right-Wing Terrorists Be Charged with Terrorism?". *Critical Studies on Terrorism* 13, no. 4 (2020): 519-44. https://doi.org/10.1080/17539153.2020.1810991.
- Norton, Michael I., and Samuel R. Sommers. "Whites See Racism as a Zero-Sum Game That They Are Now Losing." *Perspectives on Psychological Science* 6, no. 3 (2011): 215-18. https://doi.org/10.1177/1745691611406922.
- Nyhan, Brendan, Ethan Porter, Jason Reifler, and Thomas J. Wood. "Taking Fact-Checks Literally but Not Seriously? The Effects of Journalistic Fact-Checking on Factual Beliefs and Candidate Favorability." *Political Behavior* 42, no. 3 (2020): 939-60. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11109-019-09528-x.
- O'Harrow Jr., Robert, Andrew Ba Tran, and Derek Hawkins. "The Rise of Domestic Extremism in America." *Washington Post*, 2021.

 https://www.washingtonpost.com/investigations/interactive/2021/domestic-terrorism-data/.
- Obaidi, Milan, Jonas R. Kunst, Nour Kteily, Lotte Thomsen, and James Sidanius. "Living under Threat: Mutual Threat Perception Drives Anti-Muslim and Anti-Western Hostility in the Age of Terrorism." *European journal of social psychology* 48, no. 5 (2018): 567-84. https://doi.org/10.1002/ejsp.2362.

- Obaidi, Milan, Lotte Thomsen, and Robin Bergh. ""They Think We Are a Threat to Their Culture": Meta-Cultural Threat Fuels Willingness and Endorsement of Extremist Violence against the Cultural Outgroup." *International Journal of Conflict and Violence* 12 (2018): 1-13. https://doi.org/10.4119/UNIBI/ijcv.647.
- Obama, Barack. A Promised Land. London: Viking, 2020.
- Oliver, J. Eric, and Thomas J. Wood. "Conspiracy Theories and the Paranoid Style(S) of Mass Opinion." *American Journal of Political Science* 58, no. 4 (2014): 952-66. http://www.jstor.org.ezproxy.auckland.ac.nz/stable/24363536.
- Ozer, Simon, Milan Obaidi, and Stefan Pfattheicher. "Group Membership and Radicalization: A Cross-National Investigation of Collective Self-Esteem Underlying Extremism." *Group Processes & Intergroup Relations* 23, no. 8 (2020): 1230-48. https://doi.org/10.1177/1368430220922901.
- Pape, Robert A., and CPOST. *Understanding American Domestic Terrorism: Mobilization Potential and Risk Factors of a New Threat Trajectory*. (Chicago Project on Security and Threats, April 6, 2021).

 https://d3qioqp55mx5f5.cloudfront.net/cpost/i/docs/americas insurrectionists online 20 21 04 06.pdf?mtime=1617807009.
- Pape, Robert A., and Kevin Ruby. "The Capitol Rioters Aren't Like Other Extremists." *Atlantic*, February 3, 2021. https://www.theatlantic.com/ideas/archive/2021/02/the-capitol-rioters-arent-like-other-extremists/617895/.
- Parker, Christopher S., and Matt A. Barreto. *Change They Can't Believe In: The Tea Party and Reactionary Politics in America*. Princeton: Princeton University Press, 2013.
- Parker, Christopher Sebastian. "Status Threat: Moving the Right Further to the Right?". *Daedalus (Cambridge, Mass.)* 150, no. 2 (2021): 56-75. https://doi.org/10.1162/daed_a_01846.
- Peiser, Jaclyn. "Capitol Rioter Says She Plans to Lose 30 Pounds, 'Work out a Lot and Do a Lot of Yoga and Detox' While in Custody." *Washington Post*, December 9 2021. https://www.washingtonpost.com/nation/2021/12/09/jenna-ryan-capitol-riot-prison-detox/.
- Pengelly, Martin. "Trump Defended Rioters Who Threatened to 'Hang Mike Pence', Audio Reveals." *Guardian*, November 12, 2021. https://www.theguardian.com/us-news/2021/nov/12/trump-capitol-attack-rioters-mike-pence.
- Pennycook, Gordon, and David G. Rand. "Lazy, Not Biased: Susceptibility to Partisan Fake News Is Better Explained by Lack of Reasoning Than by Motivated Reasoning." *Cognition* 188 (2019): 39-50. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cognition.2018.06.011.
- Perez, Evan, and Jason Hoffman. "Trump Tweets Antifa Will Be Labeled a Terrorist Organization but Experts Believe That's Unconstitutional." *CNN*, May 31, 2020. https://edition.cnn.com/2020/05/31/politics/trump-antifa-protests/index.html.
- Perliger, Arie. American Zealots.
- Perry, Samuel L., Ryon J. Cobb, Andrew L. Whitehead, and Joshua B. Grubbs. "Divided by Faith (in Christian America): Christian Nationalism, Race, and Divergent Perceptions of Racial Injustice." *Social Forces* (2021). https://doi.org/10.1093/sf/soab134. https://doi.org/10.1093/sf/soab134.
- Pilkington, Hilary. "Why Should We Care What Extremists Think? The Contribution of Emic Perspectives to Understanding the "Right-Wing Extremist" Mind-Set." *Journal of Contemporary Ethnography* (2021): 1-29. https://doi.org/10.1177/08912416211041160.

- Purdum, Todd S. "Shifting Debate to the Political Climate, Clinton Condemns 'Promoters of Paranoia'." *New York Times*, April 25 1995.

 https://www.nytimes.com/1995/04/25/us/terror-oklahoma-president-shifting-debate-political-climate-clinton-condemns.html.
- Ribeiro, Manoel Horta, Raphael Ottoni, Robert West, Virgílio A. F. Almeida, and Wagner Meira.

 "Auditing Radicalization Pathways on Youtube." Proceedings of the 2020 Conference on Fairness, Accountability, and Transparency, Barcelona, Spain, Association for Computing Machinery, 2020. 10.1145/3351095.3372879
- Riccardi, Nicholas. "'Slow-Motion Insurrection': How Gop Seizes Election Power." *AP News*, December 30 2021. https://apnews.com/article/donald-trump-united-states-elections-electoral-college-election-2020-809215812f4bc6e5907573ba98247coc.
- Richards, Anthony. "From Terrorism to 'Radicalization' to 'Extremism': Counterterrorism Imperative or Loss of Focus?". *International Affairs* 91, no. 2 (2015): 371-80. https://doi.org/10.1111/1468-2346.12240.
- Richards, Julian. *Extremism, Radicalization and Security: An Identity Theory Approach*. Buckingham: Palgrave Macmillan, 2017.
- Roose, Kevin. "The Making of a Youtube Radical." *New York Times*, June 8, 2019. https://www.nytimes.com/interactive/2019/06/08/technology/youtube-radical.html.
- Rucker, Philip , Toluse Olorunnipa, and Annie Linskey. "Presidential Election Hangs in Balance as Trump Falsely Asserts Fraud and Makes a Claim of Victory." *Washington Post*, 2020. https://www.washingtonpost.com/politics/presidential-election-hangs-in-the-balance-in-acountry-convulsed-by-crisis/2020/11/04/c2a3ec26-1e17-11eb-90dd-abdof7086a91_story.html.
- Rucker, Phillip. "Bloodshed." *Washington Post*, October 31, 2021. https://www.washingtonpost.com/politics/interactive/2021/warnings-jan-6-insurrection/.
- Rutenberg, Jim, Nick Corasaniti, and Alan Feuer. "Trump's Fraud Claims Died in Court, but the Myth of Stolen Elections Lives On." *New York Times*, October 11, 2021. https://www.nytimes.com/2020/12/26/us/politics/republicans-voter-fraud.html.
- Sageman, Marc. *Turning to Political Violence: The Emergence of Terrorism*. Philadelphia: University of Pennsylvania Press, 2017.
- Schildkraut, Deborah J. "Boundaries of American Identity: Evolving Understandings of "Us"." *Annual Review of Political Science* 17, no. 1 (2014): 441-60. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-polisci-080812-144642.
- Schmid, Alex P. Radicalisation, De-Radicalisation, Counter-Radicalisation: A Conceptual Discussion and Literature Review. (The International Centre for Counter-Terrorism The Hague, 2013). http://dx.doi.org/10.19165/2013.1.02.
- Schuurman, Bart, and Max Taylor. "Reconsidering Radicalization: Fanaticism and the Link between Ideas and Violence." *Perspectives on Terrorism* 12, no. 1 (2018): 3-22.
- Sedgwick, Mark. "The Concept of Radicalization as a Source of Confusion." *Terrorism and political violence* 22, no. 4 (2010): 479-94. https://doi.org/10.1080/09546553.2010.491009.
- Sergeant, Phillip. *The Art of Political Storytelling: Why Stories Win Votes in Post-Truth Politics*. London: Bloomsbury Academic, 2020.
- Shepard, Katie. "A Capitol Riot Suspect Was Hours Away from Sentencing. Then Prosecutors Received Video of an Assault on Police." *Washington Post*, August 19 2021. https://www.washingtonpost.com/nation/2021/08/19/capitol-riot-robert-reeder-video/.

- Sides, John, Michael Tesler, and Lynn Vavreck. *Identity Crisis: The 2016 Presidential Campaign and the Battle for the Meaning of America*. Princeton: Princeton University Press, 2019.
- Silva, Derek M. D. "'Radicalisation: The Journey of a Concept', Revisited." *Race & Class* 59, no. 4 (2018): 34-53. https://doi.org/10.1177/0306396817750778.
- SITE Intelligence Group. "How a Trump Tweet Sparked Plots, Strategizing to "Storm and Occupy" Capitol with "Handcuffs and Zip Ties"." 2021. https://ent.siteintelgroup.com/Far-Right-/-Far-Left-Threat/how-a-trump-tweet-sparked-plots-strategizing-to-storm-and-occupy-capitol-with-handcuffs-and-zip-ties.html.
- Smith, Jeffrey R. "Homeland Security Department Curtails Home-Grown Terror Analysis." *Washington Post*, June 7, 2011. https://www.washingtonpost.com/politics/homeland-security-department-curtails-home-grown-terror-analysis/2011/06/02/AGQEaDLH story.html?utm term=.8a3dcf7co363.
- Smith, Rogers M. *Civic Ideals: Conflicting Visions of Citizenship in U.S. History*. New Haven: Yale University Press, 1997.
- Smith, Rogers M., and Desmond King. "White Protectionism in America." *Perspectives on Politics* 19, no. 2 (2021): 460-78. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1537592720001152.
- Sokol, Jason. The Heavens Might Crack: The Death and Legacy of Martin Luther King Jr. New York: Basic Books, 2018.
- Stelter, Brian. *Hoax: Donald Trump, Fox News, and the Dangerous Distortion of Truth.* New York: One Signal Publishers/Atria 2020.
- Striegher, Jason-Leigh. "Violent-Extremism: An Examination of a Definitional Dilemma." Paper presented at the Australian Security and Intelligence Conference, Edith Cowan University Joondalup Campus, Perth, 30 November 2 December, 2015
- Swire, Briony, Adam J. Berinsky, Stephan Lewandowsky, and Ullrich K. H. Ecker. "Processing Political Misinformation: Comprehending the Trump Phenomenon." *Royal Society Open Science* 4, no. 3 (2017): 160802-02. https://doi.org/10.1098/rsos.160802.
- Tajfel, Henri. "Experiments in Intergroup Discrimination." *Scientific American* 223, no. 5 (1970): 96-103. https://doi.org/10.1038/scientificamerican1170-96.
- Tajfel, Henri, M. G. Billig, R. P. Bundy, and Claude Flament. "Social Categorization and Intergroup Behaviour." *European Journal of Social Psychology* 1, no. 2 (1971): 149-78. https://doi.org/10.1002/ejsp.2420010202.
- Tajfel, Henri, and John Turner. "An Integrative Theory of Intergroup Conflict." In *Intergroup Relations: Essential Readings*, edited by Michael A. Hogg and Dominic Abrams, 94-109. Philadelphia: Psychology Press, (1979) 2001.
- The New York Times. "Day of Rage: How Trump Supporters Took the U.S. Capitol." YouTube video, July 2, 2021. https://youtu.be/jwJvMoe7OYo.
- ——. "Full Transcript and Video: Trump's News Conference in New York." *New York Times*, August 15 2017. https://www.nytimes.com/2017/08/15/us/politics/trump-press-conference-transcript.html.
- Tilly, Charles. "Terror, Terrorism, Terrorists." *Sociological Theory* 22, no. 1 (2004): 5-13. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-9558.2004.00200.x.
- Ture, Kwame, and Charles V. Hamilton. *Black Power: The Politics of Liberation in America*. New York: Vintage Books, (1967) 1992.

- Valelly, Richard. *The Two Reconstructions: The Struggle for Black Enfranchisement*. Chicago: University of Chicago Press, 2004.
- van den Bos, Kees. "Unfairness and Radicalization." *Annual review of psychology* 71, no. 1 (2020): 563-88. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-psych-010419-050953.
- van Prooijen, Jan-Willem. "An Existential Threat Model of Conspiracy Theories." *European Psychologist* 25, no. 1 (2020): 16-25. https://doi.org/10.1027/1016-9040/a000381.
- van Stekelenburg, Jacquelien, and Bert Klandermans. "Radicalization." In *Identity and Participation* in *Culturally Diverse Societies*, edited by Assaad E. Azzi, Xenia Chryssochoou, Bert Klandermans and Bernd Simon, 181-94. Oxford: Wiley-Blackwell, 2010.
- Vavreck, Lynn. "A Measure of Identity: Are You Wedded to Your Party?" *New York Times*, January 31 2017. https://www.nytimes.com/2017/01/31/upshot/are-you-married-to-your-party.html.
- Wagner, John, Felicia Sonmez, and Josh Dawsey. "Trump Suggests Pence Should Have 'Overturned' the Election on Jan. 6." *Washington Post*, January 31 2022. https://www.washingtonpost.com/politics/2022/01/31/trump-pence-overturned-election/.
- Waldron, Jeremy. *The Harm in Hate Speech*. Cambridge, Massachusetts: Harvard University Press, 2012.
- Wang, Hansi Lo. "This Is How the White Population Is Actually Changing Based on New Census Data." *NPR*, August 22 2021. https://www.npr.org/2021/08/22/1029609786/2020-census-data-results-white-population-shrinking-decline-non-hispanic-race.
- Weisman, Jonathan, and Reid J. Epstein. "G.O.P. Declares Jan. 6 Attack 'Legitimate Political Discourse'." *New York Times*, February 4 2022. https://www.nytimes.com/2022/02/04/us/politics/republicans-jan-6-cheney-censure.html.
- Whitehead, Andrew L., and Samuel L. Perry. *Taking America Back for God: Christian Nationalism in the United States*. New York: Oxford University Press, 2020.
- Whitehead, Andrew L., Samuel L. Perry, and Joseph O. Baker. "Make America Christian Again: Christian Nationalism and Voting for Donald Trump in the 2016 Presidential Election." *Sociology of Religion* 79, no. 2 (2018): 147-71. https://doi.org/10.1093/socrel/srx070.
- Wilson, Chris. "The Ubiquity of Terror: Politically Motivated Killing of Civilians." *Nationalism & ethnic politics* 27, no. 3 (2021): 389-404. https://doi.org/10.1080/13537113.2021.1920709.
- Wohl, Michael J. A., Nyla R. Branscombe, and Stephen Reysen. "Perceiving Your Group's Future to Be in Jeopardy: Extinction Threat Induces Collective Angst and the Desire to Strengthen the Ingroup." *Personality & Social Psychology Bulletin* 36, no. 7 (2010): 898-910. https://doi.org/10.1177/0146167210372505.
- Woodward, Bob, and Robert Costa. Peril. London: Simon & Schuster, 2021.
- Yadon, Nicole, and Spencer Piston. "Examining Whites' Anti-Black Attitudes after Obama's Presidency." *Politics, Groups & Identities* 7, no. 4 (2019): 794-814. https://doi.org/10.1080/21565503.2018.1438953.
- Zimmer, Ben. "Where Does Trump's 'Invasion' Rhetoric Come From?" *Atlantic*, August 7, 2019. https://www.theatlantic.com/entertainment/archive/2019/08/trump-immigrant-invasion-language-origins/595579/.
- Zimmer, Thomas. "Reflections on the Challenges of Writing a (Pre-)History of the "Polarized" Present." *Modern American History* 2, no. 3 (2019): 403-08. https://doi.org/10.1017/mah.2019.32.

 ${\bf Zinn, Howard.} \ A \ People's \ History \ of the \ United \ States. \ New \ York: \ Harper \ Perennial, \ 2015.$